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Qur Mission

SkyePharma’s mission is to become the world's
leading speciality pharmaceutical company,
powered through excellence in drug delivery.

We aim to use our multiple delivery technologies
to create a product pipeline for out-licensing
to marketing partners.

In addition we will strive to maintain
cur leadership position in drug delivery.

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005
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Corporate Highlights

Marketed products
Paxil CR" back on US market
Triglide "launched in USA

Pipeline progress

Pulmicort® filed

Foradil® Certihaler™ now approved in 24 markets
Flutiform” starts Phase Il clinical trials
DepoBupivacaine” completes Phase Il clinical trials

New corporate developments

Flutiform™ licensed to Kos Pharmaceuticals for USA;
negotiations ongoing with other parties for remaining
key territories

DepoBupivacaine™ licensed to Mundipharma and Maruho
Rights issue raised £35 miltion (net of expenses)
Strategic decision to divest injectables business unit
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Financial Highlights

2005 2004
Financial highlights presented under IFRS £m $m £m $m
Revenue 61.3 111.1 75.2 136.3
Gross profit 32.1 58.2 47.0 85.2
Operating loss (37.5) (68.0] (3.1 15.6)
Loss for the year {50.91 [92.2) [18.8] (33.7)
Basic and diluted earnings per share {8.1p} (14.7¢) (3.00] (5.4c]
US dollar equivatents are shown for convenience and have been calculated for beth gerieds using the current perod average rate of $1.3120
to the pound ste-ling
SkyePharma Annual Report 2005 03




Chairman’s Statement

There is no disquising that 2005 was a difficult year
for SkyePharma. Despite a number of significant
achievements, outlined in the Review of Operations
below, we did not complete a development
agreement for Flutiform™, our major pipeline
product. As explained in more detail in the feature
on page 16, we believe that Flutiform™ has
substantial commercial value, Faced with the
prospect of a delay to the development of this
important product, which might have impaired

its commercial potential, we took the decision in
September to raise £35 million (net of expenses)
by means of a rights issue to keep Flutiform™ on

its ptanned development timeline through Phase 111,
As such, eur target launch date in the USA remains
2009. We are convinced that proceeding with the
clinical development of Flutiform™ oursetves and
funding this development through a rights issue
were in shareholders’ best interests.

Our decision was vindicated by the excellent
lerms we obtaned in the agreement with Kos
Pharmaceuticals for the US market that we
announced in May 2006. Kos is a specialty
pharmaceutical campany that has an excellent
track record of successful marketing against major
compatitors and Kos shares our view that Flutiform
will become a major product. We remain in
negotiation with potential strategic marketing
partners for Flutiform* for other key territories.

Prior to reaching the decision to ask shareholders

for funding, we explored a number of financing
aliernatives to fund the development of Flutiferm”
and alsc a variety of strategic options for the Company.
These included discussions concerning a transaction
that, had it been successful, would have created a
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combined company that coutd have marketed
Flutiform™ itself in some markets. The discussions
were called off by ShyePharma due to uncertainties
over the other party's prospecis. SkyePharma was
unable to disclose this at the time due to reasons
of confidentiality and the possibility that these
discussions could resurne at some time in the future.

In November, we also received an opportunistic
takeover approach from Innavata PLC. As a result,
the Board felt that it was in shareholders’ interests
to explore sll options and consequently appointed
Lehrnan Brothers to conduct a full strategic review
af all the options open to the Company.

The conclusion of this review in sarly 2006 did not
lead to an offer for the entire Company on terms

that the Board felt able to recommend to shareholders.
However, there were expressions of inferest in
individual parts of the business. The Board then

took @ stratzgic decision to divest the US-based
injectables business in order to reduce the Company's
projected cash outflow over the next few years and

to raise funds to concentrate on the aral and
inhalation businesses. The investment bank UBS

has been retained recently to manage this sale and
the process is engoing. The injectables business
includes Depolyt* and DepoDur”, both marketed
products, and the lead injectable pipeline product
DepoBupivacaine”,

In January 2006 certain shareholders requisitioned
an Extraordinary General Meeting ["EGM”] seeking
to remove the Company's then Chairman and to
appoint & nominated director to SkyePharma's
Board with the ultimate aim of having him appointed
as Executive Chairman. Altheugh this motion was
defeated at the EGM in early March, the Board has
since made a number of changes and introduced a
process whereby major investors are now involved

in the selection of new Non-Executive Directors,

Board Changes

in January 2006, lan Gowrie-Smith stepped down
from his role as Non-Executive Chairman when | was
appointed in his place. fan subsequently resigned as
a Director in February. As shareholders will be aware,
lan founded SkyePharma in 1996 and has seen i
grow to becorne @ substantial business. He remains
a shareholder but will now be focusing fis energies

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005




“We believe that the strategic initiatives we have adopted will enable

the Company to maximise the potential of Flutiform™ and other pipeline
products, to become profitable in the near term and to deliver long-term
value for shareholders,

on a number of sarly-stage non-pharmaceutical
companies. | have been a Non-Executive Director of
SkyePharma since 2000 and | have also had extensive
experience at senior management levels of the
internationat pharmaceutical industry,

Michasl Ashton, who has now reached the age of 40,
indicated to the Board last year that it was his
intention to retire as Chief Executive in 2006.
Michael will continue to serve as a Director untit
the 2006 Annual General Meeting in June but will
nol be seeking re-election,

| am sure that sharenholders will join me in thanking
both lan and Michael for their contribution to the
development of SkyePharma since its farmaticn.

The Board has appointed Frank Condella as Chief
Executive, who joined the Company on 1 March
2306, having previously run the European operations
of the leading generic company IVAX, Before joining
[VAX, Frank was Chief Executive of Faulding
Pharmaceuticals and before that built up the
speciality pharmaceuticals business of Roche.

Frank joined the Board on 4 April 2006,

The Board has also appointed Dr Ken Cunningham
in the new role of Chief Operating Officer. Ken

was formerly Chief Executive of the private UK
company Arakis and has a wealth of experience

in pharmaceutical development, especiatly in

the areas of oral and inhalation products. Ken
joined the Board on 17 May 2006.

Two other Non-Executive Directors, Sir Michael

Beavis and Dr Keith Mansfard, will not be standing
for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005

The Board will miss their wise counsel and wishes
them well in retirement. In their place, we will be
appointing two new Non-Executive Directors,

The Future

The EGM process was costly and slso diverted
significant management time away from running
the business. However, now that this is behind us
we can focus on execution of the new strategy
referred to above and outlined in more detail in the
following pages. We are focused in the short term
on the licensing of Flutiform ™ in territories outside
North America and the divestment of cur injectables
business. While there is obviously uncertainty as te
the timing of these transactions, they will not only
greatly reduce the Company's current and future
cash reguirements but alsc provide us with the
funds to consider new cpportunities related to

oral and inhalation products. We are also devoting

a significant amount of resource to ensure that
Flutiform™ continues on its planned development
timeline. We remain convinced that Flutiform ™ waill
become a major product, as 15 evident from the
number of companies that have expressed an
interest in obtaining licensing rights. We believe that
the strategic initiatives we have adopted will enable
the Company te maximise the potential of Flutiform”
and other pipeline preducts, to become profitable in
the near term and to deliver long-term value for
shareholders.

Dr Jerry Karabelas
Non-Executive Chairman
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Our Strategy

SkyePharma's mission is to become gne of the
world's leading speciality pharmaceutical companies,
powered through excellence in drug delivery.

On 2 February 2004, the Company announced

the outcorne of its Strategic Review. The Board
concluded that in the interests of achieving
sustainable profitability in the shortest reasonable
time, SkyePharma should concentrate on oral and
inhalation products and divest its injectable business
interests. The progosed divestment, which the Board
expecis (o be subject to approval by shareholders,
would not onty release cash but also relieve the
Company of & significant cash burn and future capital
expenditure. The Board believes that the residual
core business would be able to achieve profitability
in the near term. Furthermore, with greater focused
resources the Company would be in g better position
to further develop its pipeling of oral and inhalation
products. Ultimately, it is the Company’s strategy to
add a niche sales and marketing capahility in one or
more markets that would improve profit growth and
give it greater control over revenue generation.

The injectables business, located in San Diego,
consfsts of two marketed products: DepaCyt” for
a comelication of cancer and Depodur” for the
treatrment of post-surgical pain. This business also
has a pipeline of projects in varicus stages of
development. These include controlled-release
injectable formulations of a number of biological
products and DepoBupivacaine”, a long-acting
injectable formulation of the local anaesthetic
bupivacaine for the control of post-operative
pain. The Company remains canvinced that
DepoBupivacaine” addresses an important area
of unmet medical need and has major commerciat
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notential. However, further development of this
business would require significant cash resources
and would also impact the Company’s ability to
becorne profitable in the near term.

The Company has retained UBS to act as s
investment bank to manage the divestment precass.
This process is engoing and several third parties,
both trade and financial, have already shown
significant interest in the injectables business.

Funds raised by the divestment of the injectables
business will e availahle to enhance the core oral
and inhatation business. We expect to be able to
accelerate the development of certain pipeline
products whose development has had to be
delayed in recent years. Several of these products
are at an early stage of development but would
address important therapeutic areas such as
gastrointestinal, diabetes and hypertension.
Development activities will continue to be based
in Muttenz, Switzerland and manufaciuring in
Muttenz and Lyon, France.

Cur oral and inhalation pipeline includes
SkyePharma's most impaortant project Futiform”™,

a combination asthma product. The Company is
corvinced that Flutiform™ has substantial value as it
is poised to enter 2 large and rapidly growing market
with currently limited campetition. This is reflected
in the excellent terms on which we have recently
licensed Flutiform” to Kos Pharmaceuticals for
the US market [with an option on Canadal. We are
currently negotiating with several companies for
the rights to market Flutiform™ in Japan and the
countries of the European Union.

The core oral and inhalation business has seven
products marketed by licensees, including Paxit
CR", Xatral* OD and Trighde”. These products will
continue to generate revenues and cash far the
Company. There are alse a number of iate-stage
products that are close to the market.

The Company will focus its efforts on working with
partners lo maximise revenues from existing and
future rmarketed products. We will also be able to
devote more resources in this area to the development
of additional products and to increase the size of
our pipeline.

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005




Review of Operations

Respiratery Products

Flutiform™ HEA-MD]

Flutiform™ HFA-MDV is & fixed-dose combination of
the long-acting bronchedilator formoterol and the
inhaled steroid fluticasone in a metered-dose aerosol
inhaler (MD{] using a hydrofluoroalkane (HFA]
prepellant. The global market for combination
therapies for asthma was worth mare than $5 billion
in 2005 and is expected to exceed $10 biltion hy 2010.
Combination therapies are currently the fastest
growing companent of the asthma market and by
2010 are projected to account for over half of the totat
market. There is an additional substantial market for
these combination products in the treatment of
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [COPDI.

In 2605 the Company completed phase |l trials and
3 review of develcpment activities with the FDA and
Furopean regulatory agencies. Subsequent to these
meetings, the Company iniiated Phase Hl trials for
Flutiform™ in February 2006, The product is on track
for its target filing date with the US Food and Drug
Administration "FOA"] in the second half of 2007 with
US market entry expected in early 2009. SkyePharma
expects Flutiform ™ to be the third combination product
to enter the US market, following GlaxoSmithiiine's
Advair and AstraZeneca’s Symbicort. Despite the
aventual likelihood of additional entrants, the
Company belioves that no competing product is likely
to enter the US market before 2012, Therefore, there
15 an opportunity to establish Flutiform™ as the "best
in ckass” combination therapy on the US markel.

Further details of this important pipeline product

will be found in the feature on page 16. SkyePharma
remains in discussions with various potential marketing
partners for territories outside North America.

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005

Foradil® Certihaler™

Foradit® Certihaler™ is our version of Novartis” long-
acting bronchodilator Foradil® lformoterol). Global
sales of Foradil” were $332 million in 2003, of which
the Certihaler” version made up & very small
proportion, the product having only been on the
market for a short time. We developed not only the
multi-dose dry-powder inhaler device but also the
formulation technology that had been shown to
ensure dose consistency. Foradil* Certthaler” has
now been approved in 24 countries in Europe, the
Middle East and Latin America. The praduct was
launched in Germany and Switzerland in September
2005 but a recall from these markets was initiated

in January 2006 because of concerns that accidentat
mishandling of the device had resulted in inaccurate
dosing in a small nurmber of cases. SkyePharma is
collaborating with Novartis and the relevant health
autherities to investigate the reasons and the actions
necessary before the product can be returned to the
market. These are likely to inciude modfication of
the device. In the US, the FOA issued an “approvabla”
letter for Foradil® Certihaler ™ in Aprit 2004 but the
FDA is requiring device modification as a prereguisile
for approval. Novartis is currently working with the
FOA on the moest effective way to address its concerns.

The Certihaler™ and related formulation technslogy
are also involved in a second collaboration with
Novartis to jointly develop QAB149 lindacateroll,

a novel inhaled long-acting beta-2-agonist that
provides sustained 24-hour bronchodilation with
rapid onset of action, which has completed Phase i
development in both asthma and COPD. Novartis is
currently revising the indacaterol development plan
in Certihaler™ to accommadate the device
modifications rmentioned above.

Formoterol HFA-MD|

This is a formulation of the long-acting bronchedilator
formaterol in an HFA-powered MDI. Because of the
growang use of combination proeducts for asthma

and COPD, there is now a correspondingly diminishing
market opportunity for single agent bronchodilators.
While this product has completed Phase |l
developrnent, pending the divestment of the
injectables business, the Company will conclude
its strategic review of this product.
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Review of Operations continued

Pulmicort® HFA-MDI

This new HFA-powered MDI containing AstraZeneca’s
inhaled corticesteroid Pulmicort® {budesonide) was
filed for marketing authorisation in June 2005 on a
country-by-country basis in Europe for the treatment
of asthma in adults and ¢hildren. in February 2006,
the product recewved approval in Finland, its first
Eurcpean market. Other European approvals are
expected this year. The currently available MDI
fermulation of Pulmicort® has been on the market
since 19871 and uses chloroftugracarbons [CFCs)

as the propellant. In accordance with the Montreal
Pratocel, this version will now be replaced by the
nan-ozone depleting device using HFAs as prepellant,
SkyePharma developed this new HEA-MD!
formulation, which employs its proprietary
formulation technology, and also conducted the
¢clinical development programme for AstraZeneca.
SkyePharma will earn a double digit royalty on
AstraZeneca’s sales of this farmulation of Pulmicort®.

Oral Products

Paxit CR™

Our improved formulation of GlaxoSmithKline's
antidepressant Paxil® [paroxetine] remains a

major source of royaity income. In March 2005
GlaxoSmithKline temporarily suspended production
of Paxil CR ™ and certain other products made at

its Cidra plant in Puerto Rico. GlaxoSmithKline
announced in April 2005 that it had entered into

a consent decree with the FDA regarding
manufacturing processes at the plant and
recommenced supply of product to the market
shortly thereafter. As previously reported, we
concluded a new agreement with GlaxoSmithKline
last year that not anly provided us with a $10 mullion
lumnp-surmn payment and increased the royslty rate
on this product from 3% to 4% but also maintained
our royatty income even while the product was
ternperarily off the market.

Despite the product’s return to the market, new
documentary procedures introduced as part of the
consent decres have hindered the Cidra plant’s ability
to meet demand and GlaxoSmithKline alerted
customers to supply constraints in January 2006.
Paxil CR" currently holds about 3% of new
prescriptions in this market, well below the 7% share
held before the March 2005 withdrawal. World sales

of Paxil CR™ were $231 million in 2005, of which US
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sales were $209 million, 70% below the 2004 tevel
in constant exchange rate terms.

In late 2005 we and our partner GlaxoSmithKline
received notification from Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc.
that it had filed an Abbrevisted New Drug Application
["ANDA"] with the FDA for a version of paroxatine
hydrochioride extended release tablets. The ANDA
containg a "Paragraph IV certification” that certain

of the patents listed in the FDA's "Orange Book”

by GlaxoSmithKline for Paxil CR " [paroxeting
hydrochloride Controlled Release tablets] are not
infringed. These patents include SkyePharma’s US
patent 5,422,123 The certification does not chatlenge
GlaxoSmithKline's basic active ingredient patent
covering paroxetine hydrochloride hemihydrate, which
protects the product until June 2007, GlaxoSmithKline
has decided not to exercise its right to file suit for
patent infringement within the 45-day period
permitted by the Hatch-Waxman Act [ "the Act”) and
therefore there will be no 30-month stay of approval
for this product pursuant to the Act. SkyePharma
has a number of issued patents covering technology
incorporated in Paxil CR™ and our policy 1s to enforce
our intellectual property wherever possible.

Requip Once-a-day

In Decernber 2009, SkyePharma's collaborator
GlaxoSmithKline submitted Requip Once-a-day, a
ance-daily dosage formulation of Requip” {ropinirole],
for approval by US and European regulatory
authorities for the treatment of Parkinson’s disease.
The FDA has raised some administrative rssues that
were identified in the preliminary initial review and
which led GlaxoSmithKline to withdraw the US filing.
SkyePharma has been informed that it is the
intention of GlaxoSmithKline to resubmit as soon

as possible. It is not expected that the Eurcpean
regulatory review process will be affected by these
1ssues. This new once-daily orat formutation of
Requip® incorporates SkyePharma’s Geomatrix™ oral
controlled-release delivery technology. SkyePharma
will receve royalties on the product sales,

Triglide™

Following FOA approval in May 2005, First Horizon
Pharmaceutical Corporation launched Triglide”
[fenofiprate] on the US market in July. First Horizon,
which licensed Triglide™ in 2004, has a 400-strong
representative force focused on cardiovascular

SkyePharma Annual Repaort 2005




the Company believes that no competing product i1s likely to enter the

“US market before 2012, Therefore, there is an opportunity ta establish
Flutiform™ as the "bestin class” combination therapy on the US market,

physicians and high-prescribing primary care
praclitioners and has a proven ability to capiure
market share i the cardiovascular therapeutic area.
We and First Horizon see a substantial opportunity
for Triglide ™, a once-daily oral ireatment for lipid
disorders such as elevated cholesterol and
triglycerides. Fenofibrate not only lowers levels

of total triglycerides and LOL cholesterol ("bad
cholesterol’] in the bloodstream but alse has the
valuable property of raising abnormally low levels

of HDL cholesterel {"good cholesteral’], increasingly
recagnised as a major cardiovascular risk factor,

in Triglide™, the problem of variable uptake arising
from the low solubility of fenofibrate has been
svercome by cur proprigtary [DD-P” solubilisation
technology. Triglide ™ has cornparable abserption
under both fed and fasting conditions and therefore
allows patients o lake the drug at any time, improving
compliance and simplicity for both patients and
prescribers. First Hortzon's 2005 sales of Triglide™
in the 5 months since launch were just under

$5 million but we and First Horizon expect a
significant increase in the current year,

SkyePharma has now received $20 million in
milestone payments from First Horizon {($15 million
of which was due on FDA approval, obtained in May
2005] and could receive up to $30 million maore in
sales-based milestone payments. In addition we
receive 25% of First Horizon's net sales, out of which
we pay for manufacturing and supoly. In 2005 we also
agreed to contribute towards the marketing costs
incurred by First Horizon to establish the product

i its first two years after taunch, the aim bemng to
enhance market penetration and thereby optimise
revénues. Originally we agreed to contribute up to

$5 million towards First Horizon's marketing costs
through 2007 and to provide samples. In January 2006
this arrangement was modified in order to emphasise
its intent as a marketing contribution. SkyePharma
will now make a contribution of up ta $11.3 million
towards First Horizon's marketing costs {of which

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005

$3.1 million was paid in 2005] and First Horizon will
pay SkyePharma for the supply of product samples.
There is no change in the net cost to SkyePharma.

Xatralg oD

Yatral® OD [Uroxatral® in the USA] is our once-daily
version of Sanofi-Aventis's Xalral” {alfuzosin],

a treatment for the urinary symptoms of benign
prosiatic hypertrophy. Xatral® 0D has been on the
market outside the USA since Aprit 2000 and the
older multidose versions of Xatral” have now (argely
been withdrawn. Uroxatral®, launched in the USin
Novernber 2003, currently holds over 11% of the
combined prescriptions written for it and for its
principal competitor Flomax [tamsulosin, jointly
marketed in the US by Boehringer Ingelheim and
Astellas]. Xatral® OD has now been appraved in more
than 50 countries, including 24 in kburope, for a
secend indication, acute urinary retention. However
Sanofi-Aventis is no longer pursuing US approval for
this indication. In 2005, global sales of alt forms of
Xatral® reported by Sanofi-Aventis were €328 million
[$410 million), up by 18% in constant exchange rate
terms. included in this total were US sales of
Uroxatral™ of €53 million (564 million], up by 121%
in constant exchange rate terms. We estimate that
Xatrat® 0D now accounts for more than 90% of the
sales of Xatral™ reported by Sanofi-Aventis,

Zyflo® CR

SkyePharma's partner Critical Therapeutics, Inc.
announced in January 2006 that it had initiated two
studies designed to support a New Drug Application
for & twice-daity version of Zyllo” [zileuton), an oral
leukotrigne synthesis inhibitor for the treatment of
asthma. The current version of Zyflo® has to be taken
four times a day and the CR version 1s expected to
improve convenience for patients and therefore
compliance. The controlled release formulation
employed in the CR version was developed by
SkyePharma. Critical Therapeutics expezts to file the
CR version with the FUA in the third quarter of 2004.
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Review of Operations continued

Other Products

Solaraze®

Solaraze™ is our topical gel treatment for actinic
keratosis and cur proprietary hyaluronic acid
formulation ensures that a high concentration of the
active ingredient is maintained in the upper lavers of
the skin. Selaraze” is now marketed in the US by the
Deak Dermatologics unit of Bradley Pharmaceuticals.
Bradley has recently reported that sales in the first
nine menths of 2005 were just under $10 million and
SkyePharma estimates that full year sales were
approximately $15 million. Sales in 2004 were only
$6 miliion, refleciing the fact that product rights were
not acquired by Bradley until August 2004. Solaraze®
Is marketed in Europe and certain other territorigs by
Shire Pharmaceuticals, In 2005 Shire’s total non-US
sales of Solaraze were $72.5 million, up by 32%.

Injectable Products (to be divested)

Biologicals portfolio

There has been encouraging progress with the
Campany’'s portfolio of versions of protein drugs
with enhanced delivery profiles, based on its two
complementary sustained-release injectable
technologies DepoFoam’ and Biosphere”.

The objective of the work has heen to develop
different protein formulations to provide a range

of durations from 7 up to 28 days of activity.

The Depokeam™ system has the benefit of neither
altering the natve protein during the formulation
process nor the way in which it acts upon release
into the hody. SkyePharma has now successfully
formulated seven different protein drugs, including
major commercial products such as G-CSF, EPO,
HGH, (FN-a and IFN-B. In the second half of 2005
the Company entered into three new feasibility study
agreerments with third parties for enhanced biolegics.
It is anticipated that several of these products will
enler Phase | clinical trials in 2007,

DepoBupivacaine™

We are pleased to report that we have now completed
the Phase Ul trial programme for DepoBupivacaine™,
a long-acting local anaesthetic for use in the
treatment of post-operative pain. DepoBupivacaine”

15 SkyePharma’s novel sustained-release injectable
formulation of the local anaesthetic bupivacaine,
currently widely used as a local or regional
anaesthetic during surgery, either in a haspital in-
patient setting or in ambulatory (or "day”] surgery in
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which the patient is discharged from the hospital

or ctinic shortly after surgery to recover at home.
DepoBugivacaine” employs SkyePharma's proprietary
DepoFoam™ technology and was shown in Phase |
and Phase |l studies to provide local relief of pzin for
more than 48 hours after a single injeclion instead
of 8-12 hours for conventional irmmediale-release
bupwvacaine. Superior control of pain after discharge
is expected to reduce the need for other analgesics
and to improve patient recovery and rehabilitation.
The Phase lll trial programme is expected to
commence in the first half of 28004,

We have extended our relationship with Mundipharma,
our Eurcpean marketing partner for DepoCyt”, by
granting rights ocutside North America and Japan for
DepoBupivacaine”. Under the terms of the agreement
we could receive up to $80 million in milestone
payments and a 35% share of sales {30% in markets
outside Europe). The milestone payments include a
contribution of up to $20 million towards the cost of
the Phase |l trial once Mundipharma agrees to the
design of the trial.

DepoBupivacaine™ has alse been licenssd to the
Japanese pharmaceutical company Maruho for

the Japanese market. Maruhe will pay SkyePharma
up to $18 mithion in mitestone payments and
conduct at its own cost the clinical development of
DepoBupivacaine” required for regulatory approval in
Japan. Additionally, SkyePharma will receive a share
of Maruho's sales in Japan, out of which SkyeFharma
will bear the cost of manufacture.

Endo Pharmaceuticals, our North American partner
for DepcDur”, which had a right of first negotiation
for commercial rights to DepoBupivacaine ™ for North
Armerica, has now relinquished this right, thereby
oroviding a buyar of the injeclables business with
unencumbered US rights to this product. Subject to
the terms of this sale, we may seek to retain an
economic interest in the sales of DepoBupivacaine”,
which we believe has major commercial potential,

DepoCyt®

Depolyt™ is an oncology drug for the treatment of
lymphomatous meningitis. It consists of cytarabine in
our proprietary DepoFoam™ formulation to avoig the
need for frequent intrathecat [spinat) injections. Sales
of OepoCyt™ in the USA in 2005 by our partner Enzon
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were $8 million, up 26% on the prior year.

Gur European partner Mundipharma, which launched
the product as DepaCyte™ in February 2004, had
sales of $6 million (against $1.5 million in 2004) and
is forecasting a further substantial incraase in 2006,
We have completed the Phase IV trial required by
the FDA when granting approval for this product

and will be submitting the results to the FDA shortly.
We have also filed In Europe for the additional
indication of the most common form of neoplastic
meningitis, associated with solid tumours.

A response is expected in mid-2006,

DepoDur”

In Decemnber 2004 cur US marketing partner Endo
Pharmaceuticals launched DepoDur”, our sustained-
retease injectable version of the analgesic morphine
for the treatment of post-operative pain. Sales in
2005 were $4 million, which was a disappointment
both to us and to Endo. The product is still in the
launch phase but has now been accepted on more
than 400 hospital formularies, the first gateway to

Propofol 1DD-D™

Propofol (DD-D7 is aur novel formulation of propofal,
a widely-used injectable anaesthatic and sedative.
Our formulation was designed not te support microbial
growth, a recognised problem with current versions,
and to provide uninterrupted sedation for 24 hours.
Although this product completed Phase H trials in
2004, the Phase 1l trizl has not yet commenced and
in Aprit 2006 we agread with ocur North American
partner Endo to terminate the joint development

of Propofol iDD-D".

The Future

in the immediate future, we will be concentrating

on two tasks: the divestment of our injectables
business and securing an additional marketing and
co-development partner {or partners] for Flutiform ™.
Once these tasks have been completed, we wall be
able to focus our management and financial
resources on the "new SkyePharma”, consisting

of vur core inhalation and oral product business,

We will drive for sustainable profitability. At the same

In the immediate future, we will be concentrating on two tasks: the
divestrment of our injectables business and securing a marketing and
co-development partner (or partners) for Flutiform™. Once these tasks

have been completed, we will be able to focus our management and
financial resources on the “new SkyePharra”, consisting of our core
inhalation and oral product business.

routine hospital use. Given the length of time typically
needed to establish hospital products, we are
confident that this initial sales level does not reflect
the full potentiat of the product.

in the UK, we have recently been granted approvat
for DepoDur” by the UK regulatory agency, the
CSM. This will be used as the basis for seeking
approval throughout the Eurcpean Union under

the EU's Mutual Recognition precedure. Zeneus
Pharmaceuticals, SkyePharma's European licensee
for DepoDur”, announced on & Dacember 2005 that
it had reached agreement to be acquired by the US
company Cephalon Inc. SkyePharma has regained
the Eurcpean rights for DepaDur " and is now seeking
a new sales and distributicn partner for the EU and
other territeries outside North America.
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time, however, we will invest in our inhalation and
oral product pipeline to make sure that we bring
forward the growth drivers of tomorrow. We have a
langer term goat of forward integration inlo marketing
and sales of our own products in selected specialty
therapeutic areas. | believe that this new focus will
create exciting cpportunities for SkyePharma and
increase investor confidence in our future,

Frank Condella
Chief Executive
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Product Pipeline

“ ] Client/licensee 1 Drug | Therapeutic category
| Oral GlaxoSmithKline Paxil CR™ CNS
. Sanofi-Aventis Xatral” OD/Uroxatral® Genito-Urinary i
'T— Roche Madopar OR® Farkinsen's Disoase
) Therabel Corung™ Angina
________ ) Mundipharma Cordicant-Ung™ Hyperlension B
P Ralicpharm Diclofenac Arthrilis
GlaxoSmithKline Requip once-a-day Parkinson's Disease
Nitec Undisclosed Inflarnmalory Conditions
B Critical Therapeutics Zleuton Asthma/COPD
| First Horizon Sular CR Antihypertensive o
|
| inhalation Novarlis Foradil Certihaler” Asthrma N
_______ AstraZeneca Pulmicort” HFA Asthma B
i Kos/SkyePharma Flutiform” Asthma
SkyePharma Formoterol HFA Asthima
Novartis QAB 149 Asthma/COPD ""
[ injectable Enzon/Mundipharma Jepalyt® Oncology o
Endo/Skyepharma ¢ DepoDyr” Post Operative Pain 7-
Mundipharma/Maruho | DepcBupivacaine” Local Anaesthetic
| Astralis* Psoraxine” Psoriasis o
, SkyePharma HGH Crowth Disorders
SkyePharma Interferon alpha-2b Anti-viral/Oncology B
‘ SkyePharma GCSF Oncology -
_ Topical | Bradley/Shire [ Solaraze” [ Actinic Keralosis t_
- | Dr Reddy's’ | Multple’ f Dermal
~Solubilisation First Horizen/SkyePharma | Triglide” I Cardiovascular -
! SkyePharma Propofol 1DD-D” Anaesthesia/Sedalion
‘L ‘ Baxter Mulliple Undisclosed

in addition there are a number of early stage and internal deve

Oal

Inhalation

injectable 5

lopment projects at varous stages for each of the technalogy platfcrms.

Threugh a senvice agreerment, SkyaPharmais providing development, manuiacturing, pre-clinical and chimeal developmend serv ces
to Astralis for secand genaration Pseraxine”, up to ¢completion of Phasze H studies. in the event that Phase |l studies are successfully corpleted,

Aslralis will ofter SkyePharma the optien to acquire worldwide ticensing and distribution rights to Psoraxine ™,

t SkyePharma has licensed its dermatology assets to Dr Reddy's. The status of the most advanced product is shown in the above chart.
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{ invitro [laboratory) ( First stage Addltional in Trialsjnan SkyePharma orits Approved by the f Marketed by
feasibility study of human viva tesling expanded partners file for relevant regulatory | partner or licensee.
l to determine | clinical testing may be performed patient population, regqulatory appraval | authority, awaiting
| whethar, under [ for toxicity {also called pre- typically at in the jurisdictions in launch.
;. laboratary i inhealthy pivotal trials] dispersed sites. which it is intended
i congditions, l human voluntgers. invplving 3 small All of the improved that the proguct will :
1 the formulation patient population gutcome or new be marketed.
l of the preduct ] to evaluate the products under For example, in the
| candidate can : optimal clinical development US, this will require
| be achieved. | dose. require a Phase Il filing with the FDA
' trial. Also called andin the European
i pivetal trials, community with the
EMEA.
Feasibility Phase Phase Il Phase lll [ Filed i Approved Marketed

—
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Products on the Market

Paxil CR™

Anaral rmulation af GlaxoSmithKlne's

SR antdepressant Pawl*. Gur Geematrix”

technology reduces gastrointestinal side-
effests with all drugs of thes class
CRwas ol the US market between
hand fune 2025 necausc ol a
manufacturing problerm at GS5K's Puerto
Rize plant. Bernand for Paxil CR™
has recovered since the preduct returned
o the rarkel pul not te the former level

DepoCyt®

Atreatment for lyeaphomatous meningilis,
4 .ala-stage compiication of cancer, based
un our sustaned-release inctable

techr v, Depolyt 1s marketed by
Enzon Pharmaceuticals in the USA and

by Mundipharma Internationalin Europe
‘a5 MepoCyte”]

Solaraze®

Altopical treatrment for achiruc keratosis,
a comman pre-cancerous skin condition
caused by over-exposure to sunlight
Solaraze”. based on our hyaturonic :
gl formutation, s lonnsad te Bradley
Pharmaceuticals in the USA and o Shire
Pharmaceuticals in Europe and Australasia.

il

DepoDur™

Asustained -reloase injectable formalation of
marphine. A single epidural ingection during
surgery provides effective retief of post-
operative pan for 48 hours Depcllur was
taunched at the end of 2004 by our US partrer
Endo, UK appreval was granted recently,

Xatral® 0D

A once-daily oral versinn of Saneli-Avertes’
alfuzosin for the urinary symptoms of benign
prostatic hypertrephy, Xatral " O5 has been
on the market in Eyrope and other territories
aince 2000 and was taunched [as Uroxzatral '
in the US i November 2003,

Triglide™

Anoraltreatenent for imd disorders, Trigldn
ernploys our iDD-P7 solubilisabion tachrology
to overcome the insolublity of fangfhrate,

an otherwise valuable treatmant for this
carmmon candition. Triglide was launched

in July 2085 by our US partner First Horizon
Pharmareuticals

SkyePharma uses drug delivery tlechnalogies to improve the charactanistics of pharmaceutical procucts. Normally we wark with madicines thal
have already been shown to be safe and effestive bul which have disadvantages in lerms of dosing. By reformulation, we can often irnprove the
therageutic effect, mininuse side-etfects and make dozing more convenient for the patient.

Jar delivery technologes cover four routes of administration: oral, mhalad, mjectable and topical Togather these four routes account for over

ale

of all drugs now an the rarket. Qur fifth technclogy, sclubilisation, is designed to overcome 3 growang probiern fer the pharmaceuticai

industry: low bicavaitability of many promising drug leads. All of these delivery technolegies have now been validated by marret approval.

14
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Upcoming Products

Foradil® Certihaler”

A new version of Novartis™ long-acting bronchodilator fermoterol for asthma. SkyePharma developed not
only the multi-dose drypowder inhaler device but also the unigue fermulation of the drug. The product has
now been approved in 24 countries in Europe, the Middle East, Latin America and South Africa and New
Zealand and recaived an "approvable” letter from the FDA in Aprit 2006. In Foradit” Certihaler” our inhaler
and formulation technologies successfully achieve repeat dose consistency. This technology is employed
in a second collaboration with Novartis for indacaterot {QAB 149], a novel long-acting bronchodilator,

Propofol 1DD-D”

An injectable anaesthetic and sedative. Our farmulation was designed to avaid the need for a preservative
and to be suitable for long-term use in intensive care units. Although this product completed Phase il trials
in 2004, the Phase I trial has not yet commenced and i Aprid 20046 we agreed with gur North American
partner Endo to terminate the joint develepment of Propofol 1DD-07

Pulmicort® HFA-MDI

A new pulmonary formulation of AstraZeneca’s Pulmicort™ [budesonide) in an HFA-powered metered-dose
aercsol inhaler. AstraZeneca filed for Eurcpean approval in June 2005 and the first European approval came
in February. We have developed this new version of AstraZeneca’s asthma drug Pulmicort”. Our aerosol
inhaler is powered by environmentally friendly HFA and will allow the current CFC-powered version to be
withdrawn.

Requip Once-a-day

A new oral version of GlaxoSmithKline's Requip® for Parkinson’s disease. The long-acting formulation
should bring therapeutic benefits as well as convenience. Phase 11l trials of Requip Once-a-day have been
completed and we expect GSK to file for approval before year-end. Dopamine agonists like Requip™ are
increasingly recommended for first-line use in Parkinson's. Qur once-daily version addresses the major
disadvantage of the current product: the need for dosing three times a day.
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Flutiformm

The world market for asthma drugs is expected

to exceed $20 billion by 2010, with use in chronic
abstructive pulmaonary disease [COPDJ expected to
add a further $10 billion. The fastest-growing part
of this market is combination treatments, which
combine a long-acting bronchodilator with an
inhaled steroid in a single delivery device.
Combinations are not only convenient for patients
hut alse optimise the efficacy of the individual
agents. Sales of GlaxoSmithKline's combination
Advair [Seretide in Europe]} already exceed $6 billion
and AstraZeneca's Symbicort (which is not yet on
the US market) add another $1 hillion. By 2010
the combination category is expected to account
for over half of the asthma/COPD market by value,

SkyePharma's product Flutiform™ consists of a fixed-
dose combtination of the bronchedilator formoterot
with the inhaled steroid fluticasene in a proprietary
metered-dose aerosol inhaler with a dose counter.
Formoterel grovides 12 hours of bronchodilation

and has a rapid onset of action (1-3 minutas|.

By contrast salmeterol, the hronchodilator used in
GlaxoSmithKline's Advair/Serelide, is also a twice-
daily product but has the drawback of needing

30-45 minutes after inhalation to take effect.

The inhaled steroid fluticasone [a component of
Advair/Seretide] is perceived to have a better safety
and efficacy profile than budesonide, the stercid used
in AstraZeneca’s Symbicort, and is the physician-
preferred inhaled steroid in the US. The SkyePharma
farmmulation technology employed in Flutiform™
provides patent protection to 2019
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The Phase lll trial of Flutiforr”, starled in February
2006, is on track for cur target of filing in the second
half of 2007 and US market entry in early 2009.
SkyePharma has extensive experience in development
of respiratory products and we also consider this
to be a low-risk clinical development as both
formoterel and fluticasene are already approved
entities. We are therefere confident of our ahility

to meet these timelines.

We beliave that Flutiform ™ will be at werst the third
combination on the US market and differentiated
from both Advair and Symbicort, There is potential

to position Flutiform " as "Best in Class™ and no ather
significant competitors are expected to enter the

US market before 2012 at the earliest. Furthermare
there is limited risk of generic competition in the
combination asthma market because there is no
recognised test for bioequivalence after inhalation
dosing and therefore no basis for approval of an

"AB rated” generic inhaled drug in the US market.

A generic company would therefore have to cenduct
clinical trials, which is much more expensive and
risky than development of a conventional oral generic
drug - s0 typical generic deep-discount pricing would
not be possible. We therefore anticipate a peak sales
potentiai for Flutiform™ well in excess of $1 billion
with an approgriate marketing partner.

In September 2005 we therefore decided to raise
funds to proceed with Phase 13l development at our
awn expense. The Phase Il trials will cast in excess
of $50 million. This decision kept development under
our control and reduced the risk of delays to market
entry that could jecpardise the sales potential of
Flutiform™, Our decision to proceed with development
was vindicated by the excellent terms of a licence
agreement with Kos Pharmaceuticals tor the US
market announced in May 2006. Kos 1s a highly
successful specialty pharmaceutical company and
we are confident that we have now found an ideal
marketing partner for Flutiform™ in the key U5
rmarket, We remain in discussions with other
potential partners for other major territories
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The Shares

SkyePharma’s shares are listed on the London Stock
Exchange (where the ticker symbol is SKP). The
company's American Depository Receipts ("ADRs")
are listed on the US NASDAQ exchange [ticker symbol
SKYE). One ADR represents 10 ordinary shares.

Share price performance

World stock markets improved in 2009, although
growth was notably stronger outside the USA. Despite
centinued robust US economic growth, the S&P 500
index only rose by 3%. Smaller capitalisation stocks
tracked the majors in 2005, with the US Nasdag index
rising by 1% while the Dow Jones Industrial Average
of heavywelght stocks was unchanged. However most
European markets achieved double digit gains, with
the UK FTSE 100 Index up by 17%, and the Japanese
market staged a strong recovery with a 40% gain.
The generally strong stock market performance in
2005 was remarkable considering negative factors
such as high energy prices, the progressive increase
in US interest rates, the terrorist attacks in Londen
and the destruction of New Orleans by hurricane
Katrina {and the consequent disruption of the US
energy and shipping industries).

Inthe US, major pharmaceutical stocks remained
dogged by investor concerns over drug safety, declining
R&D productivily and pressure on prices, In the US
the share price of market leader Plizer fell by 13%,

a secong successive year of decline, and despite
some recovery in other stocks the sector average
was down by 1%. By contrast the kuropaan pharma
companies, less exposed to the US market, had a good
year with the sector average up by 28%, outperforming
the general market. In the UK GlaxeSmithKline was
up by 20% and AstraZeneca by 50%,.

Investor sentiment towards SkyePharma in 2005
remained affected by the continuing delay in the
identification of a development and marketing
partner for Flutiform™, the company’s major gipetine
product. This culminated in the announcement in
September of a discounted Rights Issue when the
company decided to raise funds to proceed with the
Phase Ill development at its own expense and seek
a marketing partner at a later date. During 2005,
SkyePharma's share price fell by 23% from 65 pence
to 50 pence, The year's low was 35 pence (in October]
and the high 65 pence [in January]. For comparisen,
the broad FTSE All-share index rose by 18% in 2005.

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005

During 2005 the FT Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology
sector index, which 1s heavity weighted towards
pharmaceutical companies, staged a recovery to rise
by 28%, outperforming the UK marke! as a whole.
Although the SkyePharma share price declined
during 2005, the strong gain in 2003 means that over
the 2003-05 pericd the performance has stillbeen
simitar to that of the Pharma sector:

The final chart compares the performance of
SkyePharma shares in 2005 with that of the
TechMARK Mediscience index, an index composed of
UK companies of simitar investment characteristics.
It is clear that the broad pattern of performance
during the year was similar up to September when
the SkyePharma share price was depressed by the
announcement of the rights issue.
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The Shares continued

Market capitalisation

On 30 December 2005 {the last trading day of the
year], SkyePharma's market capitalisation was
£375 million (US$645 millicn), comeared with
£404 million US$780 millian) a year earlier.

The chart below shows the trend in tha company’s
market capitalisation in sterling and in US dollars
during 2005.

Issued share capitat

SkyePharma’s 1ssued share capital at the end of 2005
amounted tc some 754 million shares (against 422
million shares at the end of 2004]. In addition the
company had 40 million share options outstanding and
certain cantingent shares and warrants. The company’s
share gption scheme aims to incentivise stalf and

to align shareholder and management objectives,
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Ouring 2005 SkyePharma had a rights issue, cffering
126 million new shares on the basis of one new share
at 30 pence per share for every five held. The 1ssue,
managed by Credit Suisse, SkyePharma’s broker,
was fully underwritten and raised £35 million net of
expenses. For regulatory reasons, the issue was not
avallable to shareholders in certain countries, including
the USA and Canada.

During 2005 SkyePharma alse raised £20 million by
an issue of 2025 convertible bonds. The £13 million
of 2005 convertible bends that were not exchanged
for 2024 bonds in the 2004 exchange offer were
repaid. Conversion of the outstanding 2024 and 2025
convertible bonds (using conversion prices that have
been autoraticaily adjusted for the 2005 rights issue)
would involve the issue of a further 109 million shares.

Shareholders

At the end of 2005, SkyePharma had 17,000
shareholders. Share ownership in SkyePharma is
concentrated, with the top 10 shareholders owning
B5% of the shares and the 25 largest shareholders
owning over 70%. We eslimale thal approximately
46% of SkyePharma's shares are held by institutional
or corporate investors and 34% by private individuais
fincluding holders of the company’s ADRs, believed
1o be primarily owned by US retail investors.

Fig 1 shows the distribution of share ownership.

Fig i: Ownership distribution as at 31 December 2005

Mumber of Nyumber of “rof "o of shares
shares held shareholdars iilarehohd-:rs I I55Le
Less than 1,000 6892 iOG% B

To00- 10000 8584 0% 3T
10,000 - 100,000 1297 Ta%  43%
100,000 - 1 mitlien 228 1.3% 10.0%
Qver 1 millton ¢0 05% 81.5%

As in 2004, the international fund manager Fidelity
was SkyePharma's largest shareholder, albeit with
a somewhat reduced holding of 78 million shares
(representing 10.1% of the issued share capitall at
the end of the year {this holding has since largely
been sold). Two new investors became the second
and third largest holders, Insight Invesiment wilh
68 million shares {9.0% of the issued share capital]
and the specialist Swiss investmen( fund HEM
Bioveniures with 64 million shares (8.5% of the 1ssued
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share capital). As of 31 Decernber 2005, the 10 targest
sharehaolders collectively owned 412 million shares,
over half of the issued share capital [see Fig 2).

Fig 2: Ten largest shareholders' as at 31 December 2005

Sharghslding ¥ oof shares
Sharghulder imillicn) i sue
Fidelity Inveslments 78.1 10.1%
Insight Investment 67.8 9.0%
HBM Bioventures 63.8 8.5%
Morley Fund Management 434 5.8%
ADRs 37.5 5.0%
r tacques Gonella 374 5.0%
Kowa Company 30.0 4.0%
Legal & General
investment Manegement 274 3.6%
J 0 Hambro Capital Management 5.1 2.0%
BGI 1.1 1.5%

Mate I The inyestor halding infarmation in this Lable s derived rom
aur analysis of the share register, which combines sharchelding data
ant the responses lo our enguiries issued under Section 212 of the
Companies Act [19855 The reported institutional shareholdings may
iherefore inciude fungs which are non-beneficially owned and/or those
which are maraged on a discrehionary hasis by Lhe investor As suzh
sorne instiiutional shareholdings stated may differ from the igures
reported by those mstitutions on a beneficial ownership basis only.

Arthe end of 2005, 58% of SkyePharma’s shares
were held by shareholders domicited in the United
Kingdom, the same proportion as at the end of 2004.
The proportien of shares owned by individuals or
legal entities domiciled outside the UK was 42%.
The chart below [Fig 3} shows the percentage
distribution of the shares held by non-UK shareholders
by country of domicile, with Switzerland overtaking
the USA as the most important country, followed

by Japan and Canada.
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Investor relations

It is the objective of SkyePharma's management

and of its investor relations team to ensure a imely,
cpen, comprehensive and consistent flow aof
information to investors and the financial community.
By this means we aim to help investars to understand
the Company's activities and strategic objectives and
thereby facilitate the Company’s access to capital
markets. All information disseminated to institutionat
investors and analysts by print, email or fax is
simultaneously made available on our website
{www.skyepharma.com] so that private investors
have equal access. We also webcast our regular
meetings and teleconferences with analysts and
investors and, wherever possible, cur presentatiens
at investment conferences.

SkyePharma takes a proactive stance on investor
relations, with investor relaticns offices in London
and New York. In 2005 we held 111 ocne-on-one
meetings with shareholders or potential investors.
The vast majority of these meetings included an
executive management representative. In addition
SkyePharma participated in 12 investment
conferences in the USA and Europe during the year.
The investor relations section of the company's
website (which was redesignad during the year]
attracted over 55,000 hits in 2005.

Analyst coverage

The sell-side analysts listed below currently issue
regular reports on SkyePharma. Please note that any
apinions, estimates or forecasts regarding SkyePharma
made by these analysts are theirs alone and do not
represent opinions, forecasts or predictions of
SkyePharma or its management. SkyePharma
does not by its reference below or distribution
imply its endorsement of or concurrence with

such information, conclusions or recommendations.

Nomura CODE Securities [Paul Diggle)
Credit Suisse [Andrew Sinclair]
Evolution Securities [Jonathan Senior]
Jefferies [Robin Campbell}

WestLB [Daniel Wendorff}

Seymour Pierce {Sav Neophytoul
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Corporate Social Responsibility

As a pharmaceutical company, our mission is to
develop better medicines to improve the treatment
of human disease. We believe that this in itself

is a worthwhile enterprise. Furthermere, the
pharmaceutical industry as a whole is intensively
regulated to ensure that all medicinal products are
both safe and effective and manufactured to the
highest standards. We also recognise that our
business will prosper for the long term only if we
act in a responsible manner and we are conscious
of growing interest ameng investors and other
stakehaolders in the compliance of companies with
ethical, social and environmental issues.

Ethical issues

We aim to demonstrate and promote the highest
standards of honest and ethical conduct throughout
our Company. We have established formal policies
and proceduras, including a Code of Ethics for
Senjor Financial Officers and a Complainis and
Whistleblowing Procedure. A Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics has been intreduced throughout
the Company that complies with ar exceeds the
requiremnents of the published US SEC/Nasdaq
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Employment issues

SkyePharma 15 committed to a policy of equal
opportunities in 1ts employment practices. We believe
that the contribution an employee can make should
not be affected by factors such as gender, age,
rnarital status, disability, sexuatity, race, colour,
religion, ethnic or national origin or any other
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conditions not relevant to the performance of the job,
Our formal Equal Oppertunities Policy is posted on
the Company’s website. We also recognise that a
safe, secure and healthy working environment
contributes to preductivity and improved performarice.
All employees are encouraged to participate in the
Company’'s share purchase scheme, and wa
promotg internal communication of the Company’s
progress by means of an “intranet” and cur
periodic SkyePharma publications, "Skye News”

and “Frank Talk",

The Environment

As a Cornpany we are cormmitted to protecting

the enviranment in which we conduct our activities.
Qur farmal Environmental Policy aims to foster a
positive attitude towards the environment and to
raise the awareness of employees to responsible
gnvironmentat practices at all sites operated by the
Company. We ensure compliance with all relevant
legislation and regulatory requirements and where
practical and econormically viable we develop
standards in excess of such requirements.
Although we are only a small-scale manufacturer,
we aim Lo set a high standard through continuous
improvement in our environmental performance.
We now undertake routine monitering of various
measures of our environmental performance at our
main R&D and manufacluring sites in Switzerland,
France and the USA, the results of which are
submitted to external review bodies.
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The left-hand chart shows that achieving further
environmental improvernents was mare challenging
in 2005 than in the prior year, largely because of
product and process mix effects. These had the
unfortunate consequence of not only increasing the
amount of materiat that had to be mcinerated but
also reducing the amount that could legally be
recycled. Qur choice of productien processes for
pharmaceuticals is dictated by regulatory bodies
and often there is little that we can do to modify
our processes, The value of our production nearly
guadrupled in 2005 even though there was a 14%
decline in producticn unit volume. Qur use of energy
declined by 2% although cur consumption of water
rose by 12%. The amount of waste incinerated
increased by 142% and waste disposed by landfill

by 27% and there was & 3% decline in the amount of
waste recycled. While this is disappointing, the right-
hand chart shows that we have made pregress in
the amaunt of waste recycled since 2002
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The Community

We aim to be a ‘good neighbour” wherever we have
business units and to be active participants in the
community. While we do not believe that we have
a mandate from shareholders for the Company to
make charitable donations, we do encourage our
employees to support various charitable causes,
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Financial Review

Turnover

The Group's revenues continue to be sensitive to

the tirning and receiot of milestone payments and
payments received on the signing of new contracts,
Revenues for 2005, at £41.3 millicn, were 18% below
the £75.2 million reported in 2004. This was primarity
due to the absence of a licensing transaction on
Flutiform™, continuing Paxil CR™ supply preblems and
slower overall market penetration of Triglide " and
DepoDur” by marketing partners, partly offset by an
increase In manufacturing and distribution revenues.
In addition the Company undertook a strategic shift
away from lLicence terms that priorittse upfront
payments on signature towards deal structures
with higher royalty rates and increased milestone
payments tied to product revenue targets. Despite the
decline in 2005, revenues have nevertheless increased
at a cumulative annual growth rate of 24% since 1996,

The absence of a licensing agreement on Flutiform”
had a double negative impact on SkyePharma in
2005. First, revenues suffered from the absence of
the anticipated milestone payment and of a partner’s
contribution towards continuing development costs
of Flutiform™, Secondly, SkyePharma’s R&D costs
exceeded budget expectations because of the need
to press ahead with the development programme
without a partner in order to avoid the risk of
impairment to the commercial potential of this
key product if develapment was delayed.

Contract development and licensing revenue
decreased 30% to £27.6 million, compared with
£39.4 million in 2004, This was primarily due to
the absence of an anticipated milestone from
the licensing of Flutiforrn” and the change in the

structure of our licence agreements described above.
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Revenues recognised from milestone payments

and payments received on the signing of agreements
amounted to £22.1 million in 2005 compared with
£33.4 million in 2004, The 2005 total included revenues
from First Horizon for the US marketing and
distribution rights for Triglde™ triggered by FOA
approval in May 2005 from Mundipharma for the
licensing of DepcBupivacaine” for Europe and from
Maruho for the licensing of DepoBupivacaine™ for
Japan. In addition, £3.7 mitlion of revenue was
recognised from GlaxoSmithKline on the phase Il
clinical trials of Requip [ropinirole], from AstraZeneca
on the phase i clinical trials of Pulrmicort™ HFA and
from Navartis on the phase Il clinical trials of QAB
149. Research and development costs recharged
fell by 8% to £5.5 million, compared with £6.0 million
m 2004 This was mainly due to a fall in the costs
recharged to Micap plc in respect of the development
of their microencapsulation technotegy which has
now been completed.

Royalty income decreased by 16% to £21.7 million,
compared with £25.9 million in 2004. Royalty income
in 2005 derives pringipally from Paxil CR™, Xatral* 0D,
Depolyt®, Solaraze”, DepeDur”™ and Triglide™
Although the Company was able to negotiate

an increase in the royalty rate it receives on
GlaxoSmithKline's sales of Paxil CR™ from 3%

t0 4% with effect from March 2005 and also received
royalties based on budgeted sales while the product
was temporarily off the US market, royalties were
still negatively impacted by the continuing supply
problems experienced by GlaxoSmithKline, Excluding
Paxit CR", royalties for the balance of SkyePharma’s
other products grew by 38%. In addition royalty
growth was less than anticipated due to slower
overall market penetration of Triglide” and DepoDur”
by marketing partners during the year

Manufacturing and distribution revenue increased
by 21% to £12.0 million, comparad with £2.% mitlion,
mainly dug to higher production of clinical trial
material and launch quantities for Novartis in
respect of QAB 149 and Foradil* Certihaler”.
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Deferred income

Curing 2008, there was a net reduction in deferred
incorme of £3.5 million under SkyePharma’s revenue
recognition pelicy. The movement in deferred
income was:

31 31
Deternber December
2004 Recawed”  Recogrised 2008

£m £ £tm £m

Contract
development
and licensing

revenue A 241 (27.8)

* Inc:udes exchange adjustments

Cost of sales

Cost of sales comprises research and development
expenditures, including the costs of certain clinical
trials incurred on behalf of our collaborative partners;
the direct costs of contract manufacturing; direct
cosls of licensing arrangements and royallies
payable. Cost of sales increased by 4% to £29.2
miltion in 2005, compared with £28.2 million in 2004,
This was mainly due to an increase in manufacturing
and distribution expenses ahead of the approval
and launch of Triglide™ The resulting gross profit
decreased 32% Lo £32.1 million, compared wilh
£47.0 million in 2004

Expenses

Selling, marketing and distribution expenses increased
significantly ta £3.9 million, compared with £1.7
rmillion in 2004, This mamly reflected SkyePharma’s
contribution towards the initisl launch and marketing
costs of DepaDur” and Triglide™. No further marketing
contributions are due in respecl of DepoDur™ and
contributions on Triglide”™ will terminate in 2007.
The Company's total costs in respect of Triglide™

in 2005 amount to approximately £4.6 million.

Amortisation ¢f intangible assets decreased slightly
to £2.1 million, compared with £2.2 million in 2004,

Other administration expenses before exceptionals
were £13.8 million in 2005, 12% lower than the
£15.6 million reported in 2004, reflecting the first
full year of cost savings foliowing the restructuring
started in 2004. The exceptlional charge of £21.4
million comprises non-cash impairment charges
of £19.4 million and abortive transaction costs of
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£2.0 million. Following the Strategic Review and
the Group's decision to focus on its core oral and
pulmonary products and to divest its injectable
business, the Group no longer views its cellaborations
with Astralis, Vital Living and Micap as strategic and
these investments have therefore been impaired.

In addizion, as an injectable project, SkyePharma’s
entitlernent to negotiate for cornmercial rights for
Psoraxine”, Astralis” key product, is being offered
with the injectable business interests. The remaining
£2.0 million exceptional charge relates to legal and
professicnal fees relating to an aborted transaction,
as outlined in the Chairman’s statement. Other
administration expenses including exceptional
items increased by £14.9 million to £35.2 million

SkyePharma’s own research and development
expenses in the year decreased by £2.0 million to
£26.0 million, mainly due to a reduction in expenditure
on Pulmicort® HFA, DepoDur™ and other injectable
products, partly off set by an increase in expenditure
on Flutiform ™ and DepoBupivacaine ™ in advance of
their commencement of phase Il climical triats.

The other expense of £0.4 million comprises a £0.7

miltion loss due to the movernent in the fair value of
the Group's investment in GeneMedix plc, partly off

set by a £0.3 mitlion profit on disposal of part of the
Group's hotding of Vectura Group plc shares.

Results

The operating loss before exceptional items was
£146.1 million, compared with £0.4 million in 2004,
due principally to the reduction in revenue and to
increased marketing contributions. The operating
loss after exceptionals increased by £34.4 mitlion
to £37.5 million, mainly due to the higher exceptional
charges and fall in revenue.

The finance casts of £22.3 million [2004: €23.9 million]
mainly comprise notional interest on the Paut Capital
funding liabilities as well as interest on the convertible
bonds. Finance income includes £9.0 miltion [2004:
£6.0 million] in respect of a change in the estimated
future payments to Paul Capital.

The Group's share of the losses of Astralis was
£0.8 million for 2005, compared with £10,000 in 2004,
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Financial Review continued

The retained loss after exceptionals increased by
£32.3 million to £59 % million, also due to the higher
exceptional charges and fall in revenue.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation amortisation
and exceptionals showed a loss of £8.5 million in
2005, compared with a profit of £7.8 millien in 2004,

The loss per share after exceptionals was 8.1 pence,
which compares with 3.0 pence in 2004.

Foreign currency movements did not have a material
impact on the results of operations in 2005 compared
with 2004,

Segment information
Segmental information on revenue and operating
loss before exceptionals is as follows:

Year ended  ‘rear ended
31 December 31 December
2005 2004
Ravanae £m £m
Injectable 10.5 25.6
Orat and Inhalalion 50.8 496
61.3 75.2

Goerating less pre exceptional iterns
Injeclable [18.6) {1.4)
Orat and Inhalation 2.5 1.0
(16.1) [0.4]

Business segment data includes an atlocation
of corporate costs to each segment.

Balance sheet

The Group balance sheet at 31 December 2005
shows shareholders’ equity of £31.9 million {2004:
£36.5 miltion).

In September 2005 the Group raised £34.8 million net
of expenses by means of a rights issue of 125,627 357
new Ordinary Shares on the basis of one new share
for every five held.

In July 2004 the Group exchanged £49.6 million of

its convertibte bonds due June 2005 for convertible
bonds due May 2024, leaving £9.8 million of the 2005
bonds outstanding. The £49.6 million 2024 convertible
bonds were consolidated to form a single series with
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the £20 million 2024 bonds issued in May 2004,

In 2005 the Group issued £20 miltion 8% convertible
bonds due June 2025, In June 2005 the company
repaid the £9.8 million balance on the convertible
bonds due June 2005. As a result of these transactions
the Group has £6%.6 million convertible bonds due
May 2024 and £20 million convertible bonds due
June 2025 outstanding as at 31 December 2005.
On the balance sheet these are reflected as £63.4
mitlion in labilities and £28.4 million in equity.

In addition the Group has Other Borrowings at

31 December 2005 of £44.6 million due to Paul
Capital Royalty Acquisition Fund. Whilst the contractual
arrangements contemplate the payment of royalties
ta Paul Capital as outlined in note 23, 1AS 39 requires
the Company to record a liability equal to the net
present value of the royalties the Company expects
to pay Paul Capital over the term of the agreement.

Financial assets held at fair value comprise a £3.25
millien 5% convertible loan note from GeneMeadix ple.
This has been recorded at £0.4 mitlion at 31 December
2005, being the lower of cost and net realisable value
assuming conversion of the note into GeneMedix
ordinary shares.

Liquidity and capital resources

At 31 December 2005 SkyePharma had cash and
short term deposits of £34.3 million and no bank
overdraft, compared with £15.3 million net cash at
31 December 2004. Bank and other non converticle
debt amounted 1o £9.9 million at 31 December 200%
(2004: £11.1 millicn), consisting principally of a £6.9
million property mortgage secured on the assets of
Jago (2004: £7.4 millien). In addition the Company
has 6% convertible bonds due May 2024 of £69.6
miltion (2004: £6%.6 million] and 8% convertible
bonds due June 2025 of £20.0 milljon [2004: £Nil).
Net debt [excluding the Paul Capital funding
liabilities} amounted to £39.2 million (2004:

£55.6 miltion].

in 2005 there was a net cash outflow from operating
activities of £7.6 million, compared with £3.7 million
in 2004, During the year the Group spent £2.4 million
on property, plant and equipment and expenditure on
intangible assets of £2.23 million mainly relates to the
purchase ot licensas to intellectual property in the
area of pulmonary delivery. The proceeds on disposal

SkyePharma Annuat Report 2005




of the Group's non strategic holding of Vectura
shares were £1.6 million.

Cash inflows from financing in 2005 were £30.6 million
12004: £2.9 million}. The Group raised £34.8 million
net of expenses by means of a rights issug of
125,427,357 new Ordinary Shares. During the year
the Group 1ssuved £20 million 8% convertible bonds
raising £18.8 millian net of expenses. In addition the
company repaid the £9.8 million balance on the
convertible bonds due June Z005.

Borrowings of £7.4 mitlion were repaid in the peried
{20G4: £8.4 million). This primarily comprises Paul
Capital's share of the Company’s royatty income.

The Group paid £2.0 million of costs relating to an
aborted strategic transaction during the year,

International Financial Reparting Standards
The financial infarmation for the year ended

31 December 2005 has been prepared for the first
time in a2ccordance with IFRS. In preparing the

“Excludmg Paxit CR", rayalties for the balance of SkyePharma's other

products grew by 38%.

financial information certain first me adoption
provisions have been applied. The Group has
established IFRS accounting policies which can be
found in note 1. Since the Interim Report 2005 and
IFRS restatement announcement in August 2005 the
Group has changed its interpretation of the application
of 1AS 39 to the Paul Capital funding liabilities. The
restatement resulted in & decrease in the 2004 net
interest expense of £5.2 million and in the liability at
31 Decemnber 2004 of £4.3 million. Further infarmation
on the impact of our transiticn to IFRS can be found

in note 37.

US GAAP

Areconciliation fram IFRS to US GAAP will be included
in the Company's Form 20-F to be filed with the SEC
in June 700s.
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Forward looking statements

The foregoing discussions contain certain forward
tooking statements and are made in reliance on the
safe harbour provisions of the US Private Securities
Litigation Act of 1995 Although SkyePharma believes
that the expectations reflected in these forward
looking statements are reasonabte, it can give no
assurance that these expectations witl materialise,
Because the expectations are subject to risks and
uncertainties, actual results may vary significantly
from those expressed or implied by the forward
lookmg statements based upon a number of factors,
which are described in SkyePharma’s 20-F and other
docurnents on file with the SEC. Factors that could
cause differences between actual results and those
implied by the forward looking statements contained
in this Annual Report include, without limitation,
risks related to the development of new products,
risks related to obtaining and maintamning regulatory
approval for existing, new or expanded indications
of existing and new products, risks related to
SkyePharma’s ability to manufacture products

on & large scale or at all, risks related to SkyePharma’s

and its marketing partners abdity to market products
cn a large scale to maintain or expand market share
in the face of changes in customer requirements,
competition and technological change, risks related
to requlatory compliance, the risk of product tiability
ctaims, risks related to the ownership and use of
intellectual property, and risks related to SkyePharma’s
ability to manage growth. SkyePharma undertakes no
obligation to revise or update any such forward
looking statement to reflect events or circumstances
after the date of this Annual Repart.

Donald Nicholson
Finance Director
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Directors and Officers

Dr Jerry Karabelas (aged 53)

Non-Fxecutive Chaireran since 2 February
2008, apporrded Non-Executive Birectorin
Naverrber 2000, Or Karabelas has more than
23 years experience in the pharmaceutical
ingustey having spent most of his career with
Serithiline Beocham. Ur Karabelas s a
pariner zl Care Copitat LLE. Me was previously
the CED of Navartis Pharma AG where he

had rescansibility for pharmaceuticals, R&D,
cansumar products, end the genencs
busiress, He is an erterqal dircctor of the
Internalionat Parteership for Microbicides
ard Chairman of H.aman Genome Sciences
He is alsa a diractor of Mitroted Inc, Acura
Prarmaceuticals Inc.. Inotek Pharrnaceuticals
orparation, Anadys Pharmaceuticals Inc.,
enove Lid and a member of the scientific
advisary board of Emgenesis Pharmaceuticals
_LC and CardioKine tnc

Or David Ebsworth laged 51

Non-Executive Director, appointed in April
2007 Or Ebsworth has over 20 years of
pharmaceutical industiy experience

Ile provides consultancy services o a variety

of clients including venture capital companies.

e was chief executive officer of Oxford
GlycoSciances PLC unuil May 2003, Prior to
this he hatd the position of president and
general manager of the Pharmaceutical
Rusiness Group for Bayer AG in Levarkusen,
Germany, and has also worked for Bayer AGin
a series of global pasitions in Canada, Europe
and the United States. Or Ebsworth 15 non-
sxecutive chairman of Wilex AG, Xention
Discevery Lid ana Curacyte AG as well as non-
cxccutive director of Intercetl AG and CuraGen
Corporation and held the same office, untl
1993, with Schein Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Inow
known as Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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Michael Richard Dywer Ashton faged 60]
Fxecutive Director: Formerty Chiet Executive
Ofhicar from Novernbear 1993 urtit 1 March
2086, He wasz appointad to the Beard in March
1997 He has over 33 years of expenence in
lhe pharmaceutical industry having worked
for Merck Inc, Phzer inc, Purcpac Inc.and
prior (o this appantraent. Faulding inc. where
Mr Ashtor was Chairman, President and CED.
He is a non-executive director of Transition
Therapewstics Inc | Astratis Limited, Hikma
Pharmaceuticals ple, Proxirnagen
Neuroscience Ltd and Vital Living Inc

R Stephen Harris [aged 63)

Non-Executive Director, appainted in
Novernber 1995, He has 40 years’ commercial
experience in the pharmaceutical industry.
having worked for ICl Pharmaceulicals,
Merck, ELi Litly, Boots, Reckitt & Colman

and Gensia; and was director of Develepment
and Licensing with Medeva PLC_Hais non-
execulive chairman of Proteeme Saiences ple,
Sinclair Pharma PLC and Conve Ltd and non-
executve director of Advanced Medical
Sohiaions Group PLC, Praphilian PLC,
Premier Research PLC and GzneMedix PLC.

Air Chief Marshal $ir Michael Gordon Beavis
(aged 76}

Non-Executive Director, appointed in May
1989 and appointed Senior Independent
Mon-Executive Director in May 2001,

He entered the Royal Air Forcein 1947 and
retired in 1987, hus last appaialment baing
Deputy Cormrrander-in-Chiel Allied Farces
Ceniral Europe, NATQ He s o defence
consultant with Burdeshaw Associates
US4, @ Campanicn of the Chartered
Management Institule, a Freeman of the
City of London and a Liveryrman in the Guild
of Air Pilots and Navigators

Dr Keith Mansford taged 74)

Non-Executive Director appeinted in March
1996, He has over 49 years of expariance in
the pharmeceutical and biotechnplogy setors
principally with Beecham Group and
SmithKline Beecham. From 1984 to 1992

Dr Mansford was Chairman of Researth and
Development at Beecharn Group and
subsequently Smithiline Beecham PLC.

He is an External Director of Sepracer Inc,
chairman of Protemix Inc, a biotech company
hased in New Zealand, and Professar of
Metabolic Biochemistry at the University

of Buckingham.
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Alan Bray [aged 1)

Non-Fxecutve Director, appointed in
September 2004, Mr Bray s a chartered
accountant having retired as a senior partner
fror Detoitte & Touche LLP's financisl
services practice in May 2004, Mr Bray has
workad with retail and investment banks,
insurance companies and asset management
firms and was seconded lor a ime Lo the
Devartment of Trade and Industry, He was
respensible tor Delome & Touche LLP'S nsk
maragement pelicies and procedures in it
financial services prachice and was a serving
meamber on a NTESupervisory Board and
Audit Cornrmittee

Donald Nicholsor laged 48)

Finance Director, appainted in March 1997,
joined the Company in February 1996,

He is a member of he instilute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland. He began his
professional career with Deloitte Haskins
& Sells and has spent over 20 years in
healthcare including Wetlcomne PLC and
Co~ange Ltd, the holding company of
Boehringer Manrheim and DePuy, where he
was Corporate Strataqy & Finance Directar
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Frank Condella (aged 51)

Becams Chief Executive Officer in March 2006
and was appointad to the Board in Aprit 2004.
Mr Condelia has over 25 years commercial
experience in the pharmacauticatindustry,
having worked for several major international
companes. Prior to joiring SkyePharma he
served as President of European Operations
for I¥AX, CEQ of Fauiding Pharmaceulicals,
Vice President of the Specialty Business for
Rocha, and the Lederle urit of Arrerican
Home Products He holds a BS in Pharmacy
degree and an MBA from Nertheastern
University in Boston, Massachusetts

Douglas Parkhill (aged 54]

Company Secretary, appoinied ir Seplember
2002, Wr Parkhittis a graduate of Glasgow
Unkversity and a mernbar of the institute ot
Chartercd Accountants of Scatland.

Dr Ken Cunningharm laged 53]

Became Chief Operating Oficer in April 2006
He was appointed to the Beard in May 2006
Dr Cunningharn is former CEQ of Arakis
from January 2002 te August 2005, Vice
Prasident Furopean Alfairs for Alza
Corgoratian: and Vice President Clinical
Development for Soquus Prarmacenticals
Previously he held a variety ol clinicat
development and commercial strategy
positians in GlaxewWellcorz ang Warner-
Lambert. He is a non-exgcutve direclor

of Xentior: Oiscovery Ltd. Dr Cunningham
qualified from St Mary's Medical School,
London University
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report on the affairs of
the Group, together with the consolidared financial
statements and auditors’ report for the year ended
31 December 2005,

Principal activities and business review

A review of the Operating and Financial business
and future developments of the Group is set out

in the Chairman’s Statement, Review of Operations
and Financial Review.

The principal activities of the Group are the research
and development, manufacture and sale of
prescription pharmaceutical products.

Results and dividends

The Group made a loss for the year to 31 Cecember
2005 of £50.9 million [2004: £18.6 million). The
Directors do nat propose to pay a dividend.

Research and development

The Group incurred research and development costs
of £26.0 million (2004: £28.0 million] during the year
which have been written off ta the profit and loss
account in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy.

Environmental policy

The Company is conscious of its responsihilities in
respect of the environment and has produced a group
wide environmental policy.

Payment of creditors

The Group's policy is to pay its suppliers within
30 days from receipt of invoice unless atherwise
agraed with suppliers prior to goods or services
being ordered. Suppliers are made aware of the
terms of payment and it is the Company’s policy
to abide by the agreed terms, subject to the terms
and conditions being fulfilled by the supplier.

At 31 December 2005, creditor days cutstanding
in respect of the Company amounted to 246 days
[2004: 27 days).
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Directors
The membership of the Beard on 22 May 2006 was

as follows:
Dr Argeris Uerry} Karabelas

Michael Ashton

frank Condella

Air Chief Marshal Sir Michael Beavis * t
Alan Bray * =

Dr Kenneth Cunningham

Dr David Ebswoerth * 1 e

Stephen Harris T o

Dr Keith Manstford T

Donald Nicholsen

Company Secretary: Douglas Parkhill

* Audit Committee T Remuneration Commuztee « Nomination Commitiee

in January 2006 fan Gowrie-Smith stepped down
as Non-Executive Chairman and in February 2006
retired from the Board. Dr Jerry Karabelas was
appointad Chairman.

Michael Ashton, Sir Michael Beavis and Dr Keith
Mansford will retire from the Beard at the conclusion
of the Annual General Meeting. Slephen Harris,
having served more than nine years as a Non-
Executive Director will offer himself for re-zlection
at the Annual General Meeting in accordance with
the recommendations of Section A.7.2 of the
Combined Code. In the opinion of the Board Stephen
Harris has been been key in the development of the
Company and continues to provide a worthwhile
contribution to its future growth.

The Directors retiring by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting are Or Davig Ebsworth and Donald Nicholson
who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
Frank Condella and Dr Ken Cunningham, having
been appointed since the last Annual General
Meeting, offer themselves for re-elaction.

Details of Directors interests in the share capital
of the Company together with details of the share
incentives granted to them are disclosed in the
Remuneraticn Report on pages 37 to 52 of this
Report and Accounts.

As at the date of this report, the Directors of the

Company had an interest, beneficially and non-
beneficially, in an aggregate of 3,751,168 Ordinary
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Shares, representing 0.5% of the Company’s issued
share capitat.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

During the period under review, the Company and the
Group maintained insurance policies for its Directors
and officers in respect of liabilities which could arise
in the discharge of their duties in the ordinary course
of business.

Substantial shareholdings

In addition to Directers’ interests as disclosed in the
Remuneration Report on pages 37 to 52 the Company
has been advised of the fotlowing individual interests
which at 22 May 2006 exceeded 3% of the Company’s
issued share capital:

HBM BioVentures (Cayman] Ltd 10.2%
UBS AG and subsidiaries 59%
Or JGonella 5.0%
HBOS PLC and subsidiaries 4.1%
Kowa Company Limited 4.0%

Authority to make market purchases

of Ordinary Shares

As at 31 December 2005 authority given by the
shzreholders at the 2005 Annuzl General Meeting
for the Company to make market purchases of up
to £6,223,987 nominal vatue of its Ordinary Shares
at a price of not more than 105% of the current
market price was stitl in force.

Employees and disabled persons

The Group is committed to a policy of premeoting
employees awareness of its aclivities, encouraging
employees’ participation in the growth of the Group
and welcomes staff input at all levets.

It is recognised that by far the most important form
of invelvernent and information regarding the
progress, performance and plans of the Group take
place during informal daily discussions between
managermnent and other employees. Consultations
occur to allow employee opinions to be heard when
making decisions affecting their interests. 1t is Group
policy to offer the same apportunity to disabled
people as to all others in mattars of recruitment and
career advancement, provided they have the ability
te perform the tasks required, with training where
appropriate, and to institute retraining where
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practical in cases where disability is incurred
during employment with the Group.

All employees ray have the opportunity to participate
in the Company's relevant share incentive schemes
and the SkyePharma International Share Purchase
Plan described in the Remuneration Report. Employee
remuneration is determined on an annual basis

by the Remuneration Committee and Executive
Commitlee as appropriate. The Group attracts and
retains employees of the highest calibre by offering
remuneration that is in line with that offered by
industry campetitors and local practice in the
countries in which it operates.

Charitable and political donations
No contributions were made (o charities {2004: {Nil].

No contributions were made to political arganisations
{2004 ENIL).

Close company provisions

The company is not a ‘close” company within the
meaning of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act
1988, and there have been nu changes since the end
of the year.

Annual General Meeting

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the
Company proposes to seek the usual authority to
issue shares, limited disapplication of the statutory
pre-ermption rights on the issue of new shares and

to seek authority to purchase shares in the market
subject to compliance with relevant statutory and
regulatery requirements. The Company also proposes
to ask Members to approve the Remuneration Report
of the Company. Further information on these
proposals and on the Annualt General Meeting is sel
out in the separate letter from the Chairman, which
explains the reasons for these resolupons and also
contains the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Auditors

A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseConpers
¥ as auditors to the company will be proposed at
Annual General Meeting.

Douljlas Parkhill

22 May 2006
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Corporate Governance

This section contains the company's reporting
disclosures on corporate governance required
by the Combined Code on Corperate Governance
of the Financial Reporting Council ["the Code”]
including the required statement of compliance.
Comment 1s also made on compliance with the
US taws and regulations that apply to it.

Governance and Policy

The Board is commitied to ensuring high standards
of corporate governance are maintained by
SkyePharma. We telieve that visibly high standards
resull in increased shareholder value and satisfaction.

The Board cansigers that during 2005 the Company
cemplied with all relevant principtes and provisions
of the Code.

The Board and its processes

Board Membership

The Board currently comprises 4 Executive and &
Nen-Executive Directors, whose biographical details
are listed under "Directors and Officers on pages 26
and 27.

The Executive and Non-Executive Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election

by shareholders i accordance with the Articles

of Association whereby one third of the Directors
retire by rotation esch year. Michael Ashton, Sir
Michael Beavis and Or Keith Mansford will retire
from the Board at the conclusion of the Annual
General Meeting. Steve Harris having served more
than nine years as a Non-Executive Director will offer
himgelf for re-election at the Annual General Meeting
in accordance with the recommendations of the
Code. The Direciors retiring by rotation at the Annual
General Meeting are Dr David Ebsworth and Bonald
Nicholson who, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election. Frank Condella and Ken Cunningham
having been appointed during the year, will offer
themselves for election at the forthcorning AGM.

During the year the Board reviewed the composition
of the Board, and the balance of skills, knowledge
and experience its members brought, and concluded
that the Board was of the appropriate size and
balance for the Company though new Executive and
Non-Executive Directors would be required due to the
Board changes cutlined above. The Board 15 actively
recruiting new Board members and will be seeking
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the views of institutional shareholders prior
to their appointment,

Board Balance and Independence

Whitst Chairman, lan Gowrie-Smitn was not
considered lo be independent due to his shareholding
and previous executive employment with the Group,
Dr Jerry Karabelas who replaced lan Gowne-Smith
as Chairman is cons:dered to be independent at the
time of his appointment.

The Board considers that the rematning Non-

Executive Directors are independent in both

judgement and character and that they carry out

their duties in an independent manner and provide

constructive challenge to decisrons. This is due to

their ability to:

m rigerously analyse management reports;

= robustly defend their own points of view; and

m critically evaluate the pharmaceutical industry
and the Company itself.

The Cede indicates that independence may be
compromised after nine consecutive years service
with a company. As explained above, Steve Harrs has
served for more than nine years. The Baard belisves,
however, that he has been key in the development

of the Company and he continues to makea a valuable
contribution to its future growth.

The Role of the Board

The Board of SkyePharma plc is responsible for the
Group's system of corperate governance and internal
control and is accountable for all its activities,

The Board reviews the operational performance

of the Group on a regular basis and also exercises

a number of reserved powers including:

= respensibility for setting the strategic direction
of the Group:

m zpproving the key operating plan and annual budget;

m appointment and dismissal of any Board member,
senior ranager or Company Secretary;

m approving substentizl (i.e. over £0.5m) investments;

m authorisation of financing, treasury and risk
management policies;

m approving the annual and interim reports;

m approving and monitoring campliance with the
Company's Codes of Ethics and Conduct, including
whistleblowing procedures;
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m ensuring that the Company has adequale internat
control systems; and

m estzblishing committees of the Board [namely, the
Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees),
approving their terms of reference, reviewing their
performance and ratifying their decisions.

Board Meetings

The Board meets formally at least eight times a year
and ad hoc as required. In 2005 15 meetings were
held. These were fully attended, except that fan
Gowrie-Smith, Or David Ebsworth and Steve Harris
were each unable to attend one meeting, whilst

Dr Jerry Karabelas was unable to attend four
meelings. Mr Torao Yamamoto was unable to altend

four meetings prior to his resignation as & director.
Directors are fully briefed following any meetings
which they were unable to attend. At least one formal
Board meeting and strategy day are held abroad each
year to enable directors to visit non-UK srtes.

Each formal Board meeting considers, as a matter of
course, the operational performance of the Company
against its strategic plan and annual budget; reports
from the Chairs of the Nomination, Remuneration
angd Audit Committees [if applicable); important
forthcoming events and an invester relations report.

Attendance at Board and Commitlee meetings is set
out in the table below:

Audr Rermneration Natninatiz
Boa-g commi_tlee comniiee comniitee
mest-igs meetings mestings meelings
[max 14" [mayx 4} [max &} [reax 31
Chairman
lan Gowris-Smith 14 - - 2 [Chair]
Executive Directors
Michael Ashton 15 - - -
Bonald Nicholson 15 - - -
Senior Independent Director
Sir Michael Beavis 15 4 4 [Char] -
Non-Executive Directors
Alan Bray® 15 & 1Chair) - 3
Dr David Ebsworth® 14 4 4 7 tmax 2)
R Stephen Harris 14 - 4 3
Or Jerry Karabelas® il 3 - !
Dr Keith Mansford 15 - 4 -
Toraa Yamamoto® 2 frmax &} - - -

The Company Secretary atso attended all Board mestings.

~No—

wore also inwited to attond the Comrmitlee meectings.

Al the invitation of the Chairman of the Audit Cormmittee, the Chief Executive Officer, Finance Director, Company Secretary and external autilors

3 Atthe imatation of the Chairman of the Remuneration Cemrriltee, the Chief Exeeutive Officer and Company Secretary were also nviled to attend
the Comumittee meetings except when their cemuneration was discussed.
4 Althe invitation of the Chairman of the Nominations Comrmiltee, the Company Searatary was also imvted to altend meetings of the Commattee,

Gteve Harris is currently Chair of the Nominations Committee.

20~y o O

and he res gned Irore Nominatiens Commttee on 13 February 2008,
¢ Torao Yarmamgtoe retired as a Directer on 18 July 2005.
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Alan Bray was appeinted Lo the Nominations Comrmittee during the year
Dr David Ebsworth was appointed to the Nominations Committee during the year.

Dr jerry Karabelas was appointed as Chairman of SkyePharena PLC on 7 February 2006. He resigned from the Audit Committes an that date
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Corporate Governance continued

During the year the Board implementad a new policy
of inviting certain key senior management and the
new Head of Risk Management to give presentations
at Board mestings.

The Non-Executive Dirzctors meet independently of
management on a regular basis. In 2005, they met
formally four times and informally on an ad hoc basis
as required. The members of the Audit Committee
also mel with the external auditers independently

of management on two occasions.

The Board has access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and are able in the course of their
duties, if necessary, 1o take independent professional
advice at the Company's expense within preset limits
with prior written approval. Committees have access

to such resources as are required to fulfil their duties.

Insurance and Indemnification

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’
insurance cover, up to a lirnit of £15m, in respect
of any legal actions taken against the directors

in connection with theirr duties. Additionally, the
Company indemnifies directors for claims made
aganst them in connection with their duties, except
those resulting from their wilful negligence.

Role of Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles of Chairman and Chief Exacutive are distinct
and are held by different people to ensure a clear
division of responsibility. The Chairman is responsible
for running the Beard including ensuring the timely
flow of information to Board members and overseeing
their development; whilst the Chief Executive is
responsible for the day-to-day running of the
Company and reporting upon this to the Chairman.

Role of Senior Independent Director

The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,

Sir Michael Beavis, 1s available to shareholders if they
reguest a meeling, or have concerns which contact
through the normal channels has falled to resolve or
is inappropriate. He also provides a communication
channei between the Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directars. In addition, he chairs the Remuneration
Committee and so leads the annual performance
review of the Chairman.
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During the year and in the lead up to the EGM
requisitioned by certain institutional shareholders,
Sir Michaal Beavis (including cther Non-Executive
Directors where he could not attend] had seven
meetings and discussions with large institutional
shareholders. In addition to these meetings, Jerry
Karabelss had a number of meetings and discussions
wilh institutionat sharehaolders in an effort to avert
the need for an EGM. The Company is cormnmitted to
maintaining a reqular dialogue with 1ts sharehelders
and the process by which this is achieved is explained
in more detall below.

Role of the Non-Executive Directors

The rele of the Non-Executive Directors is to bring
independent judgement tc Board deliberations and
decisions and 1o supervise the corporate governance
of the Group. The Non-Executive Directers are all
experienced and influential individuals whose blend
of skills and business experience contributes to the
proper functioning of the Board and its Committees,
ensuring that matters are fully debated and that no
individual or group dominates the Board's decision-
making processes.

Induction and Development

New directors receive farmal induction training,
including site visits and meetings with the Company’s
advisers, brokers, auditors and major shareholders,
and on-going training is provided as appropriate. This
training is customised for each director and varies
depending upon their skills, experience and background.

Directors also receive regular updates on changes
and developments in the business, legisiative and
reqgulatory envircnments.

Directors are able to identify and suggest any further
training requirements which they feel are needed
during their annual performance reviews with the
Chairman.

Board Evaluation

The Board conducts an annual, formal evaluation
of its own perfermance and that of 115 committees
and of individual directors. This 15 conducted via
anonymised questionnaire devised in accordance
with the Higgs Report. Feedback on collective
performance is collated and presented to the Board
and actions to improve are agreed and implemented.
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Directors are invited to focus specifically on areas
requiring priority action and to give honest and
censtructive suggestions/comments o that the
Board can review its performance in a thorough
and thoughtful manner.

Board Committees

There are three main Committees, all of which
operate within written terms of reference. The terms
of reference are available on the company website
fwww.skyepharma.com] and vpon request from

the Company Secretary. Details of Committee
membership can be found in the table on page

31 which shows attendance at Board and Committee
meetings in 2005,

No director can altend meetings where he could have
a conflict of interest.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three
Non-Executive Directors: Alan Bray, Sir Michael
Beavis and Dr David Ebsworth, all of whorn the
Beoard has determined to be independent.

The Committee is chaired by Alan Bray, a chartered
accountant who as a recently retired senior partner
of Delaitte & Touche LLP, has recent and relevant
financial experience as recommended in the Code
and meeis the reguirements of section 407 of the
Sarbanes-Cxley Act 2002 ["Sarbanes-Oxley™] that
defines 2 "financial expert”.

The external auditors, Chief Executive Officer

and Finance Director are normally invited to attend
meetings and, following each meeting, the
Committee and external auditors meet with

no executives present.

During the year the Audit Committes met four times.
The meetings were fully attended by all Committee
members, except that Or Jerry Karabelas was unable
to attend one meeting, and the conclusions were
presented to the full Board.

The Committee’s terms of reference include:

m reviewing the interirn and full year results;

® approving the Interim and Annual Report and
Accounts and Form 20-F prior to their submission
to the Board;
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m considering any material matters affecting
the Company;

m any matters raised by or relating to, including the
appointment or removal of, the external auditors;

u responsibility for approving non-audit work to be
undertaken by the company's auditors. This
process, which involves obtaining written approval
from the Audit Commitlee, ensures auditor
objectivity and independence is satequarded;

m responsibility for the company’s complaints and
whistleblowing policy, which allows staff to raise
concerns about possible improprieties; and

m reviewing the functioning of the nsk management
department, which was created in 2005.

Policy on Non-Audit Services

The guidelines set out in the company’'s policy on
engaging the external auditors to provide non-audit
services include ascertaining that: the skills and
experience of the external auditors make them a
suitable supplier of the non-audit services; adequate
safequards are in place so that the objectivity

and independence of the audit are not compromised;
and the fee levels relative to the annual audit fee are
within the limits set by the Commitiee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists

of Sir Michaet Beavis, who chairs the Committee,

Dr David Ebsworth, Steve Harris and Dr Keith Mansford,

Buring the yzar the Remuneration Committee met
four times. The meetings were fully attended by all
Committee members and the conclusions were
presented to the full Board.

The Chief Executive Officer may be invited lo attend
Remuneration Committee meetings, other than when
his own remuneration is discussed. No director 15
invalved in deciding his own remuneration,

The scope and authonity of the Committee and the
means by which the Company applies the principles
of the Code in respect of remuneration policy are set
out in the Remuneration Report which is presented
on pages 37 to 52.

The Committes is advised by Halliwetl Censulting,
an independent executive remuneration and share
schemes consultancy, which provides no other
services to the Company.
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Corporate Governance continued

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consisted of fan
Gowrie-Smith, who chaired the Committee untit
his resignation in January 2006, Steve Harris who is
currently Chairman, Or Jerry Karabelas {prior to his
resignation in January 2006) as well as Alan Bray
and David Ebsworth who were both appointed to
the Cormmittee in 2005.

During the year the Nomination Committee met
three times. The meetings were fully attended by all
eligible Committee members and the conclusions
were presented to the full Board.

The Committee’s terms of reference include:

w regularly reviewing the Board structure, size and
COMposition;

m identifying and nominating candidates for the
approval of the Board;

w ensuring plans are put in place for succession
of the executive directors; and

m making recommendations upon the reappointment
of the directors upon retirement whether by virtue
of rotation, age or length of service.

During the year the Committee searched for
successors ta ratiring Board members and since
31 December 2005 has recommended the
appointments of Dr Jerry Karabelas as Chairman,
Frank Condella as Chief Executive Gfficer and
Ken Cunningham as Chief Operating Officer,

In the lead up to the requisitionad EGM, the
Nominations Committea also met with Bab Thian,
the requisitionists’ candidate for the Board.

The motion to appaint Bob Thian was defeated.

Given the specialist nature of the appointments the
Board undertook an extansive search for suitable
candidates, including discussions with & specistist
consultancy firm. The firm drew up a shortlist

of candidates who met the criteria set out by the
Committee. Candidates were then interviewed

by the Nominations Cammittee prior to their
recommendation.
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The Nomination Committee is pleased to be able to
recommend Frank Condella and Ken Cunningham
for election to the Board of SkyePharma PLC.

in preparation for meeting the requirements of
Sarbanes-Oxley, the remit of the Nominations
Committee has been extended to include all relevant
governance matters. Accordingly the committee

will be known in future as the Nominations and
Governance Committee; details can be found on

the Company's web site,

Reappointment

Non-Executive Directors are appointed for an initial
term of three years from the annual general meeting
foliowing their joining the Board. Al directors must
stand for reappointment every three years or every
year if over the age of 70 or if they have served on
the Board for more than nine years.

The Board recommends that Steve Harris be

reappointed upon his retirement at the forthcoming
AGM.

The terms and conditions of appointment ¢of each
Lirector will be available for inspection at the AGM
and at the Company’s registered office.

Poticy on Other Appointments

The Board believes that Non-Executive Directors
should be able to accept other appointments where
no conflict of interest arises and provided that the
Non-Executive Director is able to maintain his time
commitments to the Company. These other
appointments enable Non-Executive Directors to
accrue further skills and experience fram which the
Company benefits. This policy is reviewed annually.

Details of any other appeintments held by each
Non-Executive Director are listed under ‘Directors
and Officers’ on pages 26 and 27.

Internal control framework

Internal Accountability and Risk Management

The Board belisves that the Company maintains

a sound system of internal control with a view to
safeguarding shareholders’ investment and the
Company’s assets. During the year these processes
were enhanced with the recruitment of a new Head
of Risk Management.
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The Board reviews the effectiveness of the system at
teast annually, covering gll material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management systems, and reports to shareholders
that it has done so. The identification and appraisal
of risks has been carried out by the Head of Risk
Management as part of his work in preparation for
meeting the requirerments of Sarbanes-Oxley

see belowl.

SkyePharma operates, and attaches impartance to,
clear principtes and procedures designed to achieve
the accountability and control appropriate to a science-
based business operating internationally in a highly
requlated business sector. SkyePharma has established
an arganisativnal structure with clearly drawn lines
of accountability and delegaticn of authority.

Financial results and key operational and financial
performance indicators are reported regularly
throughout the year and varniances from plans and
budgels are investigated and reported. The Group
has & system of high level financial control
procedures which are supplemeanted by detailed
procedures at each cperating entity. Compliance
with these procedures is monitored by the new
Mead of Risk Management and the corporate office.

No system can provide an absolute assurance
against material misstaternent or loss.

Ethics

All Group employees are required te adhere to
specified codes of conduct, policies and procedures,
including, but not bimited to:

w Code of Business Conduct and Ethics:

m Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers

m Complaints and Whistleblowing Precedure;

= Equal Opportunities Policy; and

w Environmental Policy.

Copies of the above are available on our website

Iwwew skyepharma.coml. These policies are all
reviewed annuatly.
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Going Concern

The Cempany’s working capital requirements continue
to be affected by the timing and receipt of milestone
payments and payments received on the signing of
new contracts. The Company’s future cash flows will
also be impacted by the Company’s change in strategy
as outlined in the EGM notice dated 16 February 2006,
principally its stated aim of moving to sustainable
profitabitity in the shortest possible time and its refocus
to concentrate on gral and pulmenary products.
Consequently the Group's near term working capital
requirements are uncertain and sensitive to the timing
of a number of inttiatives required to provide the financial
flexibility to implement the new strategy. These initiatives
include the licensing of Flutiform” in Europe, the
divestment of its injectable business interests, which
is expected to require shareholder approval, and

the delay of certain licensing discussions, such

as US licensing for DepoBupivacaine” pending the
divestment of its injectables business.

The Directors have reviewed the working capital
requirements of the Group for the next twelve months
and have a reasonable expectation that sufficient
funds will be raised from these initiatives and have
therefore prepared the financial information
confained herein on a going concern basis which
assumes that the Company will continue in
operaticnal existence for the foreseeable future.

Relations with Shareholders
The Company’s policy with regard to its investor
relations is set out in "The Shares” on page 19.

US law and regulation
A number of pravisions of US law and regulation

apply to the Company because the shares are listed
on NASDAQ.

NASDAQ rules

In general, the rules permit the company to follow
UK corporete governance practice instead of those
applied in the USA, provided that the company
explains any significant variations. There are no
significant variations to report,
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Corporate Governance continued

News rutes that came into effect in 2005 require

the company to file annual and interim written
affirmations concerning the Audit Comrmittee and
the Company's statement on significant differences
in corporate governance.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Sarpanes-Oxley established new standards for
corporate accountability for companies listed in
the USA. For accounting periods ending on or after
15 July 2004 (the applicable implementation date
for foreign registrants) the company’s Form 20-F
will contain a report stating the responsibility of
management for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting
and assessing the effectiveness of the company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Although the company is not required to repert

compliance in its 2005 Form 20-F, management has
undertaken a process and believes that it will be in
a position to report its compliance by the due date.

A Disclosure Committee was established in 2003 to
evaluate the effectiveness of the Group and divisional
disclosure controls and procedures; the committee
met once in 2005. Additionally in 2005 work has
continued to document and test the internal controls
structure and procedures to comply with Section 404
of Sarbanes-Oxley.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Steering Committes meets
monthly and reports formally to the Audit Committee
at its regular meetings. Additionally, the Chairman

of the Audit Committee s available on an mformal
basis to discuss any matters arising between meetings.

Alan Bray
Chairman, Audit Committee
22 May 2006

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in Relation to the Accounts

The Directors are required by law to prepare financial
staternents for each financial period which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and the Group as at the end of the financial pericd
and of the profit or loss of the Group for that pericd.
The Directers confirm that suitable accounting policies
have been consistently applied and supported hy
rezsonable and prudent judgements and estimates
as necessary; applicable accounting standards have
been followed, and the financial statements have
been prepared on the going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the
maintenance of praper accounting records, which
disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position
of the Company and the Group at any time and from
which accounts can be prepared to comply with the
Companies Act 1985. They are also responsihle for
ensuring the operation of systerns of internal control
for safeguarding the assets of the Group and for
taking reasonable steps to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.
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The responsibilities of the auditors in relation to the
financial statements are set out in the auditors’ report.

The financial statements for the year ended

31 December 2005 are included in the Annual Report
2005, which is published by the Company in hard-
copy printed form and on the Company’'s website

on the Internet. The Directors are responsible for
the maintenance and integrity of the Annual Report
on the website in accordance with UK legislation
governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements. This may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions. Access to the website is
available from outside the UK, where comparatle
legislation may be different.

Dr Jerry Karabelas
Non-Executive Chairman
22 May 2006
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Remuneration Report

Introduction

This report sets out the remuneration policy operated
by the Company in respect of the Executive Direclors,
together with disclosures on Directors’ remuneration
required by The Directers’ Remunaeration Report
Regulations 2002, ("the Regulations”]. The auditors
are required to report on the ‘auditable” part of this
Report and to state whether, in their opinion, that
part of the Report has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 (as
amended by the Requlations), The Report is therefore
divided into separate sections for audited and
unaudited information.

The Board have reviewed the Group’s compliance
with the Cembined Cade {"the Code”] en remuneration
related matters. ltis the opinion of the Baard that
the groug complied with all remuneration related
aspects of the Code durtng the vear,

PART 2 OF THE REGULATIONS -
UNAUDITED INFORMATION

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commitiee is responsible for
develaping policy an remuneration for Execytive
Directors and Key Executives below Board level
and for determining specific remuneration packages
for each of the Executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Sir
Michael Beavis and its other members are Dr Davig
Ebsworth, Mr Steve Harris and Dr Keith Mansford.
The Remuneration Committee members have no
personal financial interest other than as shareholders
in matters to be decided, no potential conflicts of
intergsts arising from cross directorships and no
day-te-day involvement in running the business.

When the Remuneration Comemittee is cansidering
matters concerning key executives below Board level
advice is sought from other Executive Directors.
Where Executive Directors have attended 2
Remuneration Committee mesting there was no
discussion relating to their own remuneration and
benefits. The Remuneration Committee raceived
whotly independent advice on executive compensation
and incentives from Hallwell Consulting during the
year. No other services were provided to the Company
by Haltiwell Cansulting during the year.
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The Remuneration Commatiee is formatly constituted
with written Terms of Reference. The terms of
reference are available from the Company’s website
v skyepharma.com) and are also available by
request from the Company Secretary.

The Committee met four times during 2005 with
each member attending all the meetings.

Background
The Remuneration Committee found it increasingly
difficult 1n 2005 to find a switable comparater group
for benchmarking the Company’s Executive
remuneration for the following reasens:
m the stage of development of the Company as it
transitions to a speciality pharmaceutical company;
a the large number of drug delivery businesses
which are part of larger pharmaceutical companies
or are private Umiting the availability of accurate
benchmarking data; and
s the changes to the UK Biotechnology and
Pharmaceutical Sector over the last three years
rasutting in the disappearance of a number
of the originat Comparator Group companies.
For example there are now five less UK
pharmaceutical companies in the Comparator Group.

The change in halance of the Comparator Group
towards US companies exaggerates a problem that
has always been recognised by the Remuneralion
Committee; which is in summary:

+ US companies pay less salary than their UK
caunterparts but grant sigmificantly more share
based compensation;

» SkyePharma PLC as a UK listed company cannol
grant the levels of share based compensation
provided by its US counterparts due to UK
corporate governance best practice.

In the past the solution adapted by the Remunératian
Committee has been to set the Company’s salary
policy at the mid-point between the median and
upper quartile compared to the Corparator Group.
The changes in the Comparator Group over the
period now means that the mistoric mid-point is
higher than the current pesition as a result of the
disappearance of a significant number of the UK
constituents of the Comparator Group.
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Remuneration Report continued

This problem had been anticipated and recognised by
the Company and substantial work was done to lock
at a viable comparator group for the future. However,
it was decided by the Remuneration Committee and
the Board that during the strategic review and
subseguent to the dispesal of SkyePharma Inc. it was
premature to change the Comparator Group until the
future shape of the Company crystallised at which
point a more appropriate group of companies could
be selected.

Theretare during 200% the Remuneration Committee
adopted the following approach:

Element Benchmark

Reason

Salary FTSE Mid 250 &
Comparator Group

The relative lack of UK members in the
Comparator Group and the different salary
policies adopted by the US members.

Bonus Comparater Group

The Remuneration Commillee fell thal there
was sufficient commanatity between the practice
of the UK and US members of the Comparator
Group to safeguard the Company's and
shareholders’ interests when benchmarking.

Total Short-Term
Remuneration Available

Comparator Group

The Remuneration Committee benchmarked
short-term remuneration availahle against the
Comparator Group to ensure that taking into
account the FTSE Mid 250 when benchmarking
salary did not result in any ratchetting up of
compensation levels.

Pension FTSE Mid 250

US company pension practice 15 nal comparable
to UK practice and therefore the relative lack cf
UK companies in the Comparator Group meant
that it was not viable as a benchmark.

Tetal Cornpensation Comparator Group

The Remuneration Committee benchmarked
total compensation against the Comparator
Group to ensure that taking into account the
FTSE Mid 250 when benchmarking salary and
pension did not result in any ratchetting up of
campensation levels.

Comparator Group
The current constituents of the Comparator Group are

Acambns Ple CAT Group Ple Nektar Therapeulics inc
Alizyme Ple Cephatan Inc Noven Pharmaceuticals inc
Alkermes Ing Elan Corporatien Ple QLT Inc

Andrx Corporation Ing Emisphere Technologies Inc Sepracer Inc

AstraZencca Plc

Enzon Pharmaceuticals Ing

Shire Pharmaceuticals Group Ple
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It should be noted that during 2006 the Remuneration

Committee is intending to conduct a full review of its

remuneration policy including:

m the constituents of the Comparater Group;

w palicy for each element of the compensation
package: and

m the type and operation of its Executive share
incentives (the current approvat for the
SkyePharma PLC Deferred Share Bonus Plan
(the "DSB™) and the Scheduls to this Plan - the
SkyePharma PLC 2004 Leng-Term Incentive Plan
{the "LTIP"] finishes at the 2004 AGM],

The Remuneration Committee will consult fully with
the Company’s shareholders during this review.

Remuneration Policy Overview

For 2005 the Remunerastion Committee’s policy
was to set the main elements of the remuneration
package at the following quartiles in comparison
to the Company's Comparator Group:

Annual
Baze Bonus Share Total
Salary potential Incentives Compensation
Between Upper Lower Laower
Median and Quartile Quartile Quartile
Upper Quartile -Median

The international nature of some of the companies
in the Comparator Group means that the Company
cannot provide comparative levels of share incentives
under current UK corporate governance best
practice. While the share incentives are at the lower
quartile based on the Comparator Group, they would
be at the median level in a wholly UK context.

In order to remain attractive to the type of executive
talent required to grow the Company, the
Remuneration Committee has determined to set
the base salaries between the median and upper
guartite compared to the Comparator Group
(median when looking at the FTSE Mid 250).

The objective of the remuneration policy is to provide

remuneration packages that will:

m motivate and encourage superior performance;

» allow the Company to retain the talent needed to
execute its business strategy;
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m enable the Company to be competitive when
recruiting appropriate skilled and experienced
newcomers; and

m align rewards with the interests of shareholders.

It s the aim of the Remuneration Committee to
encourage and reward superior performance by
Executives with that performance being based on the
measurable delivery of good financial performance
and the delivery of strong returns to sharehclders.
The Remuneration Committee believes that the
current policy continues to retain angd motivate the
Executives appropriately while enforcing a strong
pay for performance culture within the Company.

The Remuneration Cornmittee will continue to review
the policy on an annual basis to ensure that it is in
line with the Company's abjectives and shareholders’
interests.

The Executive Directors do not hold any executive
outside appaintments nor do they retain any earnings
in respect of any non-executive appointments on
behalf of the Company.

Fixed v Performance Pay

The tables below illustrate the balance between fixed
angd performance related [variable] compensation and
the total expected value of the remuneration package
for each Executive Director for the year ended

31 December 2005:

Lxecutive Fied Yarab'e
Michae! Ashton CEQ 40% a0%
Donald Nicholson FD 39% 51%

Fixed compensation comprises satary, benefits

and pension contribulions. Variable compensation
comprises the maximurn annual bonus petential in
retation to the year ended 31 December 2005 and the
expected vatue of the LTIP Award and DSB Matching
Share Award.
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Remuneration Report continued

Changes to the Executive Team

The table below sets out the changes to the Executive Team of the Company and summaries
the rernuneration terms on which the relevant individual has joined or left the Company:

Special

Joiming 7/ Departirg Standard  Company
A ard Jote o “‘:'”'qgc,i o MNarme & Position Salary/ Fees paa Package __Arm'qumcnls
2 February 2006 Change Dr Jerry Karabelas (new Chairman] £70.000 nfa No
1 March 2006 Joining Frank Condella {new CEQJ £450,000 Yes Yes (see beltowl
24 April 2006 Joining Dr Ken Cunningharn [new COQ] £250,000 Yes Yas [see helow]
13 February 2006 Departing  lan Gowrie-Smith {former Chairman) £140,00G nfa No lsee nate 1 belowl
30 Novernber 2006 Departing Michael Ashton |former CED) £466,000 Yes No {see nole 2 below!

Notes:
1

. {an Gowréie-Smith on stepping down from the Board was paid his fees for the period ending on the date of the 2006 AGM. The Remunerstion
Cormirittes felt this was appropriate &5 it had heen sgreed with lan Gowrie-Smith that he would step down at the 2006 AGM. lan Gowne-Smith
agreed to step down earlier at the request of the Board and in the bestinterests of the Company and therefore the Remuneranon Commiltes lel

1L was equitable to pay Lhe fees for the original agreed penod.

[3¥]

. Michael Ashton's twelve month notice pericd started on 30 November 2003 The Board has decided that Michaet Ashton should cenduct spacific

projects for the Company during his netice period fincluding but not limit2d 1o assistance in the disposal of SkyePharma Inc ) and therefore
Michael Ashton will remain an employes of the Company throughout his notice pened. Michael Ashton wall continue to be provided with his
currestt compensation package during his notice period {except he wilt nat be granted an award under the LTIP], Michaet Ashton watl receive no
cempensation on his cessation of employrment although he wilk be treated as a good leaver under the relevant share plans due to his retirement.

Special Arrangement New Appointments

On agpointment Frank Condella and Dr Ken
Cunningham were offered the oppertunity to
participate in the following one-off incentive
arrangament following their appointment,

Both Executives took advantage of this opporturily
by purchasing the maximum value of shares,

The main terms of the arrangement were:

m the ability to purchase g maximum of one third

of their annual salary in shares of the Company

out of their own parsonat resources;

m the Company will provide a maximum of two
matching shares for every share purchased:

+ 50% of these matching shares will be released
to the relevant Executive on the first anniversary
of thewr grant i.e. a 1:1 match if:

- he retains the shares he purchased for this
period; and
- remains employed by the Company;

+ the balance of these matching shares will be
reteased to the relevant Executive on the second
anniversary of their grant i.e. a 2:1 match if:

- he retains the shares he purchased for this
period; and
- remains employed by the Campany.
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The Remuneration Committee took the following
factors into account in determining this arrangement:
m 3 desire to encourage the new Executives to build
up a meaningful interest in the shares of the
Company in order to assist therm in satisfying
the Company's shareholding requirement;

m itis a standard eiement of compensation packages
offered by the Company’s US competitors to
provide significant sign-on grants to new
executives of options and restricted shares awards
wihich are not subject ta any co-investment
requirement or corporate performance conditions.
This is not considered best practice in the UK.
Therefare the Remuneration Committee was
required to offer some incentive in order to be
compelitive taking into account the employment
potential for both candidates in the US;

m the Remuneration Committee felt that the

reguirement to make a meaningful investment
at their own cost in the Company's shares
demonstrated an immediate commitment by the
Executives to the Company and is consistent with
the objective of aligning Executives’ ang
shareholders interests; and

m comparatively the maximum value of the ane-olf

award of matching shares of 66% of salary is modest.
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Etements of Executives’ Remuneration

Basic Salary

Policy: ~ Between Median and Upper Quartile

Base salaries are set by reference to being between
the Median and Upper Quartile compared o the
Company’s international Comparator Group.

A numper of constituents of this Comparator Group
provide share awards and options of many multiples
greater than weuld be accepted by UK inshitutiona!
shareholders. Therefore, while the Remuneration
Commitiee firmly sets the balance of the Executives’
packages in favour of performance, salaries are set
at above median to ensure a competitive overall
position [particuiarly as the incentives are based on
a multiple of this salary), In additien in getermining
the salaries for FY2006 the Committes took into
account the levels paid in the FTSE Mid 250 for the
reasons set out earlier in this Report.

When determining the salary of the Executive

Directors the Remuneration Committee also takes

into consideration:

m levels of annual increases in pay for companies
within the Cormparator Group;

» the performance of the individual Executive Directer;

m the individual Executive Director's experience and
respensibilities; and

n pay and conditions throughout the Company.

The following table shows the salary quartiles
for members of the Comparator Group and the
FTSE Mid 250 fin brackets) for the year ended
31 Becember 200%:

Auartite in Comparator Group Michael Ashton Dsnald Nitholson
FISCMA20 Gl Bictuive Offcer_ Fnonce Drctor
Upper Quartile £410,000 £245,000

[£506,0001 (£319,000]
Median £350,000 £200.000

{£416,0001 [£255,000)
Lower Quartie £320,000 £190,000

{£341,000] (£215,000]
Actual Salary £440,000 £250,000
Y%age Rise 5.9% 6%
gglary for FY2006 £466,000 £245.000

The following table sets out the salary rises in
the Cormparator Group and the FTSE Mid 250
{in brackets] for the year ended 31 Oacember 2005
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Quartile 1In Compargtor Group Michacl Azkton Donald Nichalsor

{FISE Mid 250] Chief £xacutive Dfwe Fmance Director
Upper Quartile % %
{10%) {10%]

Median T% 4.5%
[84%) {7%)

Lower Quartile 5% 6%
(4%) (4%

Actual Rise for FY 2006 5.9% &%

As a consequence of corporate activity in the year
ended 31 December 2005, five international companies,
with market attributes similar to the Cornpany, have
dropped out of the Comparator Group. This has had

a major impact on the salary quartiles within the
Comparator Group. The upper quartile salary levels
for Chief Executives have fallen by 13.8% from 2004
t0 2005 and by 24.9% for Finance Directors.

Due to the reasons set out above the Remuneration
Committee therefore took both the actual salary levels
and the percentage rises in both the Comparator
Group and FTSE Mid 250 when determining the
salaries for the Executive Directors for FY2006.

In order to ensure that salary levels did not escalste
during this period of corporate change for the
Company the Remuneration Committze set the rises
at around the lower quartile of both comparatars.

Annual Performance Related Bonus

Policy: - Upper Quartile Bonus Potential

The Committee’s policy is to set the maximurn annusl

bonus potential at the upper quartile in relation to

the Comparator Group. Bonuses are not pensionable,

The maximum bonus potential available for the

Executive Directors is 100% of salary. The maximum

bonus potential available for the Executive Directors

for the year ending 31 December 2006 remains the

same. Executive Directors participate in the

SkyePharma PLC Deferred Share Bonus Plan.

The objectives of the Plan are:

w to ensure ihe satisfaction of strelching
performance targets before bonuses are earned;

m to provide an element of bonus earned in sharas;

B {0 provide a retention mechanism for Executives
by rewarding the retention of the share element
of their bonus provided additional performance
conditions are satisfied; and

m 0 provide a Plan which assists Executives in
meeting their minimum shareholding requirements.
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The following table summarises the main features of the Plan (all percentages in the table are perceniages
aof basic salary!:

Honus Parformance Candition txecutive [rectors
Maximum Annual Bonus Potential 100%
Cash Element (paid net of tax through  Annual Performance Targets 0%
payroll at the end of the financial year) [see table below]

Executive Shares 50%
[acquired net of tax and held in the Plan)

Matching Shares |caleulated on the Will only be releasad if Lhe following conditions are satisfied 50%
pre-tax ameunt of bonus used o over the three year holding period from the date of award:

acquire the Executive Shares) - continued employment by the Exacutive;

- median TSR' performance over the holding
period {and consistent underlying financial
performance of the Companyl;
- retention by the Executive of the associated Executive Shares.

U Tosat Sharghelder Return 'TSRY] - is a measure shovang the return on investing in one share of the Cormpany ever the performance periad
[the return s the value of the capital gain and relnvested dividends] It is normally used comparatively and the comparsy which achicves the best
return s ranked number one,

In accordance with the terms of the bonus schedules for 2005, the Chiefl Executive Officer and Finance
Director are both entitled to a bonus of 25% of salary.

Hage of Salary Michael Ashton Donatd Nichotson
Maximurm Bonus Potentiat 100% 100%
?T)Cb Bonus m Cash Element 12.5% 12.5%
2005 Bonus Paid - Executive Share Element 12.5% 12.5%
2005 Benus Paid [Cash & Executive Shares] 25% (£110,000)  25% [F42 500
Expected Value of Matching Shares on Award* 11% (€49 0001 11% {£28,000}

* The expected value of the Matching Shares was calcutated by taking the face value of the maximurn nurnber of shares which could be awarded
and discounting this vatue by the probability of the performance condition being satisfied at the end of the three year holding periodin
accardance with tha IFRSZ,

The following table shows the level of performance achieved against the budgeted targets set at the
beginning of the year ended 31 December 2005 and the bonus earned for achieving that level of performance:

Michael Ashion Danatd Nichoison

Chizf Execulive Dificer Finance Diregior
Perjarmance Measure Budget Target Maximure % ] Bonus Farred [%age of Satary] Banus Earned [%age of Satary]
Financial/Strategic/
Operational Targels for 2005 45% 20% 20%
Milestones 15% 5% 5%
Company's share price being
areater than the average
appreciation for the companies
constituting the Comparator Group 10% 0% 0%
Objective Personal Targets 10% 0% 0%
TOTAL AS %AGE OF SALARY 100% 25% 25%
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Bonus targets are reviewed and agreed by the
Remuneration Committee at the beginning of each
financial year. The performance measures for the
banus are reviewed annually by the Rernuneration
Committes to ensure that they are appropriate to

the current market conditions and position of the
Company, so that they continue to remain challenging.

Share Incentives
Policy: - Lower Quartile

Overview

The Rernuneration Committee aims to provide
annual awards to Fxecutive Directors at the lower
guartile level compared to the international
Cemparator Group. The Remuneration Committee
believes that this level is competitive having due
consideration to the level of grants in the UK
Biotechnolegy and Pharmaceutical Sector but is
relatively low in comparison to the US components
of the Comparator Group.

Grants during the Year ending 31 December 2005

Maximum Face Valus
Grarted (Yhage Salary]

100%

Periormance Candition

the three year performance period
compared to the Comparatar Group .
30% of the Award will be released for
median level performance with futl

release for upper quartile performance.

Straight line release between points.
Details of Awards are on page 91,

Breakdown of the Award Michael Ashton Denalg Nicholsor

£ TP Award Face £440,000 £250,000
Valug® £ land a5 %age Salary) (100%] 1100%]
Expected Value*™ of LTIP £344,000 £196,000
Award fand as %age of Salary] [78%] (78%)
Lower Quarlile Comparator

Group Face Value (and as £692,000 £553,000
Yeage of Salary} (243%) (206%)
Execulive Shareholding

Requirement as & %age of

Salary to be built up by end

of 2008/200% {current 100% 1G0%
shareholding in bold’) 178%) (150%)

Face value for an option 15 the exercise price multiplied by the
number of shares subject to the apzion. For an LTP Award or 2 D58
Matching Share Award itis the market value of a share on the date
of grant rultiplied by the number of shares subject Lo the award.
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TSR performance of the Company over

** The expected value was calculated by taking the face value of
the shares on the date of award and discounting this value by the
probability of the performance condition being satished at this date
lin accordance w'th the principles of IFRS 2)

1 The Remuneration Committee vall satisly itself that the recorded
TSR 15 a genwne reflection of the underlying tinancial pertormance
of the Campany by considering the Company's performance agamst
financial measures such as Wwrnover, profitability and cash flow,

2 The salary for the year ended 31 Decernber 2005 was used lor the
calculation; the shiare price used of (04973 was the pnice of a
Company share on 31 Decernber 20035

The Remuneration Committee believes that
comparative total shareholder return is the most
appropriate measure to align shareholders” and
Executives’ interests. Comparative TSR was salected
as the performance condition for LTIP Awards by the
Remuneration Committee as it ensures that, before
being entitled to receive any of their LTIP Awards,

the Executives outperform their international peers
over the measurement period in delivering
sharehotder value irrespective of general market
conditions. It should be noted that the real value
received by the Executives under the share incentive
arrangements will be dependent upon the degree

to which the associated performance conditions have
been satisfied at the end of the three year performance
period and the share price of the Company at this lime.

Performance Measurement

Halliwell Consulting, the Remuneration Commiitea’s
advisors will calculate the TSR in accordance with
the rules of the LTIP and sign-off these figures anor
to the release of any award. Performance conditions
under the LTIP are not subject to re-testing.

Dilution

The following table sets out the current level of
dilution against the ABI limits for all share plans
as at 31 December 2005:

Current Dilution &editiznal
pvor Tolling “on Dilution
Maximum year perd n Year
10% dilution in ten years for
all share schemes 1% 0.6%
5% dilution jn ten years for all
executive share schemes 4.0% 0.6%

In accordance with the ABI guidelines the Company
can issue a maximum of 10% of its issued share
capital in a roliing ten year periad to employees
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under all its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the
Company can only issue 5% to satisfy awards under
discretionary or executive plans, The additional
dilution reflects the commitments the Company has
made under its share plans during the financial year.

Pension

Policy: - Median

The Company makes contributions into individuatl
personal pension schemes for the Executives al a
defined percentage of salary, excluding bonus and
cther forms of remuneration. The Executive Directors
do not participate i any Cornpany sponsaored pension
plans and are expected to make their own pension
arrangements:

Benefits in Kind

Benefits comorise a car allowance, private medicai
insurance and a Uving allowance for the Chief
Exacutive Officer Michael Ashton.

Totat Value of Remuneration Package for Executive
Directors

Policy: ~ Lower Quartile to Median

The following table shaws the value of each of the
main elements of the remuneration package provided
to the Executive Directors during the year ended
31 December 2005, It should be noted that the
largest elernents of the package — the expected value
of LTIP grants and Matching Share awards sre based
on a series of assumptions and may not equate to
the actual valus received by the Executive Directors

Hichact Denald o4 release. in addition, all share incentives will only
e Monden b ided to an Executive Director if the attached
e e provide i
Actual Contribution 77000 €43750 P e ticfiod I
e T T T e e performance conditions bave been satisfied see
#age of Salary 17.5% 2% above) and are also dependent on the share price
in three years time.
Cxpecied Value Expecied Median n
of Matching Value Comparator
Fxpcutive Directors Salary  Bonus Paid Shares Bensghits of LT1P Pension 1O 1A Group
Michael Ashion £440,000  £110,000 £49.000 £48.000  £344,000 £77.000 £1,068,000 £1,500,000
Donald Nichalson £250,000 £62.500 £28.000 €10,000  £196,000 £43,750  £590,250 €£4673000

Other Remuneration Matters

All Employee Share Schemes

The following table summarises the main features of the Company’s all employee share arrangements and

their current status:

iy Status Elig-bility

Hage of Fropreyees

Kain Fealies Parti: pating

ISPP Dperated during year ended
31 December 2005 and will
be operaled for year ending

31 Decemnber 20048,

All employees of the
Company including the
Executive Direciors.

In the UK the Plan provides 309%
employees with the cpportunity

of purchasing €1,500 of shares a year
gut of pre-tax salary and providing
additional matching shares on a 111
ralic. These matching shares will be
normally released three years after
they have been awarded provided that
the associated shares purchased by
the employee have been retained and
provided the employee is still employed
by a Group Company al this lime.

Equivalent Plans have heen introduced
in Switzerland, France and the US.

I SkyePharma PLC Internaihonat Share Purchase Plan {1ISPP7].
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Executive Directors’ Contracts

All Executive Directors’ contracts are for a fixed period of one year from date of appointment, and will continue
thereafter unless terminated by at least 12 months written notice. This arrangement Is in line with best
corporate practice for listed companies. In the event of the termination of an Executive’s contract, salary and
benefits will be payable during the notice period. However, ali Executive Directors will be expected to mitigate
their loss in accordance with general legal principles in the event of their cessation of employment.

The Remuneration Committee will apply phasing of payrments of notice on cessation in line with the combined
ABl and NAPF guidelines, subject to existing contractual constraints. The Remuneration Committee will
ensure that there have been no unjustified payments for failure on an Executive Director’s termination

of employment. There are no special provisions in the contracts of employment extending notice periods

on a change of control, liquidation of the Company or cessation of employment.

Name Company Natice Periad Contract date Unexpired larm ol contract lmartns)
Michael Ashton* 12 months 28 Aorl 2000 " Not applicatle
Donald Nicholson 1Z months 28 February 1994 M_R(;HH;Q_CO‘MT;C_ET
Frank Condella 12 months 27 February 2004 Rolling Contract®
Or Ken Cunningham 17 months 1 March 2006 " Rolling Contract®
Y Cantract will continue unli! tarminated on notice by either the Company or the Executive Directarn

** Michael Ashtan's notice period will be cempleted on 30 Novernbor 2008 alwhich point tis employment with the Company will cease.

Nan-Executive Chairman payments made during the year. Non-Executive

For the year ended 31 December 2005 the fee for Directors do not participate in the Company’s share
the Non-Executive Chairman, lan Gowrie-Smith was  schemes, nor do they recaive pension coniributions
£140,000 per annum. This fee is determined by the or a bonus.

Board after taking into consideration the fee levels

of the Non-Executive Chairman in the Comparator Name Ba?;g’f; LO'}:‘_‘LT; "

Group and the FTSE All Share Pharmaceutical and

Biotechnology Sector. The Non-Executive Chairman !3 GotNme-Smﬂh' £140,000 - 140000
does not participate in any bonus, share incentive Sir Michael Beavis £45000  €13000  €58.000
or pension arrangement. On 23 January 2006 the Or DR Ebsworth £45006  €8333  £83.333
Company announced that fan Gowrie-Smith was RS Harris £45,000 £6,000 £51,000
stepping down from this role of Non-Executive Dr KR Mansford £45,000 £4,000 £49 000
Chairman. On 2 February 2006, Dr AN Karabelas Dr AN Karabelas £45,000 £5.000  £51.000
was appointed as Non-Executive Chairman. A Brav £45.000 (9333 (54333
Dr Karabelas will receive an annual basic fee T Yamamato' €24 719 ; £24.713

of £70,060 {or his provision of services as Non-
Executive Chairman. lan Gowrie-Smith resigned 1 Torao Yamamota resigned from the Board on 18 July 2004,
from the Board on 13 Fehbruary 2006,

The follewing table sets out the median levels of fees

Non-Executive Directors in the Comparator Group for Non-Executive Directors:
Policy: - Median

N ; . 3 ; Median Median
The fees paid to the Non-Executive Direclors are oo Toal fae (] oane Rooe

determined by the Board. Non-Executive Directors  ~~ ———————— o v

are remunerated at a basic rate, plus a fixed amount Non—E;fecutnve (?hanrman £80,000 10%
for membership of Beard Commitlees, adjusted Committee Chairman £71,500 10%
for the acceplance of additionai and specific Non-Committee Director £46,500 10%
respansibilities. Some of the fees may be payable

in the form of shares on the request of the Non-

Executive Directors. The table below details the

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005 45




Remuneration Report continued

Non-Executive Directors are appointed for three years, except for those aged over 70 who offer themselves
for re-election annually. Non-Executive Direciors do not have service contracts (see below).

Urespirad lerm ot
coracy [rmontra

Careoany at 31 Decermnber A05 ot
Name MNatice Perise Effactive Date of Cortract date of appointment ¥ 1ater .
IR Gowria-Smith 1 Manth & June 2004 i3 |
Sir Michael Beavis 1 Month & June 2004 18
Dr AN Karabelas T Month 2 February 2004 36 |
Dr OR Ebswaorth i Month 11 April 2005 28
RS Harris i Month & June 2004 18
Or KR Manslord 1 Month & June 2004 18
A Bray 1 Month 29 September 2004 21

I As stated above, lan Gowrie-Snuth, resigned from the Beard on 13 February 2006

Total Shareholder Return Performance Graph

The graph below shows the Company’s performance,
measured by total shareholder return TSR],
compared to the constituents of the FTSE
Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Index and

the Comparator Group over the past 5 years:

The Remuneration Committee consider the FTSE
Prarmaceutical and Biotechnology Index a relevant
index for total shareholder return comparison
disclosure required under the Directors” Remuneration
Raport Regulations 2002 as the index members
represent the broad range of UK quoted pharmaceutical
companies. As detailed earlier in the report the
Company considers its TSR perfermance for LTIP
Awards n comparison to that of a Comparator Greup.
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PART 3 OF THE REGULATIONS - AUDITED INFORMATION

Directors’ Remuneration
The table below sets out details of the Directors’ ernoluments for the years ended 31 December 2005
and 31 December 2004,

2005 -

Fees & Fees &

Salary Benetits Bonuses Total Sazlary Bernefits Boruses Tatal
Directrs £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 000 £000 000
Executive Directors
Mashton 440 48 110 598 420 48 63 51
D Nicholson ) 250 10 £ 323 236 0 5% s
‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘ T 921 834
Non-Executive Directors
IR Gowrie-Smith” 140 - - 140 289 T S T me
Sir Michacl Beavis 58 - - 58 54 - - E
RS Harris 51 - - 51 49 - - L9
Dr AN Karabeias 51 - Z 51 49 - )
Dr KR Mansford T - - 49 47 N i
Or OR Ebsworth 58 - - 53 59 IR - 59
A Bray* 54 - - 54 12 - - T
T Yarnamoto™ 25 - - 25 Ab - - T

1,402 s

"R Gowrie-Srsuth was an Exacutive Director to 23 June 2004, A Bray was appointed on 29 Seplember 2004, T Yamamoto rasigned on 18 July 2003

Bonuses for Executive Oirectars exciude the value of Matching Shares which witl be provided by the Company
at the end of the three year holding pericd, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions.
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Pensions AUH Docernber 2004
Contributions made to defined contribution pension Drdnary T Comnribic
scnemas on behalf of the Executive Directors are Directors sharcs ARy Bonds.
set out below. Executive Directors

M Ashton 362349 - T

tadein 200 magemzgpe D Nichotson 281255 - -

Directors £'000 £oce  Non-Executive Directors
IR Gowrio-5mith nfa J4 IR Gowrie-Smith 6,539,665 - 20,000
M Ashton 77 43 Sir Michael Beavis 210,297 - oo
D Nichelson 44 35 RS Harris 131,083 - -

Dr AN Karabelas 6,667 2.000 -
Total Directors” emoluments, excluding pension Dr KR Mansford 67943 - _
contributions, amounted to £1,402,122 {2004 Dr DR Ebswrorth /5000 N N
£1,645941].

A Bray - ~ -
Directors’ interesis TYamamota - - -
The following tables set out the interests of Directors 7,644,259 2,000 20,000

lincluding the interesis of their immediate families
and parsens connected with the Directors) as at

31 December 200% and 31 December 2004, All
interests are beneficial unless otherwise stated below
Interests in Ordinary Shares include shares acquired
by the Executive Directors, other than Matching
Shares not yet released, under the Deferred Share
Bonus Pian and Share Purchase Plan.

At 31 December 2005

Ordinary Convertible
Qrecters Shares ADRs Bonds
Executive Qirectors
MAshton 487,674 - -
D Nicholson' 753,531 - -
Non-Executive Directors
iR Gowirie-Smith” 7452744 - 20,600
Sir Michasl Beavis® 372,356 - -
RS Harris 157.299 - -
Dr AN Karabelas 6,667 - -
Dr KR Mansforg * 81,531 - -
Dr BR Ebsworth’ 108,000 - -
A Bray*® 120,000 - -
9,739,802 - 20,000
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1 546,604 of the Ordinary Shares beneficiatly owned by Me D
Nichotsen are registered in the narne of TD Waterhousa Nominees
{Europel Limited.
1,346,381 of the Qrdinary Shares n which Mr Gaenie-Smith s, shown
above as hawing an interest ars owned by and registered in the name
of Walkvale Limited The entire issued share capital of Walkvale
Limited is held on behalf of The | R Gowria-Srruth Family Trust, the
peneficiaries of which are cerlain members of Mr Gowrie-Smath's
farrily. 393,832 Qrdinary Shores are registered i the name of
Pallinore Holdings Lirnited, All of the exisling Ordinary Shares
registered in the name of Pellinore Holdings Lirmited are owned
by Cangary Limited as truslee of the IR Giwre- Smith Family Trust,
4,671,904 Qrdinary Shares are registercd in the name of Esluary
tnvestments Limited. The entire issued share capital of Estuary
investments Limited is alsu held on behalf of The | R Gowrie-Smith
Family Trust, the bensficiaries of which are certamn members of
Mr Gownie-Smith's tamily. 520,000 Ordinary Shares and the 20,000
convartible bonds due 2024 are registered in the name of JM Finn
Nomiriees account, Thornaby.
3 The Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by Sir Michael Beavis are
registared in the name of Dunlaw Nominees Limited,
4 5000 of the Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by Ur Mansford are
registered in the name of Sharelink Nominees Limited.
94,000 of the QOrdinary Shares beneficially owned by Dr D Ebsworth
are registered in the name of HSBC Global Custody Norminee [UK]
Limited and $,600 in the name of Yidaces Nominees Limited,
& 120,000 of the Qrdinary Shares beneficially owned by A Bray are
reqistared in the narne of Strand Nominees Limited

]

I

Save as disclosed in this paragraph, no interest exis(s
which the Company is required pursuant to Section
375 of the Act ta enter in the register maintained
pursuant to that Section.
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Holdings under the SkyePharma PLC Deferred

Share Bonus Plan and the SkyePharma PLC Share

Purchase Plan:

The following table ilustrates as at 31 December 2005:

1 the number of Executive Shares and Matching
Shares which were awarded under the 0SB in
200%; and

2] the total number of Matching Shares awarded in
2005 1n relation to the employee purchased shares
under the Share Purchase Plan,

SkyePharma PLC

Defereed Share Bonus Plan SeyePharrna FLG

Exzcutive Matcring Share
Dircetors Staras Shares  Purchasa Plan
M Ashton 57,520 101,563 2,880
D Nichotson 33,762 94,927 2,880

The Executive Shares and Matching Shares under
the Deferred Share Bonus Plan were awarded on

7 February 2005 at an adjusted share price of 62.00
pence. The Matching Shares awarded under the
Share Purchase Plan were awarded on a maonthly
basis [the range over the year was between 37.5
pence and 64.5 pencel in conjunction with the
meonthly share purchases.

The following lable sets out the total number of
Matching Shares under the DSB and Matching Shares
under the Share Purchase Plan conditionally held by
the Executive Directers as at 31 December 2005
lincluding those shares conditionally awarded in 2005}:

Lapseg Lapsed

Ouring During

Oeferred the Year the Year

Share  ending 31 Share  ending 31

Bonus  December  Purchase  December

Directors Plan 2005 Han 2008
IR Gowrle-Smith 133,250 - - -
M Ashton 412582 - 7,895 -
D Nicholson 278,265 - 7895 -

It should be neted that the Matching Shares under
the DSB shown above have been adjusted accordingly
[nurber of shares under award adjusted by a factor of
1.041758) to reflect the rights issue in November 2005.

SkyePharma Annual Report 2005

Holdings by Trustees

The SkyePharma PLC Share Purchase Plan Trust
supports the purchases of shares for the UK element
of the SkyePharma PLC Internationat Share Purchase
Plan. The General Employee Benefit Trust supports
purchases of shares for the Option Schemes, the
DSB (incluging the LTIP Schedule] and the international
elements of the Share Purchase Plan. The following
table illustrates the holdings as at 31 Cecember 2005:

SkyePharma PILL
Shara Purchase

SkyePharma B, 1
General Employee

Dwectors Plan Trust Benefit [rusl
Nomineea/Non

Beneficial Interest 94,890 2630177
Unallocated or

Conditional Granis 85018 3.258,7‘{5:_
Total 179,908 5,888 971
Notes:

1 The Trustees of the SkyePharma PLE Share Purchase Plaa Trust
are M Ashlon and D Nicholson. They bave no beneligial inlerests
inthe shares hald within the Trust excapt relating Ly their cwn
gartiipation in the SkyePharma PLE International Share
Purchasa Plan.

2 The Trustees of the SkyePharrna PLC General Employee Benefit
Trust are Mortherr Trust Fiduciary Services [Guernseyl Limited.

3 The market value of the shares held 1n the above trusts at
31 Decernber 2009 was £3.019.247.

As 3 result of transactions sirce 31 Dacember 2005,
the holdings in the Trusts as at 22 May 2006 are as
follows:

SkyePharma PIC
Share Purchase

SwyePharma P . C
General Employee

Dirertars Plan Trust Benef Trust
Nomines/Non
Beneficial Interest 95,254 2,692,320
Unallocated or
Conditional Grants 94,722 3,258,251
Total 189,976 5,750,671
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Options over Shares in the Company
Ordinary Options over shares of 10p each:

Date from
11 whicn optiors Pzrformanie
December Freccise tan ve Congiion
Dirsciors 1 January 2005 Cranted Lapsed 2005 price ex#rcised Expiry date Isee notel
IR Gowerie-Smith 1,234,568 - 1234568 - - - - 1
575,539 - 575,539 - - - - 1
1,008,313 - 1008313 - - - - 2
1,178,022 - 1178022 - - - - 2
2,016,306 - - 2016306 44 64p  07-04-06  (7-10-06 2
M Ashion 665,763 - - 665,763 89.27p  31-03-01  31-03-08 1
207,841 - - 907841 66.71p  19-04-02  19-04-09 1
904,752 - - 904,752 7737p 12-06-04  12-06-11 Z
1,052,328 - 112,627 939,701 6¢.40p  12-04-09  12-04-17 Va
1,774,349 - - 1,776,34% 44.64p 07-04-06  07-04-13 2
D Nicholson 555,604 - - 555,604 71.9%p 29-04-99  29-04-04 1
892,614 - - 89,614 89.27p  31-03-01 31-03-08 i
179.872 - - 179,872 66.7p  19-04-02  19-04-0% 1
465,201 - - 465 3M 77.37p  12-06-04  12-06-11 2
541,197 - 57923 483.274 62.40p  12-04-05%  12-04-12 7
685,750 - - 285,750 4&.b6d4p  07-04-06  D7-04-13 2
Super Optiens over shares of 10p each
Date from
3] which oplions Perlprmancy
Qecember Exercise ¢an ge Congiiion
Direciors 1 January 2005 Granted Lapsed 005 price exercised  Expiry date fgee notel
IR Gowrie-5rmith 2,385,009 - 2385009 - - - - 3
M Ashton 2,129,659 - - 2,129,659 54.40p  25-05-04  25-05-0% 3
[ Nicholson 1,064,830 - - 1,064,830 S4.40p  25-05-04  25-05-09 3

Performance Condition 1 - Options granted may be exercised only if, over a period of three consecutive years, the sharehalder return of the
Company exceeds the growth in the FTSE All Share Index over the same peried.

Performanne Condition 2 - Options granted vest after three years on a scale between 0% and 100% depending on the Company's performance
relative Lo the performance of 3 Comparator Group of cornpames.

Performance Cendition 3 - Options granted may be exercised only if, over a period of five consecutive years, the shareholdar return of the Company
lies within the top quartile growth of the FTSE 250 Share Index over the same period.

It should be noted that the options shown above have adjusted accordingly [number of optiens and exercise
prices adjusted by a factor of 1.041758] to reflect the rights issue in November 2005.

No options were granted to or exercised by any Director during the year.
Options granted were for nil consideration.
All epiions held by and granted to the Executives are subject to the perfarmance conditions and terms

of the SkyePharma Executive Share Option Scheme, the European and North American Scheme and the
SkyePharma PLC 1999 Share Option scheme.
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LT!P Awards over shares of 10p each

Value of Shares Coniditionally Awarden

Date of

Share Price at “hage of the end of

Dale of Grant Salary at Adusted  the Hoeleing

Executwe Dircetors Date of Grant [Adjusted] £000  date of Grant Number Peried
M Ashton 05-05-04 57.52p 420 100% 729,787  (5-05-07
03-06-05 51.76p 440 100% 850,100  03-06-08

O Nichotsan (5-05-04 37.52p 235 100% 409,262 05-05-067
03-06-05 51.76p 250 100% 483,011 03-06-08

Performance Condition - LTIP Awards will only be released 1§ the Cempany’s comparative TSR performance is at the median o above of the
Comparator Group al which pont 30% of the LTIP Award will be released, walh iull vesting occurring for upper quartle
performance {with straght line vesting between points). In addition, the Company is reguired 1o be in profit at the end of
ihe performance period before any LTIP Awards may be reloased [see unaudited section of the Report for further informatien]

it should be noted that the LTIP Awards shown
above have adjusted accordingly (number of shares
conditionally awarded adjusted by a factor of 1.041758]
to reflect the rights issue in November 2005,

LTIP awards were made on 24 April 2006 to Frank
Condella [1,184,210], Donald Nicholson {697,348]

and Dr Kenneth Cunningham (657 8%4] at a share
price of 38 pence.

As at 31 Decemnber 2005, none of the Directors had
any interests in shares of any other Group company.
The market value of Ordinary Shares at 31 December
2005 was 49.75 pence. The market value of Ordinary
Shares during 2005 ranged from the lowest closing
mid-price of 34.25 pence to the highest closing mid-
price of 66.75 pence. The following transactions have
taken place since 31 December 2005 in respect of
executive share incentives.

SkyePharma PLC Share Purchase Plan - As a result
of lransaclions since 31 December 2005, by lhe
SkyePharma PLC International Share Purchase
Pian [an Inland Revenue approved all employee
share purchase plan], Michael Ashton and Donald
Nicholson, Directors of the Company, as trustees
of the Plan became the non-beneficial owners of
additional Ordinary Shares of the Company. Of these
shares the Directors of the Company have the beneficial
interests in Partnership Shares [Ordinary Shares of
the Company] sel out below as a result of their
personal participation in the Plan. In accordance
with the rules of the Plan these Directors have baen
awarded Matching Shares (Ordinary Shares in the
Company} on the basis of one Matching Share for
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each Partnership Share. The beneficial ownership

of these Malching Shares will pass to the Directors
in three years’ time subject to continueg employment
and Lhe relention of the underlying Parlnership Shares.

Totai Number of Total Number of

Jdirectors Partnership Shares Matching Shares
M Ashton 1,239 1,239
D Nichotson 1,239 1,239
Tatal Total
Number of  Number of Share Price
Partnership Matching facquire
Date of Transaction Sharas Sharcs fawirded at)
1 February 2006 3019 3.0m9 43 pence
1 March 2006 3193 3193 4075 pence
3 Aprit 2006 3,073 3.073 3825 pence
2 May 2006 2,954 2954 3975 pence
Total Number of
Shares Acquired
{Non-Beneficial Interest] 12,239 12,239

SkyePharma PLC Deferred Share Bonus Plan -

in January 2006 the Remuneration Committee
approved bonuses relating to the year 2005 of
£110,000 and £62,500 for Michael Ashton and
Danald Nichelson respectively, of which 50% of the
net bonus was invested in Company shares, the
‘Executive Shares. The pre-tax bonus was used lo
calculale the number of associated ‘Matching Shares
granted. tn addition, the qualifying conditicns for the
grani of Matching Shares made on 31 January 2003
were satisfied resulting in the release of Matching
Shares on 31 January 2006. All the Directors
determined to pay Whe lax due on the release (rom
their personal resources and retain 100% of the
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Remuneration Report continued

Matching Shares released. The foliowing table sets
out the grant and release of awards under the DSE
since 31 December 2005:

Date of Date ol

Directors Grant Release
IR Gowrie-Smith - 31 January 2006
Nurnber of

Executive Shares - 133,250
MNurnber of

Matching Shares -
M Ashten 2 February 2006 31 January 2006
Number

Exocutive Shares 73,750 207,748
Number of

Matching Shares 125,000
D Nichelson 2 February 2006 31 January 2006
Number

Executive Shares 41,903 104,841
Nurnber of

Matching Shares 71,022

Perfarmance Candition - Matching Shares granted on 2 February 2006
will only be released if the Company's
comparative TSR performance is at the
median or above of the Comparater Group, In
addilion, the Company is required to ke 1n
profit at the end of the performance penod
gelore any Malching Shares may be released
lsee unaudiled section of the Report for
further information],

The share price at which Executive Shares were
purchased and Matching Shares awarded was 44
pence. The share price on the release of Matching
Shares on 31 January 2006 was 44.5 pence [value of
Matching Shares, £59,296 (IR Gowrie-Smith] £92,448
(M Ashton) and £47,544 {0 Nicholson]).

Sir Michael Beavis

Chairman, Remuneration Committee
22 May 2006
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members

of SkyePharma PLC

We have audited the Group and Parent Company
financial statements (the “financial statements”|

of SkyePharma PLC for the year endeg 31 December
2005 which comprise the Group Income Statement,
the Group and Parent Company Balance Shests, the
Group and Parent Campany Cash Flow Statements,
the Group and Parent Comgpany Statement of
Recognised income and Expense and the related
notes. These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in

the Directors Rermuneration Report that is described
as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditars
The directors responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report, the Directars’ Remuneration Repert and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and international Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs! as adopted by the European Union are set out
in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements
and the part of the Directors” Remuneration Report
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and
regulaiory requirements and Internationat Standards
on Auditing [UK and Ireland). This report, including
the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
company’s members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no
other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion,
accept or assume responsibility for any cther purpose
or to any other perscon to whom this report is shown
or into whose hands it may ceme save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in wiiting.

We report to you our opinicn as to whether the
financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the |AS
Requlation. We also report to you if, in our opinion,
the Directors Report is not consistent with the
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financial statements, if the company has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have not recewved all
the infermation and explanations we require for our
audit, or if information specified by law regarding
directors’ remuneration and other transactions is
not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance
Statement refiects the company’s compliance with
the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Autharity, and we report i it does
not. We are not reguired to consider whether the
hoard's statements on internal control cover all risks
and controls, or form an opinien on the effectiveness
of the group’s corporate governance procedures or
its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual I
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements. The other information
comprises only the Corporate and Financial
Highlights, the Chairman’s Statement, the Review

of Operations, the Financial Review, the Directors
Report, the Corporate Governance Staterment and

the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report. We consider the implications for our report if
we become aware of any apparent misstaterments ar
material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to
any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing [UK and Ireland]
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audst
includes examination, on a test hasis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
linanciat slatements and the parl of the Direclors’
Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgments made by the direclors in the preparation
of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the group's
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members
of SkyePharma PLC continued

and company's circurmnstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit s0 as to shtain
all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are
free from material misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or other irregutarity or error. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of infermation in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.

Going concern

We draw your atiention to Note 1 of the financial
statements which indicates that there is uncertainty
as to when certain strategic initiatives may be
concluded and their effect on the Group's working
capital regquirements. By their nature these matters
are material and create uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt over the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
quatified in this regard.

Opinion

In our opinton:

w the Group financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, of the state of the group’s affairs as
at 31 December 2005 and of its lass and cash flows
for the year then ended;

s the Parent Company financial statements give a true
and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union as applied in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985,
of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at
31 December 2005 and cash flows for the year
then ended; and

m the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have
been preperly prepared in accordance with the
Compasmes Act 1985 and Article 4 of the |AS
Reg on.

A L—-é)rul.a\—\-(_)-",us cef

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLFP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

Londan

272 May 2006
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Year to 31 December 2005

Year to 31 Decernber 2004

Pre- Exceptional Pre Excaptional
Exceptionat {nate 5} Totat Excepronal fnote 51 Total
Netes Em £m £m Ern Ern fm

Revenue 4 61.3 - 61.3 75.2 - 752
Cost of sales (29.2] - [29.2) [28.2] - [28.2
Gress profit 321 - 321 47.0 - 47.0
Seiling, marketing and
distrbution expenses (5.9 - [5.9} [1.7) - 1.4
Administration expenses T

Amortisation of other intangibles (2.9 - (2.3) {2.2} 2.2

Other administration expenses (13.8) (21.4) 135.2} [15.4) [4.7) 203

115.9} (21.4] [37.3} (17 8} {4.7] {225

Research and
development expensas 126,00 [26.0) 260) [28.0
Other expense 8 (0.4] - (0.4) 01 20 2.1
Operating loss {16.1) {21.4) [37.5) (04 27 31
Finance costs 9 {22.3) - (22.3] 770 A (239
Finance income ¢ 10.0 - 10.0 g6 - 84
Share of loss in associate 15 (0.8) - (0.8] - - -
Loss before income tax §29.21 {21.4] (50.6} {9.5] {3.91 {18.4]
fncome tax axpense 10 10.3] - (0.3] (0.2 ~ (0.2}
Loss for the year [29.5) [21.4] £50.9 [9.7) (8.9] 118.6]
Basic and diluted
earnings per share 1 (4.7p) (3.4p] (8.1p] (1.&6p] (1.4p] (3.0p
All resulis represent continuing activities,
See Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2005

31 December 2005

31 Decornkar 2004

Notes £m m
e e AN
Non-current assets
60700:'.:\.‘1& A ? 587 687
Other intangibie assets 13 26.8 5.7
Praperty, plant and eguipment 14 371 40.9
Investments in associates 15 0.2 14.3
Avaitable-for-sale financial assets 15 1.6 b2
134.4 155.8
Current assets
f_l::'-ént-ari e;m_—“_m 18 3.6 T ﬁT_S_
Trade and other receivables 19 14.2 | 18.2
Financial assels at fair value through profit or loss 20 0.4 kR
Cash and cash equivalents 21 34.3 15.3
52.5 361
Total Assets 186.9 1919
LIABILITIES T
Current liabilities
Trade and ciner payables 22 (21.0] [20.6]
Convartible bends 23,24 - [24]
Othar barrowings T 23 Y Y )
Derwvative financizl instritments 25 - 07
Deferrad income [7.7) 118
Provisions 26 - 0.3
132.1] [48.2]
Non current liabilities T
Conmverhible bonds 23,24 (63.6) 150.4)
Other horrowings 23 (51.1) K
Deferrad income 2.9} 23
Other non current labilities G4 291
Provisions 26 1.9 .7
[122.9) 10¢.21
Total Liabilities [155.0] [155.4]
Net Assets 3.9 365
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Share capital 28 76.6 634
Share premium 30 345.6 3260
Translation reserve 30 11.2) (0.9
fFair value reserve 30 4.2 (5]
Relained losses 30 [427.1) T s
{Ither reserves 31 378 324
Total Shareholders’ Equity 3.9 365

96

D Nicholson

Approved by the Boardggof Directors on 22 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by:
J Karabelas M

Non-Executive Thaikm

Sae Netes o the Financiol Statements.,
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2005

31 December 2005 31 December 2304
Notes Em frr

ASSETS
Mon-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in associales

Available-for-sale financial assets

Shares in and loans to Group undertakings

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 19 57 4.4
Cash and cash eguivalents 21 3.6 1.3
37.3 V17
Total Assets 378.7 4365
UABLTES
Current liabilities )
Trade and other payables 2 9.5 80.5
Caenverlible bonds 23,24 - 9.4
Uther borrowings 23 0.8 1y
2.3 918

Non-current liabilities

Other borrowings 23 0.6 -
0.6 -

Total Lisbilities 92.9 fAk:H

Net Assets 285.8 344.7

SHAREHOLDERS™ EQUITY

Share capitat 23 766 834
Share premium ) 30 3454 3210
Farr value rescrve 30 0.2 [0.3]
Retained eainings 30 T sest 0 e
Dther resecves 33 9.4 101
Total Shareholders’ Equity 285.8 RIS

Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by,

J Karabelas D Nicholson
Non-Executive Chairman Finance (L

See Notes tevhe Finanhcial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense

for the year ended 31 December 2005

Year to Yaar to

31 December 2005 31 December 2004

£m £m

Net currency translation effect [0.3) (2.5
Fair value movements on available for sale investments 0.2 (0.5
Actuarial losses on delined benelit plans - {¢.1)
Net losses recognised directly in equity (0.1] (3.1
Loss for theﬂyear ) 150.9] (18.61
Total recognised income and expense for the year [51.0} [21.7}

Company Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Year to Year to

31 December 2005 37 Decemier 2004

£m fm

Fair value movernents on available for sale investments 0.2 {0.5)
Net profits racognised directly in equity 0.2 (0.5)
Lass for the year {78.3) [32.04
Total recognised incame and expense for the year 98.1) (325

See Notes o the Financal Stalements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Year to Year to
31 December 2005 31 ecerber 2004
Notes £m £m
Cash flow from cperating activities
Cash used in operations (a) (7.6} (37
Income tax paid {0.3) 10.2)
Net cash used in operating activities (7.9 (3.9
Cash flows from investing activities T .
Purchases of progerty. plant and equipment T T T TR T
Purchases of intangibte assets (2.3) (1.4}
Purchase of shares in associates ) [ﬁfi—fl_ﬁ e -
Purchase of available for sale investments - 2.2
Purchase of own shares (0.4) -
Proceeds from disposal of available for sale investments 1.6
Net cash used in investing activities (3.9}

Cash flows from financing activities

Gross praceeds from rights issue ar7 -
Expenses of rights issue 291 -
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital ET' T k‘—ﬂz’
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds due June 2025 20.0 -
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds due May 2024 - 0.0
Expenses of issue of convertibile bonds dua June 2025 1.2} -
Expenses of issue and exchange of convertible bonds due May 2024 - 3.4
ﬁ;;;ayment of convertible bonds due june 2002 R Cr
Repayments of borrowings §7.4) 8.6
'-Repaymentmon_i—r_\mmlease principal - 102
Interest paid (6.7} 5.9
Interest received 0.8 0.7
Net cash generated from financing activities 306 2.

Effect of exchange rate changes 0.2 10.£]
Net increase/ [decreasel in cash and cash equivalents 19.0 16.7)
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of the year 15.3 22.0
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 34.3 15.3

See Notes 1o the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement continued

(a] Cash flow from operating activities

Year to Yearto
31 December 2005 3 Decermbor 20684
£m fr
Loss for the year (50.9) (18.6)
Adjstments for. T
Tax 0.3 n?
‘Depreciaton 6.2 B 60
Arnortisation 2.1 22
Impairments T 19.4 w_ji
Fair value [gaini/ loss on derivative linancial instruments (0.3 0.5
Finance costs 223 239
Finance incarme {10.0] (6.8}
Share of loss in assotiate 0.8 ) -
TProfit on_aTE;SE?a{ESE{GBie for sale financial assets 03! gm#mwk{?ﬁﬁ[
Other non-cash changes 3.2 4f
QOperating cash flows before movements in working capital 7.2 2.9
a{anges in working capitat
increase in inventories (2.1} {0.21
Decregse/ (increase! in trade and other recenables 4.2 {551
Increase in trade and other payables 1.2 44
Decrease in deferred ncame [3.4} 1130
"Decrease in provisions 0.3 {15)
Cash used in operations [7.6) (3.7
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Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Year to fear 1o
31 December 2005 31 Decamber 22K4
Note £m tm
Cash flows from gperating activities
Cash generated from operations la] (13.31 {15.9]

Proceeds fromimsposat of available for sale investrnents

Purchase of available for sale investrents - 20
1.3 211

Net cash generated from/({used in} investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Gross proceeds from rights issue 377 2.1

e ——————————— 7

Interest received 14.1 120
Net cash generated from financing activities 323 3
Net increasefldecrease) in cash and cash equivalents 20.3 (9.9}
e e
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1.3 212
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 316 1.3
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Company Cash Flow Statement continued
for the year ended 31 December 2005

(a) Cash flow from operating activities

Year to Yoar to

31 December 2005 1 Deearroer 2004

£m Frn

Loss for the year [98.3} (320
Adpustments for:

Imiparments 19.1 291

Frovision 80.0 -

Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments (0.3} -

Interest expense 5.8 59

Interesl incorme 14.2) f12.0

Profil on disposal of available for sale financial assets {0.3]

Other non-cash changes 0.9 a7
Operating cash flows ketore movements in working capital 17.3] 5.3
Changes in working capital

Decrease in trade and other recevables 1.0 0.4

Decrease in trade and other payables (7.0} {11.0]
Cash generated from operatiens £13.3) {159

See Notes 10 the Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies

General information

SkyePharma PLC (the "Company”] and its
subsidiaries [together the "Group”] is a speciality
pharmaceutical Group which uses its multiple drug
delivery technologies to create a product pipeline
for gut-licensing te marketing partners.

The Company Is incorporated and domiciled in United
Kingdom:, with its registered office at 105 Piccadilly,
London W1J TN

The principal accounting policies adopted in
the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set oul below.

{a) Basis of preparation

In accordance with EU regulations, SkyePharma is
required to prepare statutory financial statements
which comply with the International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted for use in the European
Union ["IFRS ] starting from the financial year ended
31 Becember 2005, being the first financial year,
cornmencing after 1 January 2005.

The International Financial Reporting Standards
adopted for use in the European Union are similar
with the International Financial Reporting Standards
as issued by the IASB, except for certain provisions
concerning fair value accounting for financial
liahilities and hedge accounting, which have no
impact on the financial statements of the Group.
Conseguently, the coansolidated IFRS financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2005
are compliant with beth the International Financizal
Reporting Standards as issued by IASB and the
version adopted for use in the European Union.

These consclidated financial statements have

heen prepared in accordance with IFRS and,

the interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
["IFRIC"] and with those parts of the Companies Act
1985 applicable to companies reporting under [FRS.
The financial stalernents have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of fingncial assets and financial liabilities,

The Company's working capital requirements
continue to be affected by the timing and receipt
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of milestone payments and payments received on
the signing of new contracts. The Company’s future
cash flows will also be impacted by the Company’s
change in strategy as outlined in the EGM netice
dated 16 February 2006, principally its stated aim

of maving to sustainable profitability in the shortest
possible time and its refocus to concentrate on oral
and pulmonary products. Consequently the Group's
near term working capital requirements are uncertain
and sensitive to the timing of a number of intiatives
required to provide the financiat flexibility to implement
the new strategy. These initiatives include the licensing
of Flutiform in Europe, the divestment ¢f its injectable
business interests, which is expected to require
sharehclder approval, and the delay of certain
licensing discussions, such as US licensing for
DepoBupivacaine pending the divestiment of its
injectables business.

The Directors have reviewed the working capital
requirements of the Group for the next twelve months
and have a reasonable expectation that sufficient
funds will be raised from these initiatives and have
therefore prepared the financial information contained
herein on a going concern basis which assumes that
the Company will continue in operaticnal existence
for the foreseeable future. The financial statements
do not reflect any adjustments that would be required
to be made if they were to be prepared on a basis
other than the going concern basis.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements,

in conformity with IFRS, requires the use of
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of

the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Although lhese eslimates are based on
management's best knowledge of the amount,
event or actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving
higher degree of judgement or comgplexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 3; Critical accounting
estimates and judgements.

Company incorme statement
In accordance with the provisions of section 230
of the Companies Act 1985, no separale income
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Notes to the Financiat Statements continued

statement has been presented for the Company.
Ihe results for the Company are also presented
under IFRS.

[b) IFRS 1 exemptions

IFRS 1; First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing
these financial statements. IFRS 1 sets out the
procedures that the Group must follow when it
adopts IFRS for the first time.

The Group has established its IFRS accounting
policies for the year ending 31 December 2005 and
applied these standards retrospectively to determine
the IFRS opening balance sheet at its date of transition,
1 January 2004, except where permitted or required
by IFRS 1 or other applicable standards,

Except as noted below, at the date of transition to
IFRS, the Group recognised all assets and liabilities
as reguired by IFRS and derecognised all assets and
liabilities not permitted by 1FRS. Assets and liabilities
were all measured in accordance with [FRS.

The impact of transition from UK GAAP to IFRS an
the Group’'s sharehalders’ funds as at 1 January 2004
and 31 December 2004, and on the Group's income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2004

is discussed in Note 37; Transition from accounting
practices generally accepted in the UK to
International Financal Reporting Standards.

The adoption of the provisions set out in IFRS 1
are outlined below.

m Business combinations: A first-time adopter may
elect not to apply IFRS 3; Business Combinaticns
retrospectively to business combinations that
occurred before the date of transition to IFRS.
The Company elected to take advantage of this
exempticn, not applying IFRS 3 to the business
combinations that cccurred before the date of
transition. Any unamertised goodwill at 1 January
2004, calculated in accordance with UK GAAP,
has peen recognised in the IFRS accounts at
depreciated cost after taking into account potential
adjustments required to comply with [FRS
measurement principles.

m Share-based payments: A first-time adopter is
encouraged, but not required, to apply IFRS 2,
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Share-Based Payments to equity instruments that
were granted on ar before 7 Novernber 2002 and
not vested at 1 January 2005. The Company elected
to adopt full retrospective application of IFRS 2,
not taking advantage of the IFRS 1 exemption.

m Cumulative transiation differences: A first-time
adopter need not comply retrospectively with the
requirements in 1AS 21; The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates to classify translation
differences as a separate component of equity
related to foreign operations and recycle them
through the income statement on disposal of the
foreign operations. The Group elected not to take
advantage of this exemption.

u Financial instruments: In its first IFRS financial
staternents a first time adopter need not restate
the comparative information in compliance with
145 32; Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
presentation and 1AS 39; Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. The Company
elected not to take advantage of this exemption.

(c] Consolidation

The underlying financial statements comprise a
conselidation of the accounts of the Company and all
its subsidiaries and includes the Group's share of the
results and net assets of its associates. The accounts
of the Group’s subsidiaries and associates are made
up to 31 December.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. Control is achieved where the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which contrel is transferred to the Group.
They are de-consoclidated from the date on which
control ceases. The results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed during the year are included in the
consolidated income staternent from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

The Group uses the purchase method to account

for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus
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casts directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable
assels acquired and liabilities and contingent
lisbilities assumed in a business combination

are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any
minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group's share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is tess than the
fair value of the group’s share of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gamns on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaclion provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Subsidiaries’
accounting policies have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group

has the power to exercise significant influence but
not control generally accempanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for by

the equity method of accounting and are inttially
recognised at cost. The Group's investment in
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

The Group's share of its associates post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The curnulative post-acguisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share aof losses in
an assoclate or jaint venture eguals or exceeds its
interest ar participation, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does
not recagnise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf

of the associate or joint venture,

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred,
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Associates’ accounting policies have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

{d] Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems inctuded in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which

the entity operates ['the functicnal currency’].

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in pound sterling, which s the Company’s functional
and presentalion currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions by Group companies
are translaled in the functional currency al the
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulling from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the incorne statermnent, except when
it relates to items recegnised directly in equity

£.g. equities classified as available for sale, the
exchange component of that gain or loss will be
reccgnised directly in equity,

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have & functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows;

{if assets and liabilities for each balance sheat
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of the halance shesat;

(il income and expenses for each income stalement
are translated at average exchange rates; and

[iil] all resulling exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component cf equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investrnent in foreign
entities, are taken to shareholders equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
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at the closing rate. On dispesal of a foreign entity,
accurnulated exchange differences are recognised

in the income staternent i the same period in which
the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

(e] Segment reporting

The Group's primary segment for IFRS segment
reporting is the business segment. A business
segment 15 a group of assets and operations engaged
in providing products or services that are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of
other business segments.

Geographical regions are the secondary reporting
segments. A geographic segment is engaged in
providing preducts or services within a particular
gconomic environment that are subject to risks and
return that are different from those of components
operating in cther econemic environments.

Segment reporting reflects the internal management
reporling structure and the way the business
is managed.

(f) Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of
goods and services, net of sales taxes, rebates
and discounts and after eliminating sales within
the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Contract devetopment and licensing

Contract development and licensing income
represents amounts earned for services renderad
under development and licensing agreements,
including up-front payments, milestone payments,
technology access fees and research and
development costs recharged. Revenues are
recognised where they are non-refundable, the
Group's obligations related to the revenues have been
discharged and their collection is reasonably assured.
Refundable contract revenue is treated as deferred
until such time that it is no longer refundable.

in general up-front payments are deferred and
amortised on a systematic basis over the period of
development to filing. Milestone payments related to
scientific or technical achievernents are recognised
as income when the milestone is accomplished.
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Royally incomne

Royaity inceme is recognised on an accruals basis
and represents income earned as a percentage of
product sales in accordance with the substance of
the relevant agreement.

Manufacturing and distribution

Manufacturing and distribution revenues principally
comprise contract manufacturing fees invoiced to
third parties and income from product sales. Revenues
are recognised upen transfer to the customer of
significant risks and rewards, usuatly upon despatch
of goods shipped where the sales price is agreed

and collectability is reasonably assured.

(g) Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwilt represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually
for impairment and carried at cost less accumuiated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash
generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.
Each of those cash generating units represents the
Group's investment in each country of operation.

Intellectual property

Intellectual property comprises acquired patents,
trade marks, know-how and other similarly identified
rights. These are recorded at their fair value at
acquisition date and are amortised on a straight line
basis over their estimated useful aconomic lives from
the time they are available for use. The period over
which the Group expects to derive economic beneftts
does not exceed 20 years.

Research and development

Research expenditure is charged to the income
statement in the pericd in which it s incurred.
Development expenditure is capitalised when the
criteria for recognising as an asset are met -

when it is probable that the project will be a success,
considering its commercial and technological
feasibility and costs ¢an be measured reliably.
Requlatory and other uncertainties generally mean
that such criteria are not met. Where development
costs are capitalised they are amortised over their
useful economic lives from product launch.

Prior to product launch the asset is tested annually
for impairment.
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Computer software

Costs that are directly associated with the purchase
and implementation of identifiable and unique
software products by the Group are recognised as
intangible assets. bxpenditures that enhance and
exlend the benefits of computer software programmes
beyond their original specifications and lives are
recognised as a capital improvement and added to
the original cost of the software. Direct costs include
the software development employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Software
costs are amortised over their useful economi¢ lives,
generally a peried of 3 to 5 years.

(h] Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at the
cost of purchase or construction less provision for
depreciation and impairment. The cost of property,
plant and equipment includes acguisition costs and
tabour and overhead costs arising directly from the
construction or acquisition of an itern ¢f property,
plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
arnount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it i1s probable that future
economic benefits associated with the itern will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
sxpenditures are charged to the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is not provided on freehold land or
projects under canstruction. On other property, plant
and equipment, depreciation is provided on the
difference between the cost of an item and its
estimated residual value, in equal annual instalments
over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Frezhold buildings 24 5%
l.aboratory equipment and machines 10% - 33%
Office and other equipment 10% - 23%
Molor vehicles 20%

Short leasehald property period of the lease

Assets in the course of construction are depreciated
when they have been brought into operational use.

The assets residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each

balance shest date. An asset’s carrying amount
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is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
Its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying
amount and are included in the income statement.

{i) Impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation
or depreciation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
arnount is the higher of an assel's fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. Any impeairment ioss

is charged to the income statement in the year
concerned. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash in flows [cash-
generating units|.

The expected cash flows generated by the assets are
discounted using asset specific discount rates which
reflect the risks associated with the groups of assets.
These risks vary with the nature and the location of
the cash generating units.

(j} tnvestments

The Group classifies its investments according to
the purpose for which the investments were
acquired. Management determines the classification
of investments at imitial recognition and re-evaluates
the designation at every reporting date. The Group
has the following categories of investments:

Available-for-sale financiat assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are not acguired to generate profit frem shart-
term fluctuations in price. They are included in non-
current assets unless management intends to
dispose of the assset within 12 monihs of the balance
sheet date.

Available-for-sale investments are initially recorded
at cost, being the fair value of consideration given,
plus transaction costs. Subsequently, available-for-sale
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investrnents comprising marketable equity securities
that are traded in active markets are carried at their
fair value as of each balance sheet date,

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes

in the fair value of non-maonetary securities classified
as available-for-sale investments are recognised in
aquity. When available-for-sale investments are sold
or impaired, the accumutated fair value adjustments
in equity are recycled into the income statement as
gains and losses from investment securities.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
assel or a group of financial assels 1s impaired.

if any such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised is removed

from eguity and recognised in the income staternent.

impairment losses recognised in the income
staternant on equity instruments are not reversed
through the income statement.

Financial assets al fair value through profit or loss
The Group classifies investments in this category

if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the short term or if se designated by management.
Finarcial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are initially recorded, and subsequently carried, at
fair value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses
arising from changes in the fair value of assets held in
this category are included in the income staternent
in the period in which they arise. Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are classified as
current assets if they are either held for trading

or are expected to be realised within 12 months

of the batance sheet date,

ik] Inventories

inventories are stated at the lower cf cost and net
realisable value, Cast is determined using the first-
in-first-out [FIFO) method. The cost of finished
goads and work in progress comprises raw
malarials, direct labour, other direct costs and

an appropriate proportion of related production
overheads, based on the normat level of production
capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated seliing
price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses. Provision
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is made for ohsolete, slow-moving or defective ilems
where appropriate.

() Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
guoted in an active market. They arise when the
Group provides money, goods or services directly to
a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable.
They are included in current assets, except for
maturities greater than 12 menths after the balance
sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. Trade receivables are recognised initially at
fair value less provision for impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade receivables is established
when there is ohjective evidence that the Group wall
not be able to collect all amounts due according to
the original terms of the receivables.

(ml Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost.
For the purposes of Lhe cash flew statement, cash
and cash eguivalents comprise cash at bank and

in hand, short term deposits, marketable securities
and overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within
borrewings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(n} Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,

net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost, any difference
between proceeds [net of transaction costs] and

the redemption value i1s recegnised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using
the affective interest methed. Borrowings are classified
as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the Liability
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

{o) Convertible bonds

On issue the debt and equity components of a
convertible bond are separated and recorded at fair
value net of issue costs. The fair value of the liability
portion is determined by applying a market inleresl
rate for an eguivalent non-convertible bond to the
forecast cash flows under the convertible bond
agreemenl. This arnounl is recorded as a liabilily
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on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder
of the proceeds of the bond is allocated to the
conversion option which is recognised and included
in shareholders” equity, net of income tax effects.
The value of the conversion option 1s not changed
in subsequent periods.

{p] Paul Capital funding Liabilities

The Group entered into two transactions with Paul
Capital Royalty Acquisition Fund ["Paul Capital'] in
200G and 2002. Under these transactions Paul Capital
provided a total of $60m in return for the sale of a
portion of the potential future royalty and revenue
streams on a selection of the Group's products.

The proceeds received from Paul Capital meet the
definition of a financiat lahility under [AS 39, and are
treated as such and recorded in borrowings at the
net present value of royalties expected to be paid to
Paul Capital over the term of the agreements at the
effective interest rates al inception of the arrangements.
Interest 1s charged on the liability and royalties paid
to Paul Capital are treated as repayment of the Liability.

(q) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to
manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest and
foreign exchange rates. Specifically, the Group uses
interest rate swaps, forward currency contracts and
currency options.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on

the date a derivative contract is entered inte and

are subsequently re-measured at their fair value.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

m hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or
liagilities (fair value hedgel; or

w hedges of highly probable forecast transactions
[cash Hlow hedges).

For relationships where hedge accounting is applied
the Group documents at the inception of the
transaction the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions and reviews this
documentation on an ongoing basis.

Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are

designated and qualify as fair value hedges are
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recorded in the income staternant, logether with
any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset
or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash
flow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in the
income statement in the periods when the hedged
item wilt affect profit or loss.

Derivatives that ¢o not qualify for hedge accounting
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments
that do nat qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in the income statement.

(rl Leases

Lease agreements which transfer to the Group
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of an asset are classified as finance leases. Finance
leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease

at the lower of the fair value of the leased property,
nlant and equipment or the present vaiue of minimum
lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated
between the lizbility and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations,
net of finance charges, are included in other long-
term payables. These payments are split between
capital and interest elements using the annuity
rmethod, The interest element of the lease rentslis
included in the income statement. Assets held under
finance teases are depreciated on a basis consistent
with similar owned assets or the lease term if shorter.

All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases, net of lease
incentives or premiums received, are charged to the
income statement on a straight line basis over the
period of the lease.

(s} Employee benefits

Pension obligations

The Group operates various defined contribution
plans for its employees in the UK and US.

The Graup's contributions to these plans are charged
to the income statement in the period to which they
relate, and the assels are held in separate trustee
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administered funds. The Group has no further payment
abligations once the contributions have been paid.

The Group operates a funded defined benefit scheme
in respect of its employees in Switzerland and an
unfunded defined benefit scheme in respect of its
employees in France.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in
respect of the defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit cbligations at the
balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets,
together with adjustments for unrecognised past
service costs. Defined benefit obligations for the
schemes are calculated annually by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method,

The present value of the defined benefit obligations
are determined by discounting the estimated future
cash outflows using interest rates of high quality
corparate bonds that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the
related pension liability, Service costs are included in
staff costs and charged to income statement over the
remaining average expected service lives of employees.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes actuarial assumptions
are charged or credited to equity in the Consolidated
Staterment of Recognised Income and Expense in
the period in which they arise.

The Group recognises actuarial gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments and changes in
actuarial assumptions directly in equity, in the period
they have occurred, in accordance to the alternative
treatment allowed by the armendment to 1AS 19,
Employee benefits - Actuarial gains and losses,
group plans and disclosures.

Share-based compensation

incentives in the form of shares are provided to
employees under share option, share purchase

and lang term incentive plans. The [air value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options and rewards Is recogrnised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed over the
vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, which excludes the
impact of any non-markel vesting conditions [for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).
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Non-market vesting conditions are included in
estimates about the number of oplions that are
expected to becorme exercisable.

The Group provides finance to an employee share
awnership trust to purchase company shares on

the open market to meet the Group’s obligation

to provide shares when employees exercise their
options or awards. The cosls of running the employee
share ownership trust are charged to the income
staternent as they accrue. Shares held by the
employee share ownership trust are deducted from
shareholders’ equity.

At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected
te become exercisable. It recognises the impact

of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the
income statement, and a corresponding adjustment
to equity over the remaining vesting period.

[t) Provisions

Pravisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive ebligation as a result
of past events, if it is probable that an outflow of
resources witl be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Restructuring charges are provided in the period
in which management has committed to a plan and
it is probable that an obligation has been incurred
that can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recegnised for future operating losses.

(u) Taxation

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
incorne for the year using the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantiatly enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred income tax is prowvided in full, using the
Lability method, on temperary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statemnents. Deferred tax assels are recognised to
the extent that it is prebable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantially enacled by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are nol discounted.
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[v] Deferred consideration

Provisions for deferred consideration comprise the
fair value of contingent consideration arising from
acquisitions. The eventual outcome is subject ta the
Group's future performance and certain contractuat
terms. Provisions are reviewed annually by the
Cirectors, and changes to the estimated fair value

of the contingent consideration are recorded as an
adjustment to geodwill or the underlying asset value.

2 Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group holds financial instruments te finance

Its operations and to manage the currency risk that
arises from these operations. It is the Group's policy
that no speculative trading in financial instruments
shall be undertaken. The Group finances its cperations
through a combination of equity, convertible bonds,
bank loans and ather barrowings. The main risks
arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and price risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to maintain continuity of funding
through a mixture of long-term debt and bank leans,
raised to cover specific projects, and through the
issue of shares to collaborative partners, where
necessary, to finance development contracts. Short-
term flexibility is provided through the use of overdrafts,

Foreign currency risk

All of the Group's operations are based overseas in
Continental Europe and North America giving rise

to exposures to changes in foreign exchange rates
notably the Swiss Franc, Euro and US Dotlar,

To minimise the impact of any fluctuations, the
Group’s policy has historically been te maintain
natural hedges by relating the structure of
borrowings to the trading cash flows that generate
them, Where subsidiaries are funded centrally, this is
achieved by the use of long-term loans, the exchange
differences on which are taken to reserves.

Yhere it has not been possible to use natural
hedges, currency options, accruat forward eptions
and forward currency contracts are used. The Group
has used these financial instruments during the

year to minimise the currency exposure on
operational transacticns.
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Interest rate risk

The Group borrows at fixed and floating rates of
interest as deemed appropriate for its circumstances.
Where necessary the Group uses interest rate swaps
to achieve the desired interest rate profile.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to cradit related losses in the
event of non-performance by third parties to financial
instruments. The Group does not expect any third
parties to fail to meet their obligations given the poticy
of selecting only parties with high credit ratings and
minimising its exposure te any one institution,

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments which have been classified
on the consolidated balance sheet as st fair value
through profit or loss.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets [such as trading and available-far-
sale securities) is based on guoted markst prices
at the balance sheet date. The guoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. Quoted market prices or dealer
quotes far simitar instruments are used for other
financial instruments. The fair value of forward
foreign exchange contracts is determined using
forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet
date. The nominal value less estimated credit
agjustments of trade recevables and payables are
assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair
valug of the liahilities for the disclosure purposes

is estimated by discounting the future cash flows

at the current market interest rates that is available
to the Group for simitar financial instruments.

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparaticn of the Consclidated Financial
Statements reguires the Group to make estimates
and judgements that affect the reported amounts of
assels, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and refaled
disclosure of contingent assets and lizbilities.

The Group bases its estimates and judgements on
historical experience and on various other assumptions
that it considers to be reasonable. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumgtions
or conditions.
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Revenue recognition

The Group's revenue comprises revenues from
contract development and licensing, royalties and
rmanufacturing and distributicn. The Group enters
a wide variety of collaborative arrangements with
its partners from which it may earn all, or some
of, these revenue streams. The application of the
Group's revenue recognition policy set out eartier
in this note to its complex collaboration agreements
requires significant estimates and judgement.

In particutar, In arrangements with multiple
deliverables, there may be significant judgement in
separaling the different revenue genarating activities.

Paul Capital funding liabilities

The proceeds received from Paut Capital are treated
as a Liability under |AS 3% and are recorded within
horrowings at the net present value of royalties
expected to be paid to Paul Capital at the effective
interest rate at inception cf the agreemaent.
Therefore in order to be able to record the funding
Liability significant estimaticn of certain of the
Group's future cash flows is required. Royalty cash
flows are pericdically reassessed to determine the
estimated funding tiability. In addition such flows
are subject to foreign exchange movements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has sufferec
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting
nolicy stated earlier in this note. The recoverable
amounts of cash-gengrating units have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations reguire the use of estimates. The estimates
used in goodwill impairment testing as at 31 December
2005 and 2004 are presented in Note 12; Goodwill.

Impairment of other intangible assets and property,
plant ant equiprnent

The Group tests annually whether other intangible
assets and property, plant ant equipment have
suffered any impairment, in accordance with

the accounting policy stated earlier in this nete,
These calculations require the use of estimates.

Deferred Consideration

Provisions for deferred consideration payable by
the Group comprise the fair value of contingent
consideration arising from acquisitions. The eventual
outcome is subiect to the Group's future performance
and certain contractual terms. Provisions are
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reviewed annually by the Directors, whe make
significant judgments as to the estimated fair value
of the contingent consideration. Based on these
judgments, changes to the estimated fair value of
the consideration are recorded.

Contingent Liabilities

Provisions for contingent liabilities are dependent
upon estimates and assessrnents of whether the
criteria for recognition have been met, including
estimates by the Directors as to the probable cutcome
and the amount of the potential cast of resolution.
Any estimate for such an accrual would be developed
in consultation with external legal advisors handling
the Group’s defence in these matters and would be
based upon an analysis of potential outcomes.

Pensions

The Group recognises actuarial gains and losses
arising from expertence adjustments and changes in
actuarial assumptions directly in equity, in the period
they have cccurred, in accordance to the alternative
treatment allowed by the amendment to 145 19;
Employee benefits - Actuarial gains and lesses,
group pians and disclosures. The costs are assessed
in accordance with advice received from independent
actuaries. These assumptions include inflation rate,
rate of increase in salaries, discount rate and
expected return on plan assets and are disclosed

in Note 27; Retirement benefit obligations,

The selection of different assumptions could affect
the future results of the Group.

Share based compensation

Incentives in the form of shares are provided to
employees under share option, share purchase

and leng term incentive plans. The fair value of the
armnployee services received in exchange for the grant
of Lhe oplions and rewards is recognised as an
expense, The expense is based upon a number of
assumptions disclosed in Note 28, Share capital.
The selection of different assumptions could affect
the future results of the Group.

Amortisation lives

Other intangible assets are recorded at their fair
value at acquisition date and are amaortised on

a straight line basis over their eslimated usefut
economic lives from the time they are available for
use. Any change in the estimated useful economic
lives could affect the future resulls of the Greup.
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Taxation
Current tax is the expecied tax payable on the texable
income for the year using the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years, The Group has
open tax issues with a number of revenue authorities
and, on the basis of external professional advice,
continues to believe that It has made adequate
provision for any lizbilities that may arise from these
open assessments. The ultimate liability for such
matters may vary from the amounts prowvided, and

is dependent upen negotiations with the relevant

tax authorities.

4 Segment information

Primary reporting format - business segments

Based on the risks and returns of the various segments, the Directors consider that the Group's primary
reporting format is by business segrnent with gecgraphical reporting being the secondary format. The Group
15 a speciality pharmaceutical company, using its muttiple drug delivery technologies to create a preduct
pipeline for cut-licensing to marketing partners. The business segments consist of the Injectable business
and the Oral and Inhalation business. Business segment data includes an allocation of corporate costs to
each segment on an appropriate basis. There are no material inter-segment transfers. The geographic
segments of UK, Europe, North America and Rest of the World reflect the Group’s maost significant regional
rarkets. Revenue is shown by business segment, revenus stream and location of customer. Other geographic

information is provided by location of operation. All Group activities are continuing operations.

Revenue by business segment:

Year ended Year ended
31 Decermnber 2005 31 Deceraber 2004
£m L
Injectable 10.5 25.6
Orai and Inhalation 50.8 49 4
61.3 75.2
Revenue earned can be analysed as:
Contract developrment and licensing
Mitestone payments 221 33.4
Research and development costs recharged 55 0
27.6 39.4
Rayalties 2.7 259
Manufacturing and distribution 120 79
Total revenue 61.3 75.2
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Operating loss by business segment:

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

Year ended Year ended
31 Becember 2005 I Docerrder 2004
£m frm
injeclable (18.6) {14
Gral and Inhalation 2.5 B 10
Operating loss pre exceptional items [16.1] [0.4)
Exceptional items - 121.4) |21]
Oparating loss (37.5) 3.0
Share of lnss in associate (0.8 -
Net interesl (12.3]) (1531
Tax [0.3] 0.2
Loss after tax (50.9] (18.6
Total assets by business segment:
Year ended Year onded
31 Becermber 2005 3! December 2004
£m fm
Injectable 57.1 60.4
Cral and Inhalatinn 933 95.6
Total operating assets 1604 156.0
Investments in associates 0.2 14.3
Awailable-for-sale financial assets 1.6 52
Financial assels al fair value through profit and loss 0.4 1
Cash and cash equivalents 34.3 153
Total assets 1849 191
Total liabilities by business segment:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2005 31 Decenuer 2004
£m fm
Injectable (40.1] (30.5]
Orsl and Inhalation [41.4) [54.0]
Tetal operating Liattities {81.5] {84.5)
Shart-term borrowings: convertible bonds - 19.4]
Short-term borrowings: other (2.7) 13.91
Long-term borrowings: convertible bonds {63.6] {51.4]
Long-tarm borrowings: other (7.2) (721
Tolal liabililies [155.0) {155.4)
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Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets by business segment:

Year ended Year onded
31 December 2005 21 Decomber 2004
£m fm
Additions
injectable 1.8 23
Oral and Inhalation 33 48
5.1 7.2
Depreciation and Amortisation
injectable [1.9] 1.9
Ural and Inhalatian (6.4} (6.3
(8.3 8.2]
Investments in associates by business segment:
Year ended Year ended
31 Decemnber 2005 31 Decernbrr 2034
£m £m
Injectable 0.2 14.3
Oral and Inhalation - -
0.2 14.3
Secondary reporting format -~ geographic
Revenue by location of customer:
Year ended ¥aar anded
31 December 2005 31 December 2304
Em fre.
UK 239 15.2
Europe 238 26.0
North America 8.7 %2
Resl of World 4.9 48
61.3 752
Total assets by lacation of operation:
Year ended “ear ended
31 December 2005 31 Decomber 2004
£m £
UK 37.7 300
Europe 56.9 89.7
Narth America 923 72.2
184.9 1919

Property, plant and equipment and intangible asset additions by location of operation:

Year ended Year ended

31 Decernbier 2005 31 Decomber 2074

Em tm

Europe 33 4.9
Nerth America 1.8 73
5.1 732
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

5 Exceptional items

Year ended Year enied

31 Decemnber 2005 3 Decernber 2004

€m frn

tmipairments [19.4) [35)
Abortive transaction costs (2.0 B
Restructuring costs - n2
Profit en disposai of available-for-sale invostment = 20
Convertible bonds exchange (6.2}
(21.4] 18.9]

Following the Strategic Review and the Group's decision o focus on its core oral and pulmonary products

and to divest its injectable business, the Group no longer views its collaborations with Astralis, Vital Living

and Micap as strategic and these investments have therefore been impaired resulting in an exceptional charge
of C19.4 million. See notes 15; Investments in associates and 16; Available for sale financial assets. During the
year the Group incurred £2.0 million legal and professional fees relating lo an aborted strategic ransaction.

Exceptiunal items for 2004 include a charge of £3.5 rmuillion retating to the impairment in the investment in
Vital Living and £1.2 million relating te the recrganisation of some research and developmenl operations and
ather business functiops. In addition, £2.0 million relates to the prafit on disposal of the Group's investment
in Transition Therapeutics and a charge of £6.2 millicn retates to the exchange of convertible bonds.

& Operating expenses

Year ended Yedge endad

31 December 2005 2" Decernber 2004

£m £m

Cost ol sales 29.2 8.2
Selling, markeling and distribution expenses 5.9 1.7
Depreciation 6.2 &0
Amortisation 2.1 2.2
Research and development expenses 26.0 28.0
LLoss/ lgainl on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 0.7 0.1
Fair value [gain)/ loss on derivative financial instruments (0.3] 0.5
Profit on disposal of available for sale financial assets {0.3] -
(Other operating expensas 8.1 21
Operating expenses before exceptional ifems 77.6 75.6
Impairments 19.4 35
Aborhve transaction costs 2.0 -
Restructuring costs - 2
Profit on disposal of available for sale financiat assats - (2.0
Total operating expenses 99.0 783
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Services provided by the Group's auditor and network firms

It 15 the Group’s policy to employ the auditors on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where
their expertise and experience with the Group are important, principally tax advice and due diligence reporting
on acguisitions, or where they are awarded assignments on a competitive basis. During the year the Group
lincluding its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group's auditor at costs detailed
below:

Year ended Year ended
3t December 2005 31 December 2034
Em £
Audit services
slatutory audit 0.4 0.3
audit relaled regulatory reporting 0.2 0.2
Further assurance services 1.2‘“*“_—;“—1?
Tax services
“c.cfr»nphancé serdces P &1
athisory senscas 0.2 0.4
2.0 2.2

Included in the analysis above are audit fees paid to the Group’s auditor in the UK of £227,000 [2004: £377,000)
of which £15,000 [2004: £14,000) was paid in respect of the parent company. Also included above are fees paid
to the Group's auditor in respect of non-audit services in the UK of £1,295,000 [2004: £1,147,000].

7 Staff costs

Year ended Year ¢nded

31 December 2005 31 Decermber 2004

Em g

Wages and salaries 19.7 19.2
Equity settied share based payments 1.9 2.9
Soctal security costs 29 2.9
Pensions B
- defined benefit plans 0.2 0.7
- defined cantnbution plans 0.7 2
Olher benefils 0.8 -
25.2 27.0

The average number of people, including executive directors, emnployed by the Group during the period was
457 persons {2004; 438 persons) and the Company numbars 18 persons [2004: 18 persons].

Average number of employees by business segment:

Year ended Vear endad

31 December 2005 31 Decomber 2004

Injectable 129 113
Oral and Inhalation 328 323
457 438

The Group's key management comprises only Directors and Director” remuneration for the year is shown in
the gudited part of the Remuneration Report.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

8 Other income and expenses

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2005 3 Decemper 2004
fm frni
{Loss)/ gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (0.7) 0.1
Profit on disposal of avaitable-for-sale investrent a3 20
(0.4} 2.1
9 Finance costs and income
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2005 31 Dacomber AHit
£m Lm
Interest and similar expense:
Interast:
- bank borrowings {0.5] 0.7
- Paul Capitat arrangements 12.7 [11.3]
- interest on convertitle bonds (5.8) (6.7]
L (19.0] [17.71
Forergn exchange on Paul Capital arrangements {3.31 -
Fair value losses on financial instruments:
- loss on exchange of convertible bonds - (6.2
Total interest and similar expense (22.3) {23.9]
Interest and similar income:
Paul Capitat change in estimated future payments 5.0 8.0
Other interest income 1.0 08
Fareign exchange on Paul Capital arrangements - 18
Total interest and similar income 10.0 856
10 Income tax

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2005 37 Oerember 2004
£m fm

Cur;ent income tax expense:
Foreign tax G.3 07

There was no deferred tax compaonent in the tax charge.

Foreign tax relates principally to withholding tax paid on remittance of reyalties to Switzerland which

is not recoverable.
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The tax on the Group's losses before tax differs from the theoretical amaunt that woutd arise using
the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are explained below:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2005 Y December 2004

%a %

Rate of corparation tax in the UK 20.0 0.0
Elicats of: T T T
Adwstrments in respect ol foreign lax rates 14.4) 17.2
Adyustment 1o tax in respect of prier periods - 0.1}
Expenses not deductibie for tax purposes (7.11 i8.24
Tax losses for which no deferred lax asset was recogmised {19.6] [40.0]
Tax losses utilised 1w e
Capital allowances ulilised - 02
Withholding taxes ’ (0.6} R
Other 0.1 1.3
Effective tax rate [0.5] 1ol

The Group has estimated tota! tax losses available to be set off against future taxable profits of £280.0 million
(31 December 2004. £271.1 million). These losses arise primarily in Switzerland and the US. Of the

£280.0 million of losses carried forward, £22.0 million expire in 2004, £65.1 million expire between 2007 and
2009, £121.6 million expire from 2010 onwards and £1.3 mitlion of losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
The Group alse has other tax allowances available of £59.8 million {31 December 2004: £56.4 million)

No deferred {ax assel has been recognised, given the uncertainty of the recoverability of the Group’s tax losses
carried forward.

11 Earnings per share

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2005 31 December 2304

- £m £r
Attributable loss betore exceptional iterns [29.5] 9.7}
Exceptional itams {21.4] 1851
Basi¢ and diluted atiributable loss (50.9 [18.6]
Number Muntber

m m

Basic and diluled weighted average number of shares in issue 6249 5152
Loss per Ordinary Share before exceptional items [4.7p} [1 4pl
Exceptional items {3.4pl 1.4p}
Basic and diluted loss per Ordinary Share 18.1p] [3.0p}

There is no difference between basic and diluted loss per share since in a loss making year all potential
shares from convertible bonds, stock optivons, warrants and contingent issuance of shares are anti dilutive.

Shares held by the SkyePharma PLC General Employee Benefit Trust have been excluded from the weighted
average nurnber of shares.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

12 Goodwill
As at A at
31 December 2005 3 Decemoe 2004
Broup Em £m
Cost
Beginning of the year 82.7 82.7
Additions during the year - -
Exchange differences - -
End of the year 82.7 827

Accumulated impairment and depreciation
Baginning of the year 14.0 14.0

Amortisaton charge - -

Erchalwgc differences - -
End of the year 14.0 14.0

Beginning of the year 68.7 8.7
£nd of the year 68.7 88.7

Goodwill arose on the acguisition of SkyePharma Inc {£35.4 million], SkyePharma Canada Inc [£29.2 millian]
and SkyePharma AB {E£3.9 million] and has been allocated to the following business segments/ cash-
generating units:

As ab As ar

31 December 2005 31 Decemper 2004

£m £m

Injectables 38.6 38.6
Oral and Inhalation 30.1 304
68.7 487

Goodwill 1s not amortised but is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that
goodwill might be impaired. Value in use calculations are generally utilised to calculate recoverable amount.

Value in use is calculated as the net present value of the projected risk-adjusted cash flows of the cash-
generaling unit to which goodwill is allocaled. The cash ftow projections are based on the most recent
business plans approved by managerment which cover a period of 10 years, and are adjusted where necessary
to take account of longer patent lives. The discount rate applied may vary depending on the risk profile

of the assel being valued but is lypically 15%, which is the Group's average pre-tax discount rate derived

from a capital asset pricing model.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the launch dates of products,
their growlh rates, the discount rates used and the period over which the cash flows are projected,

The assumptions made reflect past experience, market research and expectations of future market trends.

Goodwill was tested for impairment both at 3t December 2005 and 31 December 2004, No impairment
was wentified.
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13 Other intangible assets

Seflware Devalopment

i cosls couts Total
Sriup £ Fm £m fir
Cost
At 1 January 2004 361 08 0.7 376
Exchange differences - - 0.1 0.1
Additions during the year 29 01 - 3.0
At 31 Decernber 2004 32.0 0.9 06 40.5
Exchange differences 0.7 - 0.4 0.6
Additions during the year 1.8 0.1 - 1.9
At 31 December 2005 41.0 1.0 1.0 43.0
Accumulated impairment and depreciation
At 1 January 2004 104 0.6 04 114
Exchange differences 0.1 - - 01
Amortisation charge 20 0.1 0.1 2.2
AL3T December 2004 125 0.7 0.6 138
Exchange differences i0.1) - 0.4 0.3
Amortisation charge 2.0 0.1 - 2.1
At 31 December 2005 14.4 0.8 1.0 16.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2005 26.6 0.2 - 268
Al 31 December 2004 26.5 0.2 - 26.7
At 31 December 2003 25.7 0.2 0.2 26.1

There are no inlangible assels with indefinite useful lives. All amorlisation charges in the year have been
charged through administrative expenses.

Intellectual property acquired during 2005 mainty relates to the purchase of licenses to intellectual propertly

in the area of pulmaonary delivery.
Inctuded within intellectual property is £2.0 million of assets which are not yet in use. These assels have

not been amortised but have been tested for impairment consistent with the method set out for goodwill
in note 12 No impairment was identified.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

14 Property, plant and equipment

Laberatory

Landg and equiptrent Asete under Qftice and Mot

budings and macniaes corsiruslion othér 2guipment vehicies Totat
Group im £m £m £m Erm £m
Cost
at 1 January 2004 319 356 3.0 30 0.3 738
Exchange - 0.2 10.21 (.1 - (01]
Additions a5 29 0.6 Q.1 0.1 4.2
Transfers 0.6 18 [2.5] 01 - -
Dispesals 10.1) 0.2) - (0.1] {0.1) 051
At 31 December 2004 32.9 40.3 0.9 30 0.3 774
Exchange 0.7 08 0.1 - - 121
Additions 0.2 1.4 1.4 g2 - 3.2
fransfers - 0. 0. - - -
Disposals 0.1 [0.1] 0.1] Q.21 0.4 (0.6]
At 31 December 2005 323 41.1 2.2 3.0 0.2 78.8
Depreciation
At 1 January 2004 79 12.6 - 22 01 03
Provided in the year 20 3.6 - 0.4 - 6.0
Disposals {0.1] 0.1 - 0.1} - (03]
At 31 December 2004 1.8 221 - 25 (A 365
Exehe (0.4) (0.2} - - - (0.6}
Brovided in the year 21 38 - 03 - Th2
Disposals 0.1 - - 0.3] - {0.4]
At 31 December 2005 13.4 25.7 - 25 04 41.7
Net book value
At 3% December 2005 18.9 15.4 2.2 0.5 0.1 3741
At 31 Decemnber 2004 211 18.2 0.9 05 0.2 40.9
At 31 December 2003 22.0 17.0 3.0 0.8 0.2 43.0

All depreciation charges in the year have been charged through admunistrative expenses.

Included in freehold property is an amount of £4.% million [2004: £5.7 million] in respect of land which

is not depreciated.

At 31 Decemnber 2005, the carrying amount of the Group's labaoratory equipment and machines includes
an amaount of £Nil {2004: £1.2 mitlion] and motar vehicles an amount of £8.1 mittion [2004: £0.1 mittion]

in respect of assets held under finance leases and hire purchase arrangements.
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At 31 Decernber 2005, the net book value of the tangible assets pledged as collateral in the framework
of varicus borrowing agreements [disclosed in Note 23; Borrowings! was £1.% million [2004: £2.1 million).
The Group did not idenbify any tangible assets terporarily idle as at the balance sheet date.

i.and and Oftice ard
buildings other egupment Total
Company £ £Em &m
Cost
At1 January 2004 0.1 03 U4
Additions - - -
Al 31 December 2004 0.1 0.3 0.4
Additions 0.1 - 0.1
Disposals 0.1 - (0.7]
At 31 December 2005 0.1 0.3 0.4
Depreciation
At 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004 0.1 0.2 03
Provided in the year - 0.1 0.1
Disposals (R0 - [0
At 31 December 2005 - 0.3 0.3
Net book value
At 31 December 2005 0.1 - 2.1
At 31 December 2004 - 0.1 0.1
At 31 December 2003 - 0.3 0.1
15 Investments in associates
As at As at
31 December 2005 31 Deceraber 2204
Group €im £m
Beginning of the year 14.3 -
Reclassification of investment as associate - 14.2
Additions 3.0 01
Share of loss (0.8 -
Impairment [16.3) -
End of the year 0.2 14.3

The investment in Astralis Limited was recorded at £0.2 million at 31 December 2005 (2004: £14 3 million}
and had & market value of £0.4 million (2004: £9.6 million). Following the Strategic Review and the Group’s
decision to focus on its core oral and pulmonary products and to divest its injectable business, the Group

no longer views its collaboration with Astralis as strategic. This combined with the current uncertainties
concerning Astralis financial position resutted in the Group irmpainng its investment to its estimated fair value.

As at Asa

31 December 2005 31 December 2004

Company Em Err
Beginning cf the year 14.3 -
Reclassification of investment as associate ~ 14.2
Additions 30 01
Impairmant AVAI -
End of the year 0.2 14.3
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Notes to the Financiat Statements continued

146 Available for sale financial assets

As at As al

31 December 2005 31 Datember 2004

Group £m £m
Beginning of the year 5.2 2.0
Exchange 0.1 -
Reclassification as associate - [14.2)
Additions o1 T
Disposal 1.8) {0.4)
Impairments [2.6} 3.5
Revatuation surplus/ [dehicit) transfer 0.6 {0.5)
End of the year 1.8 2
As at As at

31 December 2005 3% Decerrber 2004

Curnpary £m £m
Beainning of the year 3.6 16.3
Reclassification as asspciate - [14.2]
Additions g.1 20
Oisposal T g
Revaluation surplus/ [deficit] transfer [0.6) (0.5
End of the year 1.3 36

Group and Company
Avaitahle for sale financial assets comprise the tollowing unlisted securities:

Vectura Group plc

Vectura 1s a UK emerging pharmaceutical company traded on the Alternative Investment Market. Vectura is
developing a range of inhaled drugs far the treatmeni of lung diseases and conditions where delivery via the
lungs can provide significant benefits, such as rapid onset of action, improved efficacy and improved tolerability
compared with current therapies. During 2005 the Group sold 2 million ordinary shares in Vectura for

£1.6 million. As at 31 Decernber 2005 the remaining holding was 1.2 million ordinary shares. The investrnent
was recorded at £1.0 million at 31 December 2005 {2004 £2.0 miltion). In January 2006 the Group sotd the
remaining 1.2 miltion ordinary shares.

Vital Living Inc

Vital Living primarily develops and markets ewdence-based nutriceuticals. These are developed for
incorporation by physicians into a slandard physician/ patienl program, supported by a specially designed
compliance regimen. Vital Living is based in the US. During 2005 the Group received 2,101,422 Vital Living
common shares with a value of £68,000 [$120,000] in lieu of interest due on the 12% senior secured convertible
notes. As at 31 December 2005 the total SkyePharma holding was 16,993,599 common shares, 1 million
series D convertible preferred shares, $1 million 12% senior secured convertible notes gue 2008 and 4 million
warrants expiring 2008, representing approximately 17.2% of the common shares. The invesiment in

Yital Living was recorded at £0.4 mitlion at 37 December 2005 (2004: £1.7 mitlion]. The Company recorded
£0.1 million at 31 Decermber 2005 (2004: £0.1 million]. Fotlowing the Strategic Review and the Group's decision
to focus on its core oral and pulmonary products and to divest its injectable business, the Group no longer
views its collaboration with Vilal Living as stralegic and this investrent has therefore been impaired.

84 SkyePharma Annual Report 2005




Micap plc

Micap ple is a UK science-hased technology company traded on the Alternative Investment Market. As at
31 December 2005 the total SkyePharma holding was 5,238 334 ordinary shares and 1,830,000 convertible
shares, representing approximately 9.4% of the ordinary share capital. The investment in Micap recorded
st £0.2 million at 31 Decemper 2008 [2004: £1.5 miilion). Follewing the Sirategic Review and the Group's
decision to focus on its core oral and pulmonary products and to divest its injeciable husiness, the Group
no lunger views its collaboration with Micap as strategic and this investment has therefore been impaired.

Cade Struktur Corp

Cade Struktur was formerly a drug delivery company engaged in research and development and worldwide
commercialisation of pharmaceutical formulations. The current business is the development, financing and
completion of industrial and infrastructure projects in Eurcpe. As at 31 December 2003, the total SkyePharma
holding of Cade Struktur, a Canadian company, was 869,086 shares, representing approximately 10.1% of

the ordinary share capital. The shares were originally acquired consequent upon the acquisition of the assets
of Hyal Pharmaceutical Cerp, SkyePharma has not attributed a fair value to these shares and they have been

recorded at ENIL [2004: £ Nill,

17 Shares in and loans to Group undertakings
Shares in Group

Loans 1o Grouo

urdertakings undertakings Total
Campany fm fro frr
Beginning of the year T 1625 227.3 4008
Additions - 19.0 19.0
Provision - (80.01 T eo0l
End of the year 1635 1743 339.8
Following the Strategic Review the Company has reviewed the funding of its overseas subsidiaries and
recorded a provision in respect of recoverability of loans to Group undertakings of C80.0 million.
Principal subsidiaries are detailed in note 35; Principal subsidiaries.
18 Inventories
As at As at
31 December 2005 3 Decemier2004

Broup £m e
Raw materials and consumables 2.1 i2
Work in progress 1.0 0.2
F—lasﬁ-;d_gooda. ) 1.0 0.1

4.1 )
Invantory provisions 05 =

3.6 1.5

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and includac in cost of sales is disclosed in Note 6,

Operating expenses,
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19 Trade and other receivables

Group Group Company Company
As at Az gt As at As at
31 December 2405 31 Decemper 2304 31 December 2005 21 Qecernper 2004
Em £m £m tm
Trade recerables 2.4 35 - -
Less provision for impairment {0.1) - - -

Net lrade recavables 23 35 -
Armounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 5.2 5.2
Other recenvatiles 22 12 0.5 1.0
Interest receivable 0.6 0.4 - -
Prepavments and accrued income 2.1 12.4 - 0.2
14.2 182 5.7 6.4

20 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Group Group
As at As at
31 December 2006 31 Dacerrzer 2004
£m ¥
Beginming of the year 1.1 10
Revaluation te fair value (8.7 01
End of the year 0.4 1.1

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise 5% convertible loan notes due at parin June
2007. The notes were received from GeneMedix plc in 2002 as an initial payment under an agreement to jointly
develop an extended release formulation of Interferon alpha-2b using SkyePharma’s DepoFoam technelogy.
The notes are convertible at any time, at SkyePharma’s option, into between approximately 8.3 mitlion and
11.2 million GeneMedix ordinary shares. There are no restrictions or a lock-up period on conversion of the
notes. GeneMedix can elect to redeem in cash some or all of the notes on conversion. The notes were
designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recagnition,

21 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Group Campany Campariy

As at As at As at As at

31 December 2005 31 December 2004 31 December 2005 31 Detember 2004

£m fm £m Em

Cash at bank and in hand 26.8 158.3 241 113
Short term deposits 7.5 - 7.5 -
34.3 15.3 3.6 13

The short term deposit is a dual currency deposit of sterling versus US dollars, which earns an effective
interest rate of 10.5%. If the sterling/US dollar spot rate is at or above 1.75 at expiry, the £7.5 million depostt

will be returned in US dollars at 1.75 [$13.1 million), otherwise it will be returned in sterling.

22 Trade and other payables

Graup Group Company Comparny

As at As al As at As at

31 December 2005 31 December 2004 31 December 2005 31 Deceniber 2004

£m £m £m Em

Trade payables 68 6.7 0.6 0.6
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 89.7 77.3
Other taxation and social security costs 20 1.2 0.1 0.1
Accruals 122 12.7 1.1 25
21.0 206 91.5 80.5
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23 Borrowings

Group Group Company Company
As at A5 at As at Ag a1
31 December 2005 31 Decernber 2004 31 Decernber 2005 31 Derember 2904
£m Em £m £m
Current

Cenvertible bonds due June 2005 - 94 - 9.4
Bank borrowings 2.3 35 0.8 1.9
Property mortgage 0.3 03 - -
Paul Capital funding liabilities 0.7 - - -
Finance lease liabilities 0.1 01 - -
Other current borrowings 3.4 39 0.8 19
Total current borrowings 34 133 0.8 1:.3

Non-current
Caonvertible bonds due May 2024 508 50.4 - -
Convertible bonds due June 2025 12.8 - - -
63.6 50.4 - -
Bank borrowings 0.6 - 0.6 -
Property mortgage 6.6 7.1 - -
Paul Capital funding liabilities £3.9 44.7 - -
Finance lease lisbilities - 61 - -
Other non-current barrowings 311 51.9 0.6 -
Total non-current borrowings 114.7 1023 0.6 -
Total borrawings 1181 115.6 1.4 11.3

Bank borrowings

At 31 December 2005 bank barrowings include two amounts due to the Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank
of £0.9 mittion [CHF 2 million) and £0.7 million (CHF 1.5 mallion) (2004: £0.9 million (CHF 2 miilion] and
£0.7 mittion {CHF 1.5 mitlion)}. Both loans can be terminated with six weeks notice by either party and bear
interest at 6.5% and 6.0% respectively. Both loans are secured on the assets of Jago and the £0.7 million
([CHF 1.5 million] loan is guarantead by SkyePharma PLC.

The Group had a loan as at 31 December 2005 with GE Capital Corp of £1.4 million [$2.4 million!
(2004: £1.9 miltion ($3.7 millionl). The loan is secured by certain assets of SkyePharma Inc, SkyePharma US Inc
and SkyePharma PLC. The loan bears interest at 8.0% and is repayable by instalments until Septernber 2007.

Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds are disclosed in Note 24; Convertible bonds.

Property mortgage

At 31 December 2005, the Group had a property mortgage facility with the Basellandschaftliche Kantenalbank
of €6.9 million (CHE 15.5 million) (2004: £7.4 million [CHF 16.1 mitlion]l. The mortgage is in two tranches, both
secured by the assets of Jage. The first tranche of £2.7 million [CHF 6.2 million} bears interest at 2.75% and
is repayable by instalments over 20 years semi-annually. The second tranche of €41 million [CHF 9.3 million]
bears interest at 2.75% and is repayable by instalments over 50 years semi-annually.
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Paul Capital funding liabilities

The Group entered nto two transactions with Paul Capital Royalty Acquisition Fund ["Paul Capital’} in 2000
and 2002. Under these transactions Paul Capital provided a total of $60 million in return for the sale of 3
portion of the potential future royalty and revenue streams on a salection of the Group’s products,

Whilst the contractual arrangement with Paul Capital 1s & rayalty agreement under which royalties are payatle
on revenues earned and payrments received, the proceeds received from Paul Capital meet the definition of a
financial lability under 1AS 3%, and are treated as a financial liability. Royalties paid to Paul Capital are ireated
as repayment of the Lahility and interest 1s charged on the liability using the effective interest rate at inception
of each agreement. The estimated future payments to Paul Capilal are discounted using each contract’s
original effective interest and any adjustment is recognised as incorne or expense in the income slatement

Finance lease liabilities
(bligations under hire purchase and finance leases are secured upen the assets to which 1hey relate and
as at 31 December 2005 ENIL [2004: £0.1 million (SKR 0.9 millionl} is guaranteed by SkyePharma PLC.

Maturity analysis of non-current borrowings
As at 31 December 2005

1to 2 Years 2to 5 Years Over S Years Totat

£m £m £m £m

Convertible bonds - - 43.4 63.6
Bank borrowings 0.6 - - 0.6
Property mortgage 0.3 0.8 8.5 6.6
Paul Capital funding lizbilities 49 221 16.9 43.9
Nen-current borrowings 5.8 229 86.0 1147

As at 3" December 2004

1 to 2 Years 210 § Years Over 5 Years Totai

£rr: €m frm £

Convartisle bonds - - 504 50.4
Property morlgage 0.3 0.8 6.0 7.1
Paul Capital funding liabilities 10.6 215 12.6 447
Finance lease liahilies 0.1 - - 01
Non-current borrowings 1.0 223 69.0 2.3

Currency analysis of borrowings
As at 31 December 2005

Sterling $us Swiss francs Total

Em Em £m f£m

Convertible bonds 63.6 - - 63.6
Bank barrowings - 0.6 - 0.6
Property morlgage - - 6.6 6.6
Paul Capital funding lighilities - 439 - 43.9
Total borrowings 63.6 46.5 6.6 1147
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Acat 3 December 2034

Srerbng SUs Swiss rrancs Tetal
- Xl - tmn LcL T
Canvertible bongs 50.4 - - 504
Property morigage - - 7.4 7.1
Paul Captal funding Labilites - L4.7 - 47
Finance lease labilitres - - a1 0.1
Total borrowings 50.4 447 72 102.3
Interest rate analysis
As at 31 December 2005
Sterling 3Us Swiss francs
% %o %
Convertible bonds 8.9./9.5/13.3 - -
Bank borrowings - 8.0 -
Eroperty mortgage ~ - 2.8
Paul Capital Funding liabilities ~ 24.0/30.0 -
Ag at 31 Decernber 2004
o Steriing s Gwiss lrancs
% Ly *
Convertible bonds 99/95/133 - -
Property mortgage - - 28
Paul Capital Funding liabilities T e 740/300 -
Finance lease liabilities - ~ b5

Fair values

At 31 December 2005, the carrying amount of nan-current liabilities, compared with the fair value was as follows:

Carrying Amaunt Fair Value

£€m Em

Convertible bonds 63.6 83.5
Bank borrowings 0.6 0.6
Property morigage 6.6 6.6
Paul Capital funding Liabitities 43.9 43.9
114.7 134.6

At 31 December 2004, the carrying amount of non-current liabilities, compared with the fair value was as follows:

Carrying Arnount Farr Value

£m fro

Convertible bonds 58.4 859
Property mortgage 7.1 73
Paul Capital funding liabilitiss %; 047
Frarnice lease liabilities 0.1 a1
102.3 1378

Undrawn facility

At 31 Decernber 200% the Group had an overdraft facility of £1.3 multion [CHF 3 mitlion) (2004: £1 4 millicn,
CHF 2 miliion] with the Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank secured on the assets of Jago.
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24 Convertible bonds

In June 2005 the Group issued €20 million 8% convertible bonds, with a first put after five years by the holder
of the bands, and a final maturity of June 2025. The bonds are convertible at the option of the holder into
SkyePharma Ordinary Shares at an initial conversion price of 77 pence at any time prior to maturity. The bond
comtains a price reset feature such that if on 3 June 2006 the Company’s average share price for the preceding
10 days [reset price] is less than the conversian price, then the conversion price shall be adjusted to the reset
price subject to a maximurn reduction of 25% in the conversion price. Unless previously redeemed or converted,
the bonds witl be redeemed by the Group at their principal amount in June 2025, The convertible bonds
existing at 31 Decemnber 2005, due in May 2024, were not affected by this transaction,

On 1% June 2005 £9.8 mitlion of convertible bonds due June 2005 were redeemed in full by the Company
at their principal amount.

As a resull of these transactions the Group has £69.6 million convertible bonds due May 2024 at a conversion
price of 95 pence, and £20 million convertible bonds due June 2025 at a conversion price of 77 perce.

25 Derivative financial instruments

As at Az at

31 Oecember 2005 31 {ecember 2004

Greup ard Company £m £m
Interest rate swap - 0.2}
Total derivative financial instrument liabilities - 0.21

The Group's policy is to hedge interest rate exposures through the use of interest rate swaps and currency
exposures through the use of currency opticns, accrual forward options and forward currency contracts. None
of these derivalive financial instruments qualify to be treated as hedges and accordingly gains and tosses are
recorded in the income statement.

26 Provisions

Parsinn Reastruciuring lata

Graup ] ter: £
At 1 January 2005 1.7 0.3 20
petuarial gains/ losses GE - 0.3
Charge far the year an - 01
Utilised - 0.3] 031
At 31 December 2005 1.9 - 1.9
As at A5 at

3% December 2005 31 Becemnber 2004

Current [restructuring] - U3
Non-Current [pension] 1.9 V7
1.9 z2.0

Pension provision
The pension provision relates to the retirement comrmitments under its defined benefit schemes in respect
of its employees in Switzerland and France.

Restructuring provision

The restructuring grovision relates to the rearganisation of research and development operations and other
business functions involving reductions in staff at most sites.
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27 Retirement benefit obligations

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates various defined contribution plans forits employees in the UK and US. The Group's
contributions to these plans are charged to the income statemnent In the period to which they relate,
and the assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. The income statement charge related

to defined contributions plan is disclosed in Note 7; Staff costs.

Defined benefif plan

The Group operates unfunded defined benefit schemes in respect of its employees in Switzerland and France.

The liabitities of the defined benefit schemes operated by the Group are presented below:

As at hs 3l
31 Decernber 2005 31 December 2724
Em £m
Balance shoot obligations for:
Defined benefit pension benefits 1.9 1.7
The armounts recognised in the balance sheel are determined as follows:
As at Az at
31 December 2005 31 December 2304
Em Err:
Present value of funded obligatiens 6.4 6.3
Fair value of plan assets (5.3 (9.3
7 - K 10
Present value cf unfunded obligations 0.8 Q7
Liakility irr the tralance sheet 1.9 1.7
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
Year ended Yaar ended
31 December 2005 31 December 2034
Em fm
Current service cost 0.3 02
Interest cost 0.3 03
Expected losses on assets (0.2 [0.21
Total included in staff cost 0.4 0.3
The actuariai return on plans assets was £0.2 million (2004: £0.2 million].
The movement in the defined benefit abligation over the year is as fallows:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2005 31 Decernber 2234
£m Err:
Beginring of the year 7.0 6.7
Exchange adjustment. 10.1) [0.11
Current service cost b3 0z
Contributions 0.3 0.3l
interest an pension scheme (iabililies 6.3 0.3
Expecled losses on assets (0.2} 10.2)
Actuarial losses recognised in equity 0.2 04
End of the year 7.2 7.0
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The movement in the fair value of the plan assets over the year is as follows:
Year ended
31 Decemnber 2005

Beginning of the year

ET(Change adistment

Current service cnst

Year gnded
3% Dacomoer 2004
fra

Irterest ¢n pensian scheme liabilities

Benefils paid

Actuarial gains recognised in sguity

End of the year

At 31 Becember 2005 and 2004 actuarial valuations were performed by professionally qualified actuaries
on the present value of the accrued liabilities calculated under the projected unit method. The principal

assumpticns made by the actuaries were:

2005 e
% per ahnum ¥, pEr QNNUM
Inflation rate 1.9 2.0
2ate of increase in salarigs 23 25
Discount rate 3.7 40
Expected return on plan assets 2.0 2.4
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice in accerdance with published
statistics and experience in Switzerland and France.
2005 S
years yours
Male 17.3 17.3
Femate 20.8 208
2005 2004
£€m Em
Actuarial gains recognised in equity 0.3 -
Cumulative actuanal gains recognised in equity 0.3 -
Plan assets are comprised as follows:
2005 2L
€m frn
Equity 4.7 43
Other 0.6 1.0
5.3 53

Expected contributions to post employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 Decerber 2006 are £0.4 rnilbion.

28 Share capital

31 December 2005 21 December 7004 31 Qecember 2005 37 ueemper 2004
Croup ard Corrpany Number of shares Number of shares £€m £m
Authorised
Ordinary Shares of 10p each 1,102,000 1,102,000 110.2 110.2
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Qrdnary Shares of Norming. value  Deferreo ‘B Shares Nerrinal value Tatai noninal

10p each Number {m  of lip each Number i walue Fro
At 1 January 2004 618,669 940 419 12,000,000 12 63,3
Exercise of share options 478,803 - - - -
fssue of shares to Research T T
Development Foundation 3,250,000 0.3 - - 0.3
Al January 2005 622,398,743 622 12,000,000 1.2 63.4
Rights issue 125,627 357 12.6 - - 126
Acquisition of shares in Astralis 5482,238 (.6 - - 0.6
Exercice of share options- 255,808 - - - T
At 31 December 2005 753,764,144 75.4 12,000,000 1.2 76.6

The Group raised £34.8 million net of expenses by means of a rights issue of 125,627,357 new ordinary shares.

The Group also 1ssued 5,482,238 Ordinary Shares to two former Astralis Directors to acquire 11,160,000
cemmen shares in Astralis.

Deferred ‘B’ shares

In July 2000, 12 million deferred ‘A and 12 million deferred 'B" shares were issued to Dr Gonella, the vendor af
Jago, under a settlement agreement that established the full and final settlement of the deferred consideration
payable on the acquisition of Jago. The holders of deferred ‘A and ‘B’ shares have no rights to participate

in the profits of the Company, ne voting rights and on a winding up or other return of capital only receive the
naminal value of their shares if the holders of Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Cormnpany have received
the sum of {1 million per Ordinary Share. Under the terms of the setilement agreement, following the US
launch and first commercial sale of Paxil CR by GlaxoSmithKline in 2002, the 12 million deferred A" shares
were automaticaily converted into 12 million Ordinary Shares.

The 12 million deferred ‘B’ shares automatically convert to 12 million Ordinary Shares on the Company’s
receipt of a royalty statement under the current license agreement stating that reported sales of Paxil CR
have exceeded $1,000 million during any calendar period prior to 1 January 2004 or exceeded $337 mitlion
between 1 January 2006 and 3 May 2004. The conditions have not been met and the deferred "B’ shares
will be transferred to the Company Secretary for no consideration for him to hold as custodian.

Warrants
The Company has the following warrants outstanding:

lal ‘D" and 'E warrants

The ‘D and 'E" warrants were 1ssued in March 2007 as part of the consideration for the agreement with
Paul Caprtal to fund new product development. The ‘0" and '€ warrants entitle the holders to subscribe
for a total of 5 milion Ordinary Shares at any bme during the period to 3] December 2008 at an exercise
price of 73.75 pence cer Ordinary Share. A value of £0.3 million, deemed to be the fair value of the ‘D" and 'E
warrants, has been recorded in Other Reserves.

[b] 'F warrants

The 'F' warrants were issued in Decernber 2003 as nart of the £2.7 million [$5 million] loan with GE Capital
Corp. The 'F warrants entitle the holders te subscribe for s total of 300,000 Ordinary Shares at any time until
the repayment date of the loan at an exercise price of £1.20 per Ordinary Share. A value of £39.000, deemed
to be the faw value of the F warrants, has been recorded in Other Reserves,
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fc] Other warrants

Warrants were issued in December 1999 as part of the acquisition of DepaTech and entitle the holders to
subscribe for 371,353 Ordinary Shares at any time during the peniod beginning 31 December 1999 and ending
on 25 February 2005 at an exercise price of $1.142 [99.5 pence] per Ordinary Share. All of these warrants
tapsed unexercised on 25 February 2005.

Potential 1ssues of ordinary shares

(al Employee share schemes

The Group encourages employee participation in its shares through ownership and continues to operate
various incentive schemes whereby Directors and employees are to able to acquire shares, and potential
shares, in the Company. Further details are provided in Note 29; Share based payments,

[b] Deferred consideration on acquisition of Krypton

The deferred consideration on the acquisition of Krypton provides that a maximum of 37.5 million Qrdinary
Shares would be issued contingent on a change in control of the Company at a share price of not less than
80 pence compoundad at an annual rate of 10% [£2.08 as at 31 December 2005), or satisfaction of various
conditions and hurdles which lapsed on 31 December 2003. No provision for deferred considerstion has been
recognised as at 31 Decemnber 2005.

(c] Paul Capital Royalty Acguisition Fund

In March 2002 the Group announced 2 second transaction with Paul Capital Royalty Acquisition Fund under
which SkyePharma would issue Ordinary Shares up to 2 value of $7.5 million if royaities and milestones
received by SkyePharma in respect of those products included in the transaction were not in excess of
minirmum annual payments required to be made to Paul Capital. During 2005 the royalties received by
SkyePharma were substantially in excess of the minimum payments required to be made to Paul Cagital,
consequently the Company has not recognised & provision.

29 Share based payments
The Group operates various share based compensation plans as follows:

Option schemes

Options granted to UK and European employees are only exercisabie between the third and tenth anniversary
of the date of grant, and are subject ta the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for dealing in
Shares, and the Model Code. Options granted te US employees prior to 2001 vest gt 25% per annum from the
date of grant and there were no performance criteria. UK and European options granted prior to 2001 may
only be exercised if the growth in the Company’s share price over a consecutive three-year period exceeds the
growth over the same period in the FTSE All Share Index. This criteria was satisfied for the first time in March
2000. Employees with options that are within their exercise period are now able to exercise those options
within any one-year period from the date the performance candition is satisfied. Super Options are exercisable
after five years and are subject to higher performance conditions in accordance with those recommended by
the Assaciation of British Insurers.

Following changes to the option plans approved at the Annual Generat Meeting in June 2001, options granted
to Directors and senior employess since that date are subject to performance canditions linked to the total
shareholder return of a comparator group of companies, and are not subject to retesting. Options granted to
other US employees continue to vest at 25% per annum with no performance criteria, and other Eurgpean
employees who are not Directors or senior employees can exercise their options after three years and are not
subject to performance conditions. The Group's option plans are detailed further in the Remuneration Report.
It is the intention of the Group that no further options grants will be made under any of the option plans.
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The following table surmmarises the activity in share options for the year to 31 December 2005%:

Share oplions Optisn price
At 1 January 2004 52,345,218 44.8p - 93.0p
Exercised (4788030 448p - 665p
Cancelled or expired (3.883.170) 46.5p - N .3p
At 31 Decernber 2004 47,983,245 44.8p - 93.0p
Exercised [255.808) 46.5p - 55.6p
Forfeted T 19.654,650) 46.50 - 92.0p
Cancetled cr expired 12,171,974) 4b.5p - 92.0p
Rights issue adjustment |see belowl 1,596,534 1.8p-37p
At 31 December 2005 37,497,544 43.0p - 89.3p
Exercisahle 22,180,175 43.0p-893p

The weighted average exercise price as at 31 December 2005 was 58.4 pence.

The market value of Ordinary Shares as al 31 December 2005 was 49.75 pence. The markel value of Ordinary
Shares during 2005 ranged from the lowest closing mid-price of 34.25 pence to the highest closing mid-price
of 66.75 pence per share. No options were granted during the current year.

At 31 December 2005 the following Ordinary Shares were under option to employees or former employees of
the Group:

Option price for each  Number of options over

Hormal expury faty Grdwary Share of 1p  Ordinary Shares of 10p

29 April 2006 12 0p 930,937

TApri 2007 o 53 8p 529,100
28 January 2008 49 0p 199.254

31 March 2008 ‘ 89 3p 829613
5 Oclober 2008 430p 570,128

19 April 2009 b6.7p 2272318

25 May 2009 S5 4p 5 075,891

7 Seplermnber 2009 Sd.6p 199,044

& June 2000 - 8765

3 Novemnbar 2000 78.4p .

12 June 2011 ' T A 366,007

A October 2017 53.4p 213.309

12hp 2012 £§9.4p 4347862
24 May 2012 724p 4467637

75 Septemntbier 2012 49.6p 1114377

7 Aprit 2013 LE.6p 13,570,809

26 September 2013 5%.5p 146 984

37.497 544

Following completion of the Company's Rights tssue announced on 28 September 2005 the number and
exercise price applicable to optiens were adjusted to take account of the dilution in the value of options caused
by the Rights issue. The number of opticns was increased by 4% and the exercise price was reduced by 4%.

As stated above, ne options were granted to employees in 2004 or 2005. For those optiens granted in prior
years which impacl the income statement, fair values were determined using an optian pricing model based
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on Black-Schotes but adjusted to model the particular features of the aptions. The fair value of these options
is consistent with the values previously disclosed for SEC filing purposes.

The Rights !ssue had no effect on the fair value of options.

The total expense relating to share based payments, which are all equity settled transactions. is disclosed
in Note 7; Stalf costs.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan ["DSB”)

Under the rules of this plan, Directors and senior employees receive conditional rights to acquire Ordinary
Shares in the Company, at the prevailing market rates at the time of grant. Eligible employees are awarded
rights to acquire a maximum number of shares at the beginning of a three year period, 2 proportion of which
they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period depending on the extent to which the performance
conditions set by the Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation is made are satisfied. If the
performance conditions are not satisfied the share award will lapse. Awards are either linked to the deferral
of annual bonus [DSB Matching Share Awards] or stand alene share awards [LTIP Awards]. Further
infarmation on awards and performance conditions are detailed in the Remuneration Report.

DSE Matching

LTIP Awards Share Awards
Outstanding At 1 January 2005 3,679,499 2,046,093
Granted 3,779.684 640,103
Rights Issue Adjustment 301,830 90,299
Forfeited - -
Cancelied or expired 518,084 88,601
Released - 434,395
At 31 December 2005 7442929 2,253,299

Following completion of the Company's Rights Issue announced on 28 September 2005 the number of shares
comprising the LTIP Awards and D5B Matching Share Awards was adjusted to take account of the dilution in
the value of cenditional shares caused by the Rights Issue. The number of shares under award

was Increased by 4%,

For the purposes of IFRS 2 the fair values of LTIP Awards and DSB Matching Shares Awards have been
determined using a Monte Carle Simulation medel. The Monte Carlo Simulation model takes inte account
the comparative total shareholder return perfoermance elernent attaching to these share awards.

The following tabie sets out the assumptions used in determining the fair value of these share awards:

DSE Matching

LTIP &wards Share Awards
Model Monte Carlo Simulation
Ratinale This model takes into account the market based

performance conditions [comparative TSR] attaching to
the LTIP Awards and DSB Malching Share Awards,

Date of Grant 3 June 2005 9 June 2005 7 February 2005
Share Price on Grant (€] 0.54 0.53 0.64
Exercise Price nit nil nil
Expected Dividend Yield nfa nfa n/a
Expocted Volatiily 47.23% 47.18% 4B.96%:
Risk Free Interest Rate 4.22% 4.73% 4.57%
Fxpectad Life 3 years Iyears Jyears
Fair Value [£) 0.40 0.40 0.57
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The excepted volatility is calculated as the historic volatility of the Company share return over the three years
prior (o each grant date.

In determining the charge to the income statement, the Company has assumed that the number of share
awards thal will ullimately vest is reduced by 5% per annum.

The Rights |ssue had no effect on the fair value of LTIP Awards and DSB Matching Share Awards.

The total expense reiating to share based payments, which are all equity settled transactions, is discicsed
in Note 7; Staff costs.

International Share Purchase Plan ("ISPP”)

Al employees are eligible to participate in the ISPP whereby emplayees buy shares in the Company.

These shares are called Partnership Shares and are held in trust on behalf of the employee. For every
Partnership Share bought by the employes the Company will give the employee one share free of charge
{Matching Shares]. The employees have o take their shares out of the plan on leaving the Company and
will not be entitled to the Matching Shares if they leave within three years of buying the Partnershig Shares.
In addition, the Company can also award employees rights to acquire up te a maximum of £3.000 of shares
{Free Shares|. There are no vesting conditions attaching to the Free Shares other than being continucusly
employed by a Broup company on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

Matching Shares Frze Shares
Outstanding At 1 January 2605 348,831 30,411
Granted 211,460 -
Rights |ssue Adjustment n/a 2723
Earfeilcd T - T
Cancelled or expired 41,109 7855
Released 88,347 -
At 31 December 2005 430,835 25,279

Following the completion of the Company’s Rights Issue announced on 28 September 2005 the number of
shares applicable to Free Shares was adjusted to take account of the ditution in the value of conditicnal shares
caused by the Rights [ssue. The number of shares under award was increased by 4%.

For the purposes of IFRS 2 the fair valug of these Matching Shares and Free Shares is delermined as the
rmarket valua of the shares at the date of grant. In determining the charge te the income statement, the
Company has assumed that the number of share awards that will ultimately vest is reduced by 10% per annum.

The Rights Issue had no effect on the fair value of the Free Shares.

The total expense relating lo share based payments, which are all equity settled transactions, is disclosed
in Note 7; Staff costs,
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30 Reserves

Share prarum

T-anslation roserve

Farvalue reserve

Rewainad logses

Groug {m Em £m tm
At 1 January 2004 3193 .81 - [364.3]
On issue of shares to Research Development Foundation 1.5 - -

Exercise ol share options 0.2 - - -
Exchange adjustments - i2.5] - -
Revaluation deficit transfer - - (0.5] -
Loss for the year - - (18.6]
Share based payments charge - - - 4.1
Pensinn actuarial lesses - - - (0.1
At 31 December 2004 321.0 (0.9 (0.5) [378.9]
Rights issue 251 - - -
Expanses of rights issue 2.9} - - -
Acguisition of shares in Aslralis 23 - - -
Exercise of share options a1 - -

Exchange adjusiments - 03] - -
Impairments - - 2

Revaluation surplus transfer - - 2 -
Loss for the year - - - (50.91
Share based payments charge - - - 2.4
Purchase of own shares - - - [0.4)
Repayment of convertible honds due June 2005 - - - 0.7
At 31 December 2005 345.6 .2 02 1427.1)

Share premiur

Fair valug reserve

Retaned losses

Company £m L I
At 1 January 2004 319.3 - [18.4)
On issue of shares Lo Research Developrent Foundation 1.5 - -
Exercise of share options 02 - -
Revatugtion deficit transfer - 10,51 -
Loss for the year - - {32.0}
Share based payments charge - - 1.1
At 31 December 2004 321.0 (0.5) {49.3)
Righls issue 25.1 - -
Expenses of rights issue (2.9 - -
Acquisition of shares in Astralis 2.3 - .
Excrcise of share eptions 0.1 - -
Impairments - 05 -
Revaluation surplus transfer - 0.2 -
Lass for the year - - 983
Share based payments charge - - 13
Purchase of own shares - - 10.4]
Repayment of convertible bonds due June 2005 - - 07
At 31 December 2005 345.6 6.2 (146.0)

As pereitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Income Statement of the Company
is not presented. The loss of the Company for the year ended 31 Decernber 2005 was £98.3 million

[2004: £32.0 miltion;.
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31 Other reserves

Merger reserve

Warrants reserve

Equity of
convert ble bonds

Yotal other reseryes

Sroup £ fim {m fre
At January 2004 2.0 10.1
E'EQHEE‘QHESIQBT&Grwemme bonds due May 2024 - 75
At 31 December 2004 9.0 324
lssuc of convartible bonds due Junc 2025 - - T en
Repaymen! of convertible bands due June 2005 - - 0.7 [0.71
At 31 December 2005 9.0 0.4 28.4 17.8

The merger resarve relates to the acquisition of Krypten Limited during 1994, The warrant reserve relates to
the ‘D, 'E and 'F warrants described in note 28; Share capital. The equily element of the convertible bonds
reserve relates to the convertible bends due May 2024 and June 2025.

Merger raseve

Warrants reserve

Eouity of
convert ble bonds

total other ressrves

Sormpany tm Ern trn Em
At 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004 9.0 0.4 0.7 10.1
Repayment of convertiole bonds due June 2005 - - 0.7) 0.7
At 31 December 2005 9.0 0.4 - 9.4
32 Commitments
Group Group Company Company
As at As at As at As 2
31 Dacember 2005 31 Qecember 2004 31 December 2005 31 Decombor 2004
£m £m Em fm
Commitments under operating leases
Operaling lzases on fand and bulldings:
“inone year or less 2.3 25 - T 06
i twe 1o five years 104 0.7 - -
i five years or more 146 15.6 N R
27.3 288 0.3 0.6
Other operaling leases:
In one year or less 0.1 - - -
0.1 - - -

in addition the Group has committed to undertake certain clinical trials on behali of its partners under

development and licensing agreements.

The Group is committed to make certain payments to third parties contingent upon future events such

as the approval and launch of products,
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

33 Contingencies
At 31 December 2005 the Company had provided guarantees on various pank borrowings of its subsidiarias
as set out in Nate 23; Berrowings.

In common with most business enterprises, Graup companies are subject to a number of claims from third
parties, the gutceme of which cannot at present be determined but which are not considered to be material
in the context of these financial statements. Prowisions have been made In these financial staterments jor

any ligbiliies which are expected to materialise from such claims.

34 Related Parties

Group

Oirectors’ transactions

At the end of December 1998, tan Gowrie-Smith (through a family-owned trust] acquired a 51% interest in
10 East 43rd Street Inc., the company which owns 10 East 63rd Street, a property in New York. In Decermber 2002
Mr. Gowrie-Smith acquired a further 49% interest. SkyePharma PLC has been in occupation of approximately
half of that property since January 1997, subject to tenancy agreements based ugon independent valuation.
In August 2003 the Company took occupation of the entire building under an eight-year tenancy agreement,
at which time the annual rent was increased from $420,000 per annum to $720,000 per annum until August
2008, and $942,500 per annum from August 2008 to August 20711, A portion of these premises is currently
sub-let by the Group,

Company
The Company has tssued share options te employees of subsidiary undertakings and in accordance with
IFRS 2 has made a charge of £1.3 million [2004: £1. Imillion).

The Company has charged £1.6 m [2004: £1.9m) to subsidiary undertakings and the Company was charged
£0.5 m [2004: £0.3m] by subsidiary undertakings for corporaie services provided.

The Company has intercompany loans and accounts with its subsidiary undertakings and details can be found
in notes 17; Shares in and (oans to Group undertakings, 19; Trade and other receivables and 27; Trade and
other payables. interest is charged on intet company wans and accounts at 0.5% above one month LIBOR

or 1.0% above three month LIBOR and totalied £7.5m for the year (2004: £2.7m),

The Group's key management comprises only Directers and Birector” remuneration for the year is shown
in the audited part of the Remuneration Report.

There are no material balances held with associates at the year ended 31 December 2005 or 2004,
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35 Principal subsidiaries

Subsidiary undertakings

% held of

Cauntey of rominal value
Cornpany ncorporation  and voling rghts Principat achvilies
SkyePharma Canada Inc.* Canada 100% Research and development
SkyePharma Production SAST France 100% Manufacturing of pharmaceubcals
SkyePharma [Jersey] Limited* Jersey 100% Issue of bonds
Krypton Limited Gibraltar 100% Exploitation of inteliectuat property
SkyePharma AB* Sweden 100% Research and development
Jago Holding AG Switzertand 100% Holding company
Jagotec AG Switzerland 100% Exploitation of intellectual property
SkycPharma AG Switzerland 100% Rasearch and developmenl
SkyePharma Holding AG* Switzerland 100% Holding compa;;ﬂ
Skyef’harma Holding Inc.* Us 100% Holding company
SkyePharma Inc. Us 100% Developmant of pharmaceuticals
SkyePharma US inc. us 0% Development of pharmaceuticals and licensing
* Directly held by the Cornpany.
Associates

% held of

Couniry of nominat value
Cornpany incorporation  ard voting rights Principai actmtios
Astralis Limited us 40% Rescarch and development

36 Suhsequent event

I May 2006 SkyePharma announced that it had entered into an agreement with Kes Pharmaceuticals Inc
to jeintly develop Flutiform”. Kos will have exclusive rights to market Flutiform™ in the US and a right of first
negotiation in Canada. SkyePharma coutd receive up to $165 million in milestone payments on achievement
of ail regulatory and revenue targets {of which $25 mitlion has been paid up front] together with royalties

starting in the mid teens on sales by Kos.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

37 Transition from accounting practices generally accepted in the UK
to International Financial Reporting Standards

The Group reported under UK GAAP in its financial statements for the year ended 31 Decembear 2004.
The Group s required under the Listing Rules to report under IFRS for the year ending 37 December 2005
and present comparatives for the year ended 31 December 2004, Consaquently, the Group’s date of transition

lo \FRS is ) January 2004,

Set out below are reconcibiations of total equity and reserves and income from UK GAAP to IFRS,

Total equity and reserves

31 Decernber 234 * Jansary 200
Notes L (s
Tota!l equity and reserves as reported under UK GAAP 63.6 849
Adjustments to conform to IFRS
Revanue recogmition la] 16.7i (19.6]
Sale of rovally interests to Paut Capitat h) 1390} (3611
Goodwill smortisation {d] a1
Convarible bonds fe) 16.4 15
Fixed assels investments T 1] {0.3] -
Other financial instruments lg) i0.2] 0.4
Pensions ‘ (h] i 2l 13
Total equity and reserves under IFRS 36.5 29.8
Loss for the year
Year ended
31 Decemoer 2004
Notes £m
Loss for the year as reported under UK GAAP 124.3)
KdTustments to conform to {FRS
Ravernue recognitian (al 131
Sale of royalty interests to Paul Capital {h) .7
Share hased paymenls {c) {2.8)
Boodwill amortisation e iy
Converlible bonds (e 185
Other financial instrurmnents —l—;l—m—_w—_—__[ﬁﬂ
Loss for the year under IFRS (18.8}

Cash flow statement

The transition from UK GAAP to IFRS does not change any of the cash flows of the Group. The [FRS cash flow
staternent is similar to UK GAAP, but presents various cash flows in different categories and in a different
order from the UK GAAP cash flow statement. All of the IFRS accounting adjustments net out within cash
generated from operations, except for the inclusion of the repayment of the Paul Capital funding liabilities.
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The IFRS adjustiments set out in the reconciliations are explained below:

{al Revenue recognition

Under UK GAAP SkyePharma has generally recognised up front payments immediately in full where there
are no material future obligations and the payments are non-refungable, on the basis that the up front
payment relates to past services. Under iFRS up front payments will generally be deferred and amortised
on a systematic basis over the period of product development 1o filing. However, the accounting for each
agreement will centinue to be determined on an individual basis.

The IFRS restalement increases revenue in the year to 31 December 2004 by £13.1 million so reducing
operating and retained loss by £13.1 million. This relates to up frent payments that have been previously
recognised in the UK GAAP financial statements in earlier years but which under IFRS would not have been
recagnised in full, but deferred across the period of development to filing. The restaternent increases deferred
income at 31 December 2004 by F&.7 million (2003: £19.6 million).

(b} Sale of royalty interests to Paul Capital

The Group entered into two transactions with Paul Capital Royatty Acquisition Fund {'Paul Capital’) in 2000 and
2002. Under these transactions Paul Capital proviged a total of $60 million in return for the sale of a portion
of the potential future royalty and revenue streams on a selection of the Group’s products. Under UK GAAP the
procaeds received from Paul Capital are treated as a sale and recorded as operating income and the royalties
are expensed when incurred.

Under IFRS the proceeds received from Paul Capital meet the dehinition of a financial liability under JAS 39,
and are treated as such. No operating income is recognised, royalties paid to Paul Capital are treated as
repayment of the liability and in addition interest is imputed on the liability using the effective rate as at
inception of the agreement. The contractual arrangement with Paul Capital is unaffected by this change in
accounting and the arrangement rermains a royalty agreement under which royalties are payable on revenues
earned and payments received. The liability has no face amount but represents the net present value of
royalties we expect to pay Paul Capital over the term of the agreement, discounted at the effective rate at
inception of the agreement.

The IFRS restatement increases the loss in the year to 31 December 2004 by £1.7 million and decreases
net assats at 31 Decemnber 2004 by £39.0 million [2003: £36.1 million].

(c} Share based payments

IFRS 2 requires that for share option awards to employees, the fair value of the employee services received
should be measured by reference to the fair value of the share oplion at the grant date. This differs
significantly from the treatment under UK GAAP where the charge to the profit and loss account was based
on the difference between the fair value of the shares at the date of grant and the exercise price. Since
SkyePharma has historically granted employee options where the share price at the date of grant equals
the exercise price, there has been no charge recorded under UK GAAP,

SkyePharma has adopted full retrospeciive application of IFRS 2. The IFRS restatament results in an
additional charge to the income statement in the year to 31 December 2004 of £2.8 million, increasing both
operating and retained loss. The restaternent has no impact on net assets.

(4] Goodwill amortisation

Under UK GAAP goodwill has been amortised over its estimated expected useful life which the Directors
determined as 20 years. Under IFRS, geodwill is considered to have an indefinite life and so is not amortised,
but is subject to anpual impairment testing. Therefore the annual goodwill charge made under UK GAAP will
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not be recorded under IFRS frem 1 January 2004, the IFRS transition date. The IFRS restaternent results in
a reduction in the amortisation charge in the year to 31 December 2004 of £4.1 million thereby reducing both
operating and retained loss.

fe] Convertible bonds

Under UK GAAP the Lotal net proceeds of the convertible bond 1ssues in 2000 [due in 2005) and 2004 {due in
2024) were recorded as debt. Under IFRS the conversion feature of each of the bonds must be split from the
debt and classified as equity. The net impact of the changes to IFRS and in particular the split of the equity
component of each gond has led, at 31 December 2004, to a reduction in the carrying value of convertible det
of £16.4 million (2003: £1.5 million] and a corresponding increase in eguity. While the carrying value of the
convertible debt in the balance sheet is reduced, the amount of debt repayable at maturity is unchanged and
counsequently under IFRS the Group recurds higher interest charges tn each year to maturity or conversion.

In the year to 31 December 2004, the impact of these factors led to an additional interest charge of
£0.3million. The terms of the debt are unaifected and the physical cash payments due remain the same;
as such the cost of the debt in cash terms is unaffected.

During the year to 31 Decemnber 2004 the Group exchanged £49.6 million of the convertible bonds dus 2005
for bonds due 2024 in the same amount, leaving £9.8 millien 2005 bonds outstanding. Under UK GAAP no gain
or loss arose on the exchange. However un-amortised issue costs of £0.3 million were written off under UK
GAAP as exceptional interest charge. Under IFRS the refinancing of the £49.46 million convertible is treated as
an extinguishment of the original debt and the issue of new debt recorded at fair value since the discounted
present value of the cash flows of the two instruments differ by mare than 10% 12005 Bond replaced by a 7024
Bondl. The extinguishment and debt issue costs lead to the additional charge of £6.2 million recorded in the
IFRS income statemnent in 2004.

In total the IFRS adjustments on the convertible bonds result in an additional interest charge in the 2004
incomne staternent of £6.5 mitlion and an increase in net assets at 31 December 2004 by £16.4 mitiion. Of the
£6.5m additional interest charge, £8.3m relates to the IFRS accounting for convertible bonds in general and
£6.2 rullion is an additional charge caused by the 2004 refinancing of SkyePharma's convertible bond due 2005,

If] Fixed assets investments

Under UK GAAP fixed asset investments are stated at the lower ¢of cost and net realisable value. Under IFRS
most of SkyePharma’s investments are classified as ‘Available-for-sale financial assets’ and as such stated
at fair value with any unrealised gains or losses recorded in equity The IFRS restatement reduces nel assels
at 31 Decernber 2004 by £0.5 miltion [2003: £Nil] and does not effect the income statement.

[g) Other financial instruments

Under UK GAAP, periodic gains and losses on interest and foreign currency derivatives designated as hedges are
not recognised until the operational transactions to which they are Linked ocour. No derivatives have qualified as
hedges under IFRS and therefore in accordance with 1AS 39 such instruments have been recognised at fair value
al the balance sheet date with gains and losses being recorded in the income statement.
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SkyePharma is adopting full retrospective application of I1AS 32 and 1AS 39 and has therefore restated
its opening balance and 2G04 result accordingly. This restatement has led to an additional charge in the year
to 31 December 2004 of £0.5 mitlion, increasing both operating and retained loss. As at 31 December 2004
the IFRS restatemient reduces net assets by £0.2 million [2003; €0.4 million increase].

[h) Pensions

The IFRS adjustment on pensions relates to the Company’s pension schemes in Switzerland and France.
In accordance with IFRS 1, the Group has fully recognised all actuarial gains and losses on its pension
schemes in Switzerland and France at 1 January 2004, its transition date. Ongoing actuarial gains and
losses will be recognised in the Statement of Recogmised Income and Expenditure.

(il Other

Under IFRS the Group is required to capitalise research and development costs when the criteria laid cut in
IAS 38 are met. The Group has reviewed its historical research and development projects and determined that
no expenditure incurred to date meets the criteria for capitalisation in 1S 38. However the Group will continue
to review its developrent expenditure against the relevant criteria and will capitalise such expenditure when

il is appropriate.
Company

Total equity and reserves

31 Decemaer 2004

1 January 2004

£m fm
Total equity and reserves as reported under UK GAAP 349.6 37341
Adjustments to conform to IFRS
Share based payments 1.1 N
Convertible bonds 3.1 15
Fixed assels investments - [0.5) -
Uther financial insiruments 0.2) 0.4
Total equity and reserves under |IFRS 3447 375.0
Loss for the year

Year ended

31 Oecember 2374

[

Loss for the year as reported under UK GAAP [26.9)
Adjustments to conform to IFRS

Share based payments (1.1
Convartible honds (3.8
Other finangial instruments 0.2)
Loss for the year under IFRS (32,0
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